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Item 1.01 Entry into a Material Definitive Agreement.

Membership Interest Purchase Agreement

On May 2, 2016, Revolution Lighting Technologies – TNT Energy LLC (the “Acquisition Subsidiary”), a Delaware limited liability
company and a wholly owned subsidiary of Revolution Lighting Technologies, Inc. (“Revolution” or the “Company”), entered into a
membership interest purchase agreement (the “Acquisition Agreement”) with TNT Energy, LLC, a Massachusetts limited liability company
(“TNT”), and Timothy M. Blanchard and Theodore A. Carmone Jr. (each a “Member” and collectively, the “Members”). Pursuant to the
Acquisition Agreement, the Company, through the Acquisition Subsidiary will acquire all of the outstanding membership interests of TNT.
The Acquisition Agreement contains customary representations, warranties, covenants and indemnities. The acquisition of TNT remains
subject to various standard closing conditions, including the entry into employment and non-compete agreements with TNT’s key
employees, the receipt of certain consents, the absence of any material adverse effect of TNT and the entry into a lease.

TNT is a turnkey provider of LED lighting-based energy savings projects within the commercial, industrial, hospitality, retail,
education and municipal sectors. TNT’s headquarters are located in Raynham, Massachusetts with additional offices located in Westfield,
Massachusetts. The acquisition of TNT is expected to expand the Company’s footprint within key lighting retrofit markets in the northeast.
The Company believes this is a direct complimentary fit with the Company’s division, Energy Source, based in Providence, RI. In addition
to its broad existing customer base, TNT is a contract vendor for the Small C&I Business Programs of northeast utility companies, with a
defined territory of approximately 120 municipalities throughout Massachusetts.

The aggregate consideration under the Acquisition Agreement is approximately ten million dollars ($10,000,000) (the “Closing
Purchase Price”). The Closing Purchase Price will consist of (i) approximately eight million dollars ($8,000,000) in cash (the “Cash
Consideration”), subject to customary working capital adjustments (paid to the Members in accordance with each Member’s pro rata
ownership interest in TNT as of closing), and (ii) one million dollars ($1,000,000) to be paid pursuant to the issuance of promissory notes in
the amount of five hundred thousand dollars ($500,000) to each Member (“Promissory Note No. 1”) and (iii) one million dollars
($1,000,000) to be paid pursuant to the issuance of promissory notes in the amount of five hundred thousand dollars ($500,000) to each
Member (“Promissory Note No. 2”, and collectively, with Promissory Note No. 1, the “Promissory Notes”). The Cash Consideration is
expected to be financed through a registered offering of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.001 per share (the “Common Stock”)
pursuant to the Company’s effective shelf registration statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-199510).

Interest accrues on the Promissory Notes at a rate of five percent (5%) per annum and Promissory Note No. 1 and Promissory Note
No. 2 mature on the twelve month and eighteen month anniversary from the date of issuance, respectively. Promissory Note No. 1 is
secured by an irrevocable letter of credit that has been provided by an affiliate of the Company’s largest stockholder, RVL 1 LLC. The
principal amounts of the Promissory Notes plus the interest accrued thereon may become payable prior to the maturity dates of the
Promissory Notes under certain circumstances as described in the Promissory Notes.

Commencing on the period beginning January 1, 2016, the Members are entitled to receive earn-out payments of) up to $2.5 million,
collectively, for each of 2016 and 2017 in the event that TNT achieves revenues of $32.5 million and $34.0 million, respectively, and
EBITDA of $4.5 million and $4.8 million, respectively. In addition, if the aforementioned revenue targets are exceeded in the applicable
year, the Members can earn an additional earn-out payment for each of 2016 and 2017, equal to 50% of the excess over the aforementioned
EBITDA amounts, up to $1 million each year. The amount of any earn-out payment, if earned, is payable in cash or shares of Common
Stock, at the election of the Company, with a minimum of fifty percent (50%) to be paid in cash and will be paid to the Members in
accordance with each Member’s pro rata ownership interest in TNT as of closing.

A significant portion of the purchase price will be amortizable and deductible for federal and state income taxes.



The foregoing is a summary of the material terms of the Acquisition Agreement. Stockholders are encouraged to review the entire
text of the Acquisition Agreement, a copy of which is filed as Exhibit 2.1 to this Report and incorporated herein by reference. The
representations, warranties and covenants contained in the Acquisition Agreement were made only for purposes of such agreement and as
of specific dates, were solely for the benefit of the parties to such agreement, and may be subject to limitations agreed upon by the
contracting parties, including being qualified by confidential disclosures exchanged between the parties in connection with the execution of
the Acquisition Agreement.

3.02 Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities.

Reference is made to the disclosure set forth in Item 1.01 above as to the shares of Common Stock which may be issued, at the
election of the Company, pursuant to the terms of the Acquisition Agreement in accordance with the earn-out provision therein. All shares
of Common Stock which may be issued pursuant to the Acquisition Agreement will be issued in a private placement and without
registration under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), pursuant to Section 4(2) of the Securities Act and
Regulation D promulgated pursuant thereto (“Regulation D”).

Item 8.01 Other Events.

In April 2016, the Company entered into a seventh amendment to its loan and security agreement, as amended (the “Loan
Agreement”), with Bank of America, N.A. (“Bank of America”), pursuant to which, among other things, Bank of America consented to the
consolidation of certain of the Company’s subsidiary entities and the Company’s reverse stock split consummated on March 10, 2016. Also
in April 2016, the Company entered into an eighth amendment to the Loan Agreement pursuant to which our Chairman, Chief Executive
Officer and President pledged $2 million as additional security for his limited recourse guaranty of up to $7 million (after taking account of
said additional $2 million) of the Company’s obligations under the Loan Agreement. In connection with the eighth amendment, Bank of
America agreed to amend the Loan Agreement to enable the Company to borrow up to $27 million under certain conditions. On May 2,
2016, Bank of America delivered, subject to certain terms and conditions, its consent to the TNT acquisition and agreed to adjust the
ownership threshold of our largest beneficial holder, Aston Capital LLC, an entity controlled by our Chairman, Chief Executive Officer
and President, upon which a change in control of us would be deemed to occur, from 51% to 35%. The consent is conditioned on our entry
into a ninth amendment to the Loan Agreement which would provide for the joinder of the TNT entities as parties to the Loan Agreement,
provide conditions to our ability to make earn out payments in the TNT acquisition in cash and provide for other matters relating to the
TNT acquisition. The Company and Bank of America expect to enter the ninth amendment simultaneously with the consummation of the
TNT acquisition.

The foregoing is a summary of the material terms of the seventh amendment and eighth amendment and does not purport to be
complete and is subject to, and qualified in its entirety by, the full text of the seventh amendment and eighth amendment, which are
attached hereto as Exhibits 10.1 and 10.2, respectively, and incorporated herein by reference.

In the second quarter of 2016, the Company expects to issue approximately 1.2 million shares of Common Stock in connection with
its outstanding earn out obligations related to previous consummated acquisitions, which will reduce its liabilities by approximately $5.7
million.

Item 9.01 Financial Statements and Exhibits.

(a) Pro Forma Financial Information. The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial information of Revolution for the
year ended December 31, 2015 is attached hereto as Exhibit 99.3 and is incorporated in its entirety into this Item 9.01(b) by reference. The
unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated



financial information is a presentation of historical financial position and results of operations of Revolution and TNT with accounting
adjustments necessary to reflect the estimated pro forma effect of Revolution’s acquisition of TNT on the financial position and results of
operations of Revolution as of the dates and for periods indicated and is presented for informational purposes only. The unaudited pro
forma condensed consolidated financial information does not reflect the effects of any anticipated changes to be made by Revolution to the
operations of the combined companies, including synergies and cost savings and does not include charges directly related to the
acquisitions. The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial information should not be construed to be indicative of the results
that might have been achieved had the transactions occurred on the dates and for the periods indicated or of Revolution’s future results of
operations or financial position for any future period or date.

(b) Financial Statements of Businesses Acquired.  The audited balance sheets of TNT as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the
related audited statements of operations and cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, with an independent auditors’
report by Kahn, Litwin, Renza & Co., Ltd. are attached hereto as Exhibit 99.2 and are incorporated in their entirety into this Item 9.01(b)
by reference.

(d) Exhibits
 
Exhibit No.  Description

  2.1
  

Membership Interest Purchase Agreement by and among Revolution Lighting Technologies – TNT Energy, LLC, TNT
Energy, LLC, Timothy M. Blanchard and Theodore A. Carmone, Jr., dated as of May 2, 2016

10.1

  

Consent and Seventh Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement and Fifth Amendment to Pledge Agreement, dated as
of April 19, 2016, among Revolution Lighting Technologies, Inc., Lumificient Corporation, Lighting Integration
Technologies, LLC, Seesmart Technologies, LLC, Relume Technologies, Inc., Tri-State LED DE, LLC, Value Lighting,
LLC, All Around Lighting, L.L.C., Energy Source LLC and Revolution Lighting – E-Lighting, Inc., the Guarantors party
thereto and Bank of America, N.A.

10.2

  

Consent and Eighth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement and Ratification of Guaranty, dated as of April 19,
2016, among Revolution Lighting Technologies, Inc., Lumificient Corporation, Lighting Integration Technologies, LLC,
Seesmart Technologies, LLC, Relume Technologies, Inc., Tri-State LED DE, LLC, Value Lighting, LLC, All Around
Lighting, L.L.C., Energy Source LLC, Revolution Lighting – E-Lighting, Inc. and Seesmart, Inc., the Guarantors party
thereto and Bank of America, N.A.

23.1   Independent Auditor’s Consent

99.1   TNT Energy, LLC Financial Statements and Supplementary Information, Years Ended December 31, 2015 and 2014

99.2   Revolution Lighting Technologies, Inc., Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements



SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized.
 
Date: May 2, 2016  

 REVOLUTION LIGHTING TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

 By: /s/ James A. DePalma
 Name: James A. DePalma
 Title: Chief Financial Officer
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MEMBERSHIP INTEREST PURCHASE AGREEMENT

THIS MEMBERSHIP INTEREST PURCHASE AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of May 2, 2016, by
and among Revolution Lighting Technologies – TNT Energy, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Buyer”), TNT Energy LLC, a
Massachusetts limited liability company (the “Company”), and Timothy M. Blanchard (“Blanchard”) and Theodore A. Carmone, Jr.
(“Carmone”, and each, a “Seller” and, together, the “Sellers”).

WHEREAS, the Sellers own all of the membership interests (the “ Interests”) of the Company and each Seller owns a number of
Interests, in such proportion, and in such amounts, as set forth on Appendix I;

WHEREAS, the Parties desire to enter into this Agreement pursuant to which the Buyer agrees to purchase from the Sellers, and the
Sellers agree to sell to the Buyer, all of the Interests, on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement; and

WHEREAS, the Sellers and the Buyer desire to consummate the proposed transaction pursuant to the terms and conditions
hereinafter set forth.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, representations, warranties and agreements set forth herein, and for
other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged the Parties hereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

PURCHASE AND SALE OF INTERESTS

1.1 Purchase and Sale of Interests. Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, at the Closing on the Closing
Date, each Seller agrees to sell, assign, convey, transfer and deliver to the Buyer, and the Buyer agrees to acquire from each Seller all of
such Seller’s Interests as set forth on Appendix I, in each case, free and clear of all Liens (other than restrictions under the Securities Act
and state securities Laws).

1.2 Purchase Price.

(a) Upon the terms and subject to the conditions of this Agreement, in consideration of the aforesaid sale, assignment,
conveyance, transfer and delivery of the Interests, the purchase price payable by the Buyer to the Sellers at the Closing (the “Initial
Purchase Price”) shall be in the aggregate: (i) Ten Million Dollars ($10,000,000), minus (ii) the Escrow Amount, minus (iii) the aggregate
amount of Estimated Indebtedness, minus (iv) the aggregate amount of unpaid Transaction Expenses minus (v) the amount, if any, by
which the Target Net Working Capital is greater than the Estimated Net Working Capital; provided, however, that if at Closing, the
Estimated Net Working Capital is greater than the Target Net Working Capital, such amount shall be paid by the Buyer to the Sellers on or
within thirty (30) days of the Closing Date. Following the Closing, the Initial Purchase Price shall be subject to adjustment in accordance
with the provisions of Section 1.4. The Initial Purchase Price so adjusted is referred to herein as the “Final Purchase Price.”

(b) The Final Purchase Price shall be paid by the Buyer to the Sellers as follows: (i) Eight Million Dollars ($8,000,000)
shall be paid at Closing via wire transfer in immediately available funds to such accounts and in such amounts as designated in writing to
the Buyer by the Sellers three (3) Business Days prior to the Closing (the “Cash Consideration”), (ii) One Million Dollars ($1,000,000)



shall be paid pursuant to the issuance of a promissory note in the amount of Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000) to each Seller in
substantially the same form as Exhibit A attached hereto (“Promissory Note No. 1”), (iii) One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) shall be paid
pursuant to the issuance of a promissory note in the amount of Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000) to each Seller in substantially
the same form as Exhibit B attached hereto ( “Promissory Note No. 2”, and with Promissory Note No. 1, collectively, the “Promissory
Notes”). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, in the event that subsequent to the Closing and prior to December 31,
2016, the Company has a Negative Cash Flow and Parent is required to provide any cash to the Company during that period or at the
conclusion of such period, the amount of such cash shall be deducted fifty (50%) percent from Promissory Note No. 1 and fifty (50%)
percent from Promissory Note No.2, provided that the aggregate amount of funds to be deducted from the Promissory Notes shall not
exceed Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000). For purposes herein, the Company shall be determined to have “Negative Cash Flow”
if, Parent determines, in its reasonable discretion, that it is necessary for Parent to provide a capital infusion into the Company to fund the
business operations of the Company. In no event shall the amount of the 338(h)(10) Gross Up be included in the determination as to
whether the Company has a Negative Cash Flow.

(c) The obligations of the Buyer pursuant to Promissory Note No.1 shall be guaranteed by Robert Lapenta and secured
by a letter of credit from a mutually acceptable banking institution in the amount of Promissory Note No. 1 in substantially the same form
as attached to Promissory Note No. 1 (the “ILOC”).

1.3 Calculation and Payment of the Initial Purchase Price. The Initial Purchase Price shall be calculated and paid as follows:

(a) The Initial Purchase Price shall be determined based on the amounts reflected on a certificate (the “Estimated
Closing Statement”) delivered by the Sellers to the Buyer not less than three (3) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, which Estimated
Closing Statement shall set forth the Sellers’ good faith calculation of (x) the Initial Purchase Price, including the Sellers’ good faith
estimate of (i) the aggregate amount of Indebtedness of the Company outstanding as of immediately prior to the Closing (if any) (the
“Estimated Indebtedness”), and (ii) the Working Capital as of the Closing Date (“Estimated Net Working Capital”), together with
documentation evidencing the components and calculations of the foregoing and (y) a calculation of each Seller’s Pro Rata Portion of the
Initial Purchase Price in accordance with Section 1.3(a). The Sellers’ computation of Estimated Indebtedness and Estimated Net Working
Capital shall be determined in accordance with the respective definitions of such terms.

(b) After payment of all fees and expenses incurred by the Company and Sellers in connection with this Agreement in
accordance with Section 5.4 of this Agreement and taking into account any adjustments per Section 1.4, at the Closing, Buyer shall deliver
or cause to be delivered: (i) to the Escrow Agent the Escrow Amount in the form of the Promissory Notes for deposit into the account
designated therefor in the Escrow Agreement; (ii) cash in the amount of the Estimated Indebtedness payable by wire transfer in
immediately available funds for deposit in the amounts and into the accounts designated therefor in the payoff letters identified in
Section 7.7(i); and (iii) to the Sellers the remaining balance of the Initial Purchase Price subject to Section 1.2(b) above and Section 1.4
(after taking into account the payment in subsection (i) of this Section 1.3(b)) (the “Closing Amount”).
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1.4 Adjustments to the Initial Purchase Price.

(a) Final Closing Statement.

(i) Within ninety (90) days following the Closing, the Buyer shall prepare and deliver to the Sellers a statement (the
“Final Closing Statement”) setting forth: (i) the aggregate amount of Indebtedness of the Company immediately outstanding prior to the
Closing Date (the “Closing Indebtedness”) and (ii) the Working Capital as of the Closing Date (the “Closing Net Working Capital”)
together with documentation evidencing the components and calculations of the foregoing. Such Final Closing Statement shall be
determined in accordance with GAAP.

(b) If the Sellers disagree with such determination, the Sellers shall notify the Buyer on or before the date thirty (30)
days after the date on which the Buyer delivers to the Sellers such Final Closing Statement. The Buyer and the Sellers shall attempt to
resolve any such disagreements in good faith. If the Buyer and the Sellers are unable to resolve all such disagreements on or before the date
thirty (30) days following notification by the Sellers of any such disagreements, the Buyer and Seller shall jointly designate a third party
nationally recognized independent public accounting firm (such accounting firm being referred to as the “Final Accounting Firm”) to
resolve all such disagreements, who shall adjudicate only those items still in dispute with respect to the Final Closing Statement. In the
event Buyer and Seller are unable to agree on a Final Accounting Firm, the parties shall submit the decision to retain a Final Accounting
Firm to an independent arbitrator assigned by the American Arbitration Association, pursuant to said association’s rules, with any required
proceeding to be held in Boston, Massachusetts. Such assigned arbitrator shall select such Final Accounting Firm and the decision of such
arbitrator shall be binding on the parties.

(c) The Final Accounting Firm shall offer the Buyer and the Sellers the opportunity to provide written submissions
regarding their positions on the disputed matters, which written submissions shall be provided to the Final Accounting Firm, if at all, no
later than ten (10) days after the date of referral of the disputed matters to the Final Accounting Firm. The determination of the Final
Accounting Firm shall be based solely on the written submissions by the Buyer and the Sellers and their respective representatives and
shall not be by independent review. The Final Accounting Firm shall deliver a written report resolving only the disputed matters and setting
forth the basis for such resolution within twenty (20) days after the Buyer and the Sellers submit in writing (or have had the opportunity to
submit in writing but have not submitted) their positions as to the disputed items. In preparing its report, the Final Accounting Firm shall
not assign a value to any disputed amount other than one submitted by the Buyer, on the one hand, or the Sellers, on the other hand. The
determination of the Final Accounting Firm with respect to the correctness of each matter in dispute shall be final and binding on the
parties. The fees, costs and expenses of the Final Accounting Firm shall be borne entirely by the party as to whom there is a negative
adjustment overall. The Final Accounting Firm shall conduct its determination activities in a manner wherein all materials submitted to it
are held in confidence and shall not be disclosed to third parties. The parties hereto agree that judgment may be entered upon the
determination of the Final Accounting Firm in any court having jurisdiction over the party against which such determination is to be
enforced.

(d) Payment of Adjustments.

(i) If the Closing Indebtedness is greater than the Estimated Indebtedness, then the Sellers shall pay or cause to be
paid the amount of such difference to the Buyer. Alternatively, if the Estimated Indebtedness is greater than the Closing Indebtedness, then
the Buyer shall pay the amount of such difference to the Sellers in accordance with each Seller’s Pro Rata Portion.
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(ii) If the Closing Net Working Capital is greater than the Estimated Net Working Capital, then the Buyer shall pay
the amount of such difference to the Sellers in accordance with each Seller’s Pro Rata Portion. Alternatively, if the Estimated Net Working
Capital is greater than the Closing Net Working Capital, then the Sellers shall pay the amount of such difference to the Buyer.

(iii) The adjustments to the Initial Purchase Price pursuant to Sections 1.4(d)(i) through (ii) above shall be netted
against each other as applicable such that only a net amount (the “Net Adjustment Amount”) shall be paid. The Net Adjustment Amount
shall be treated as an adjustment to the Initial Purchase Price by the Parties for Tax purposes. If the Net Adjustment Amount reflects a
payment due to Buyer, the Buyer and the Sellers shall issue joint written instructions to the Escrow Agent to release the amount of such Net
Adjustment Amount to the Buyer from the Escrow Amount upon the determination of Net Adjustment Amount. If the Net Adjustment
Amount reflects a payment due to the Sellers, then the Buyer shall pay to the Sellers an amount equal to the Net Adjustment Amount such
that each Seller receives its Pro Rata Portion of the Net Adjustment Amount. Payments to be made pursuant to this Section 1.4(d)(iii) shall
be made by wire transfer in immediately available funds to the bank account(s) designated by the applicable party within three (3) Business
Days of such final determination of the Final Purchase Price.

1.5 Gross Up. In addition to the Purchase Price, the Buyer shall pay to the Sellers (or pay on behalf of the Sellers, if so
requested by Sellers) an amount equal to any additional Taxes due or incurred by Sellers as a result of the filing of the Elections (as defined
in Section 5.9 of this Agreement) ( the”338(h)(10) Gross Up”) via wire transfer in immediately available funds to such accounts and in
such amounts as designated in writing to the Buyer by the Sellers within 10 Business Days following payment of such amount by the
Sellers the applicable Taxes relating to the Elections that are paid by the Sellers; provided, however, in no event shall the Buyer be
obligated to pay the 338(h)(10) Gross Up, if Sellers have not provided the Buyer with documentation reasonably satisfactory to Buyer and
its advisors evidencing and demonstrating the amount of the 338(h)(10) Gross Up and the payment thereof. Escrow. At Closing, Buyer will
deposit in escrow for the benefit of the Sellers the Escrow Amount (in the form of the Promissory Notes). The Escrow Amount shall be
held by and registered in the name of the Escrow Agent as partial security for the indemnification obligations under Article X pursuant to
the provisions of the Escrow Agreement. The Buyer and the Sellers intend that, for Federal and State income tax purposes, the Sellers shall
be treated as the owners of the Escrow Amount, subject to forfeiture based on indemnification claims.

1.6 Closing. Unless this Agreement shall have been terminated and the transactions herein contemplated shall have been
abandoned pursuant to Article IX and subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the conditions set forth in Articles VII and VIII, the closing of
the transactions described herein (the “Closing”) will take place as promptly as practicable (and in any event within two (2) Business Days)
after satisfaction or waiver of the conditions set forth in Articles VII and VIII, by escrow Closing or at the offices of Hinckley, Allen &
Snyder, LLP, 28 State Street, Boston, Massachusetts 02109, unless another date, time or place is agreed to in writing by the parties hereto.
The date of such Closing is referred to herein as the “Closing Date” and the effective time of such Closing for accounting purposes shall be
12:01 a.m. EST on such date.

1.7 Witholding. The Buyer and the Escrow Agent shall be entitled to deduct and withhold from any amounts payable or
otherwise deliverable pursuant to this Agreement and the transactions contemplated herein, or the Sellers shall remit to the Buyer or the
Escrow Agent, as applicable, such amounts as the Buyer or the Escrow Agent, as applicable, may be required to pay, deduct or withhold
therefrom under the Code or under any provision of federal, state, local or foreign Tax Law. To the extent such amounts are so paid,
deducted or withheld, such amounts shall be treated for all purposes under this Agreement as having been paid to the person to whom such
amounts would otherwise have been paid.
 

4



1.8 Allocation of Purchase Price. The Final Purchase Price (and all other capitalized costs) shall be allocated among the assets of the
Company in accordance with Code Section 1060 and the Treasury regulations promulgated thereunder (and any similar provision of state,
local or foreign Law, as appropriate) and in accordance with the principles set forth on Schedule 1.8 hereto (the “Allocation Schedule”) and
the Buyer shall deliver the Allocation Schedule to the Sellers’ Representative within 30 days after the determination of the Final Purchase
Price pursuant to Section 1.4. The Buyer, the Company, the Sellers and their Affiliates shall report, act, and file Tax Returns in all respects
and for all purposes consistent with the Allocation Schedule. The Sellers shall timely and properly prepare, execute, file and deliver all
such documents, forms and other information as the Buyer may reasonably request in connection with the preparation of the Allocation
Schedule and any Tax Returns relating thereto. None of the Buyer, the Company and the Sellers shall take any position (whether in audits,
Tax Returns or otherwise) which is inconsistent with the Allocation Schedule unless required to do so by applicable Law.

1.9 Earnout No.1. Commencing with the period beginning on January 1, 2016 and continuing thereafter for a period of two (2) years
(each an “Earnout Year”), the Sellers shall be eligible to receive additional consideration (the “Earnout No. 1 Consideration”) (paid to
the Sellers in accordance with each Seller’s Pro Rata Portion) in an amount not to exceed Five Million Dollars ($5,000,000), to be paid on
an annual basis (collectively) of Two Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($2,500,000). Sellers’ right to receive the Earnout No. 1
Consideration in an Earnout Year shall be subject to the Company’s satisfaction of agreed upon financial milestones in the applicable
Earnout Year relating to the Company’s EBITDA and revenue, as set forth below. The Earnout No. 1 Consideration shall be paid to the
Sellers on or within ninety (90) days following the completion of the applicable Earnout Year, and shall be paid no less than fifty (50%)
percent via wire transfer in immediately available funds to such accounts and in such amounts as designated in writing to the Buyer by the
Sellers, with the remainder to be paid pursuant to the issuance of Parent Shares (calculated by dividing the amount of the Earnout
Consideration by the Average Closing Price) or via wire transfer in immediately available funds. For purposes of calculating the Earnout
No. 1 Consideration, the following sets forth the financial milestones agreed to by the parties:
 

Earnout Year   Revenue    Target EBITDA 
2016   $32,500,000    $ 4,500,000  
2017   $34,000,000    $ 4,800,000  

In the event that during an applicable Earnout Year, the Company satisfies both the revenue and EBITDA targets set forth above, the
Sellers shall be entitled to receive the full amount of the Earnout No. 1 Consideration for the applicable Earnout Year ($2,500,000
collectively); provided, however, that: (i) if during the applicable Earnout Year the Company satisfies only one of the revenue or EBITDA
targets, the Sellers shall be entitled to receive (collectively), for such Earnout Year, $1,250,000, and (ii) if during the applicable Earnout
Year, the Company fails to achieve either of the revenue or EBITDA targets, the Sellers shall not be entitled to receive any Earnout No. 1
Consideration.

1.10 Earnout No. 2. If, during any Earnout Year, the Company exceeds the revenue targets referenced above, the Sellers shall be
eligible to receive additional consideration (the “Earnout No. 2 Consideration”, and with the Earnout No. 1 Consideration, collectively,
the “Earnout Consideration”), equal to fifty (50%) percent of the difference between the Company’s actual EBITDA for the applicable
Earnout Year and the applicable Target EBITDA, not to exceed One Million Dollars ($1,000,000) in any
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Earnout Year. The Earnout No. 2 Consideration shall paid to the Sellers on or within ninety (90) days following the completion of the
applicable Earnout Year, and shall be paid no less than fifty (50%) percent via wire transfer in immediately available funds to such
accounts and in such amounts as designated in writing to the Buyer by the Sellers, with the remainder to be paid pursuant to the issuance of
Parent Shares (calculated by dividing the amount of the Earnout Consideration by the Average Closing Price) or via wire transfer in
immediately available funds. With respect to the Earnout Consideration, nothing in this Agreement shall limit or restrict the Parent’s
obligation to operate the business of the Company in good faith after the Closing.

1.11 Parent Shares. The Parent Shares shall be subject to all restrictions imposed by applicable law, and thereafter, the Parent Shares
shall be freely tradable subject to the terms and conditions of the Parent’s standard form lock-up agreement. In connection with the receipt
of the Parent Shares, the Sellers agree to execute and deliver all documents reasonably required by the Parent. Notwithstanding any
provision in this Agreement to the contrary, Parent shall not issue Parent Shares under this Agreement to the extent (and only to the extent)
such issuance would require the prior approval of the stockholders of Parent pursuant to NASDAQ Listing Rule 5635.

ARTICLE II

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
OF THE COMPANY AND THE SELLERS

The Company and the Sellers, jointly and severally, represent and warrant to the Buyer as set forth below, subject to the exceptions set
forth in the disclosure schedules hereto (the “Company Disclosure Schedules”), the section numbers and letters of which correspond to the
section and subsection numbers and letters of this Agreement. Each exception to a representation and warranty set forth in the Company
Disclosure Schedules shall qualify the specific representation and warranty which is referenced in the applicable paragraph of the Company
Disclosure Schedule[; provided, however, that any information disclosed in any part of the Company Disclosure Schedule shall be deemed
disclosed and incorporated into any other part of the Company Disclosure Schedule where it is reasonably apparent from the text of the
disclosure that such disclosure is relevant to such other part.]1 For purposes of this Article II, where applicable, the term “Company” shall
refer to each of the Company’s successors and/or assigns, and each of its Subsidiaries.

2.1 Organization. The Company is a limited liability company duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws
of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. The Company has all requisite power and authority to own, operate and lease the properties and
assets it now owns, operates and leases and to carry on the Company’s business as currently conducted. The Company is duly qualified to
transact business as a foreign limited liability company and is in good standing in the jurisdictions set forth in Schedule 2.1 hereto, which
are the only jurisdictions where such qualification is required by reason of the nature of the properties and assets currently owned, operated
or leased by it or the business currently conducted by it, except for such jurisdictions where the failure to be so qualified would not have a
Company Material Adverse Effect. The Company has previously delivered to the Buyer complete and correct copies of the certificate of
organization of the Company (certified by the Secretary of State for the Commonwealth of Massachusetts as of a recent date) and the
operating agreement of the Company. Neither the Company’s certificate of organization nor its operating agreement have been amended
since the date of certification thereof, nor has any action been taken for the purpose of effecting any amendment of such instrument.
 
1 Subject to review of schedules.
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2.2 Authorization.

(a) The Company has full limited liability company power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to consummate
the transactions contemplated hereby. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by the Company has been duly and
validly authorized and approved by all necessary limited liability company actions. This Agreement constitutes the legal and binding
obligation of the Company, enforceable against the Company in accordance with its terms, except to the extent that enforceability may be
limited by applicable bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, moratorium or other Laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights
generally and by general principles of equity, regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding in Law or in equity.

(b) The Sellers have the legal capacity to execute and deliver this Agreement and the agreements referenced herein to
which he is a party and to consummate the Transactions. No further action is required on the part of the Seller to authorize this Agreement
and the agreements referenced herein to which the Seller is a party and the Transactions. This Agreement and the agreements referenced
herein to which the Seller is a party have been duly executed and delivered by the Sellers and, assuming the due authorization, execution
and delivery by the other parties thereto, constitute the valid and binding obligations of the Sellers, enforceable in accordance with their
terms, except as such enforceability may be limited by principles of public policy and subject to the laws of general application relating to
bankruptcy, insolvency, moratorium or other similar laws affecting or relating to creditors’ rights generally and rules of law and equity
governing specific performance, injunctive relief and other equitable remedies.

2.3 Consents and Approvals; No Violations. Except as set forth on Schedule 2.3, the execution and delivery of this Agreement
and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, including specifically the transfer and sale of the Interests to the Buyer by
the Sellers, will not: (i) violate or conflict with any provision of the certificate of organization or operating agreement, or other
organizational documents of the Company as the case may be; (ii) breach, violate or constitute an event of material default (or an event
which with the lapse of time or the giving of notice or both would constitute an event of default) under, give rise to any right of termination,
cancellation, modification or acceleration under, or require any consent or the giving of any notice under, any contract, note, bond,
indenture, mortgage, security agreement, lease, license, franchise, permit, agreement or other instrument or obligation to which the
Company is a party, or by which the Company or any of its properties or assets may be bound, or result in the creation of any Lien, claim
or encumbrance or other right of any third party of any kind whatsoever upon the properties or assets of the Company pursuant to the terms
of any such instrument or obligation; (iii) violate or conflict with any Law, statute, ordinance, code, rule, regulation, judgment, order, writ,
injunction, decree or other instrument of any federal, state, local or foreign court or governmental or regulatory body, agency, association,
organization or authority applicable to the Company or by which its properties or assets may be bound, except for such violations and
conflicts which would not have a Company Material Adverse Effect; or (iv) require, on the part of the Company any filing or registration
with, or permit, license, exemption, consent, authorization or approval of, or the giving of any notice to, any governmental or regulatory
body, agency or authority, other than any filing, registration, permit, license, exemption, consent, authorization, approval or notice which if
not obtained would not have a Company Material Adverse Effect.

2.4 Company Capital Structure.

(a) Other than the Interests, the Company does not have any other membership interests or other equity interests
authorized, issued or outstanding. The Interests are held of record and to the Company’s Knowledge, beneficially by the Persons with the
addresses and in the amounts set forth on Schedule 2.4(a). All Interests (i) have been duly authorized and validly issued and are fully paid,
non-
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assessable and not subject to preemptive rights or similar rights created by statute, the Company’s certificate of organization, operating
agreement or any agreement or document to which the Company is a party or by which it is bound, and (ii) have been offered, sold, issued
and delivered by the Company in compliance with all applicable Laws. There are no declared or accrued but unpaid dividends with respect
to any of the Interests. Except as set forth above, as of the date of this Agreement no Interests, other equity securities, partnership interests
or similar ownership interests or other voting securities of the Company or any securities exchangeable or convertible into, derivative of or
exercisable for such Interests, other equity securities, partnership interests or similar ownership interests or other voting securities of the
Company, are issued, reserved for issuance or outstanding, nor are there any Company Equity Rights or other outstanding rights or claims
thereto. There are no bonds, debentures, notes or other Indebtedness of the Company having the right to vote (or convertible into, or
exchangeable for, securities having the right to vote) on any matters on which members of the Company may vote. Except as set forth on
Schedule 2.4(a), the Company has never repurchased, redeemed or otherwise acquired or caused the repurchase, redemption or acquisition
of any Interests or other securities of the Company, and there are no amounts owed or which may be owed to any person by the Company
as a result of any repurchase, redemption or acquisition of any Interests or other securities of the Company. There is no claim or basis for
such a claim to any portion of the Final Purchase Price by any current or former member, option holder or warrant holder of the Company,
or any other Person.

(b) Except as set forth on Schedule 2.4(b), the Company has not adopted, sponsored or maintained any option plan or any
other plan or agreement providing for equity compensation to any Person and there are no outstanding Company Equity Rights or
agreements of any character, written or oral, obligating the Company to issue, deliver, sell, repurchase or redeem, or cause to be issued,
delivered, sold, repurchased or redeemed, any Interests or equity or other ownership interest of the Company or obligating the Company to
grant or enter into any such Company Equity Right. There are no outstanding or authorized equity appreciation, phantom equity, profit
participation, or other similar rights with respect to the Company.

(c) Except as set forth in Schedule 2.4(c), there are no (i) voting trusts, proxies, or other agreements or understandings
with respect to the voting equity interests of the Company to which the Company is a party, by which the Company is bound, or of which
the Company has Knowledge, or (ii) agreements or understandings to which the Company is a party, by which the Company is bound, or of
which the Company has Knowledge relating to the registration, sale or transfer (including agreements relating to rights of first refusal, “co-
sale” rights or “drag-along” rights) of any Interests. The holders of Interests and Company Equity Rights have been or will be properly
given, or shall have properly waived, any required notice prior to the transactions contemplated herein.

2.5 Subsidiaries.

(a) Except for the Persons set forth in Schedule 2.5(a) (each a “Subsidiary”), the Company and/or the Sellers do not own
and has never otherwise owned, directly or indirectly, any capital stock of or any other equity interest in, or controlled, directly or
indirectly, any other Person, and the Company is not and has not otherwise been, directly or indirectly, a party to, member of or participant
in any partnership, joint venture or similar business entity. Each Subsidiary is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing (to the
extent applicable) under the Laws of its jurisdiction of formation. Each Subsidiary has all requisite power and authority to own, lease and
operate its properties and to carry on its business as currently conducted. Each Subsidiary is duly qualified or licensed to do business and is
in good standing (to the extent applicable) as a foreign organization in each jurisdiction listed on Schedule 2.5(a), which constitute all of the
jurisdictions in which the conduct of its business or the ownership, leasing, holding or use of its properties makes such qualification
necessary, except such other jurisdictions where the failure to be so qualified or licensed or in good standing would not reasonably be
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expected to be material to the Company and its Subsidiaries or the Company’s ability to consummate the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement in a timely manner. The Company has delivered to the Buyer a true and correct copy of each Subsidiary’s certificate of
incorporation and by-laws (or other comparable organizational documents), each as amended to date and in full force and effect on the date
hereof. Schedule 2.5(a) lists every jurisdiction in which each Subsidiary of the Company has facilities, maintains an office or has an
Employee.

(b) The capitalization of each Subsidiary, including the identity of each holder of an outstanding equity interest therein, is
as set forth on Schedule 2.5(b). All of the outstanding capital stock of, or other ownership interests in, each Subsidiary is owned by the
Company, directly or indirectly, free and clear of any Lien and free of any other limitation or restriction (including any restriction on the
right to vote, sell or otherwise dispose of such capital stock or other ownership interests). There are no outstanding (i) securities of the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries convertible into or exchangeable for shares of capital stock or other voting securities or ownership
interests in any Subsidiary or (ii) options or other rights to acquire from the Company or any of its Subsidiaries, or obligation on the part of
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to issue, any capital stock, voting securities or other ownership interests in, or any securities
convertible into or exchangeable for any capital stock, voting securities or ownership interests in, any of its Subsidiaries (the items in
clauses (i) and (ii) being referred to collectively as the “Subsidiary Securities”). There are no outstanding obligations of the Company or
any of its Subsidiaries to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire any outstanding Subsidiary Securities. All of the outstanding share capital
of each Subsidiary has been duly authorized and is validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable.

2.6 Sufficiency of Assets. Except as described on Schedule 2.6 herein, the Company has good and marketable title to, or a valid
leasehold interest in, all of the tangible personal property necessary for the conduct of its business as currently conducted and as expected
to be conducted in the future, in each case free and clear of all Liens. The buildings, machinery, vehicles, equipment (including medical
supplies) and other tangible assets that the Company owns and leases are in good operating condition (subject to normal wear and tear),
have been maintained in the ordinary course of business and are sufficient for operating the Company’s business as currently conducted and
as expected to be conducted in the future.

2.7 Financial Statements; Internal Controls.

(a) Attached hereto as Schedule 2.7(a) are the audited balance sheets of the Company as of as of December 31, 2015 and
as of December 31, 2014 (the “Balance Sheet”) and the corresponding audited income statements, cash flow statements and statements
showing the Company’s EBITDA for the fiscal periods then ended (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Financial Statements”).
The Financial Statements (i) have been prepared from the books and records of the Company, (ii) have been prepared in accordance with
GAAP consistently applied during the periods covered thereby, and (iii) present fairly in all material respects the financial condition and
results of operations of the Company as at the dates, and for the periods, stated therein. For the purposes of this Agreement, generally
accepted accounting principles shall mean generally accepted accounting principles set forth in the opinions and pronouncements of the
Accounting Principles Board and the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants and statements and pronouncements of the
Financial Accounting Standards Board which are applicable to the circumstances as of the date of determination (“GAAP”).

(b) The Company has in place systems and processes that: (i)provide it with reasonable assurances regarding the
reliability of the Financial Statements, and in a timely manner accumulate and communicate to the Company’s principal executive officer
and principal financial officer the type of information that would be required to be disclosed in the Financial Statements; and (ii) are
adequate for its current business operations. To the Company’s Knowledge, there have been no instances of fraud, whether or not material,
which occurred during any period covered by the Financial Statements.
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(c) Except as otherwise described on Schedule 2.7(c) herein, to the Company’s Knowledge, no Employee has provided
information to any Governmental Entity regarding the commission of any crime or violation of any Law applicable to the Company or any
part of its operations.

2.8 Absence of Undisclosed Liabilities. Except as set forth on Schedule 2.8 herein, the Company is neither liable for nor subject
to any Liability except for (i) those Liabilities reflected on the Balance Sheet and not previously paid or discharged, (ii) contractual and
other Liabilities incurred in the ordinary course of business which are not required by GAAP to be reflected on a balance sheet, which
would not individually or collectively result in a Company Material Adverse Effect, (iii) those Liabilities which have arisen since the date
of the Balance Sheet in the ordinary course of business, which would not individually or collectively result in a Company Material Adverse
Effect;

2.9 Absence of Certain Changes or Events. Except as set forth on Schedule 2.9 hereto, since July 1, 2015, the Company has
carried on its business in all material respects in the ordinary course and consistent with past practice. Except as set forth on Schedule 2.9,
since July 1, 2015, the Company has not: (i) incurred any material obligation or Liability (whether absolute, accrued, contingent or
otherwise); (ii) experienced any Company Material Adverse Effect; (iii) made any change in accounting principle or practice or in its
method of applying any such principle or practice; (iv) made any change in payment terms or sales practices with respect to customers and
suppliers; (v) suffered any material damage, destruction or loss, whether or not covered by insurance, affecting its properties, assets or
business; (vi) mortgaged, pledged or subjected to any Lien, charge or other encumbrance, or granted to third parties any rights in, any of its
properties or assets, tangible or intangible; (vii) sold or transferred any of its assets, or canceled or compromised any debts or waived any
claims or rights of a material nature; (viii) terminated, amended or waived with respect to any material contract, any material right;
(ix) granted any general or specific increase in the compensation payable or to become payable to any of its Employees or any bonus or
service award or other like benefit, or instituted, increased, augmented or improved any Company Employee Plan; or (x) entered into any
agreement to do any of the foregoing.

2.10 Legal Proceedings, etc. Except as set forth on Schedule 2.10, there are no suits, actions, claims, proceedings (including,
without limitation, arbitral or administrative proceedings) or investigations pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened
against the Company or, to the Knowledge of the Company, pending or threatened against any of the officers, directors, partners,
managers, employees, or agents of the Company. There are no such suits, actions, claims, proceedings or investigations pending against the
Company or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened against the Company challenging the validity or propriety of the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement. There are no such suits, actions, claims, proceedings or investigations pending against the Company or, to
the Knowledge of the Company, threatened against the Company or any of the Sellers which have been brought or initiated by an
Employee or former Employee of the Company. Schedule 2.10 hereto sets forth all settlements, judgments, orders, injunctions, decrees and
awards entered into or imposed which the Company is a party to or by which the Company is bound, and the Company is and has been at
all times in material compliance with the terms of such settlements, judgments, orders, injunctions, decrees and awards. Schedule 2.10
hereto sets forth all suits, actions, claims, proceedings or investigations regarding the Company, any equity security of the Company,
Company Equity Rights or any of its assets which the Company has ever been involved in or received notice of.
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2.11 Taxes.

(a) All Tax Returnsrequired to be filed by or with respect to the Company have been properly and timely filed. All such
Tax Returns have been accurately and completely prepared in all material respects in compliance with all Laws. No claim has ever been
made in writing to the Company by any Taxing Authority in a jurisdiction where the Company does not file Tax Returns that the Company
is or may be subject to taxation by that jurisdiction, and the Company does not conduct its business in, nor derive income from within or
allocable to, any state, local, territorial or foreign jurisdiction other than those for which all Tax Returns have been furnished or made
available to the Buyer. The Company does not have a permanent establishment outside the United States.

(b) Company has timely paid all Taxes which are due, whether or not shown on such Tax Returns, and for Taxes that are
not yet due, the Company has established adequate reserves in accordance with GAAP (excluding accruals and reserves for deferred Taxes
established to reflect timing differences between book and Tax income) on the most recent Balance Sheet for such Taxes. The Company
will establish, in the ordinary course of business and consistent with its past practices, any reserves (other than reserves for deferred Taxes
established to reflect timing differences between book and Tax income) necessary for the payment of all Taxes of the Company for the
period from date of the most recent Balance Sheet through the Closing Date, and the Company will disclose the dollar amount of such
reserves to the Buyer on or prior to the Closing Date. Since the date of the most recent Balance Sheet, the Company has not incurred any
Liability for Taxes arising from extraordinary gains or losses, as that term is used in GAAP. There are no actions, examinations, audits or
proceedings currently pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened against the Company by any Taxing Authority, no claim
for the assessment or collection of Taxes has been asserted against the Company and there are no matters under discussion by the Company
with any Taxing Authority regarding claims for the assessment or collection of Taxes. Any Taxes that have been claimed or imposed as a
result of any examinations or audits of any Tax Return of the Company by any Taxing Authority have been paid or are being contested in
good faith and have been disclosed in writing to the Buyer. There are no Tax Liens on any of the assets of the Company except for Liens
for Taxes not yet due or payable. The Company has not waived any statute of limitations with respect to Taxes or agreed to any extension
of time with respect to any Tax assessment or deficiency, or the collection of any Tax, which remains outstanding.

(c) The Company is not a party to or bound by or has any obligation under any Tax indemnity agreement, Tax sharing
agreement, Tax allocation agreement or similar agreement or arrangement and the Company does not have any Liability for Taxes of any
Person (other than the Company) or any Liability in respect of any Tax as a result of being a member of any affiliated, consolidated,
combined, unitary or similar group under Treasury Regulation 1.1502-6 (or any similar provision of state, local or foreign Law) or as a
transferee, successor or guarantor or by contract, indemnification or otherwise.

(d) Company has withheld all amounts from its respective employees, agents, creditors, independent contractors and
other Persons required to be withheld under the Tax, social security, unemployment and other withholding provisions of all federal, state,
local and foreign Laws, and has complied with all information reporting and back-up withholding requirements, including maintenance of
required records with respect thereto, in connection with amounts paid or owing to any employee, agent, creditor, independent contractor,
or other Person.

(e) The Company has not received any written ruling of a Taxing Authority relating to Taxes or entered in any written
and legally binding agreement with a Taxing Authority relating to Taxes. The Company has delivered or made available to the Buyer for
inspection true and complete copies of (i) all private letter rulings, revenue agent reports, information document requests, audit reports,
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notices of proposed deficiencies, deficiency notices, protests, petitions, closing agreements, settlement agreements, pending ruling requests
and any similar documents submitted by, received by or agreed to by or on behalf of the Company relating to Taxes for all taxable periods
for which the applicable statute of limitations has not yet expired, and (ii) all federal, state, local and foreign income or franchise Tax
Returns for the Company for all periods for which the statute of limitations has not expired.

(f) The Company has not engaged in a “reportable transaction” within the meaning of Section 6707A(c)(1) of the Code.

2.12 Title to Properties and Related Matters.

(a) The Company has good and marketable title to, or a valid leasehold or license interest in, the assets used to operate its
business as currently conducted and as expected to be conducted in the future, free and clear of any claims, Liens, pledges, security interests
or encumbrances of any kind whatsoever (other than (i) purchase money security interests and common Law vendor’s Liens, in each case
for goods purchased on open account and having a fair market value of less than $10,000 in each individual case), and (ii) Liens for Taxes
not yet due and payable) and the sale and purchase of the Interests to the Buyer pursuant hereto shall vest in the Buyer good and marketable
title to, or a valid leasehold or license interest in, all of the assets of the Company, free and clear of any claims, Liens, pledges, security
interests or encumbrances of any kind whatsoever subject only to the above exceptions, to the full extent of Company’s title to or leasehold
or license in, each such purchased asset immediately prior to the Closing. All assets of the Company conform to all applicable Laws,
statutes, ordinances, rules and regulations.

(b) Schedule 2.12(b) hereto sets forth a list, which is correct and complete in all material respects, of all equipment,
machinery, instruments, vehicles, furniture, fixtures, equipment (including medical equipment and supplies, training and educational
equipment and simulation equipment) and other items of personal property (except for Intellectual Property) currently owned or leased by
the Company. Except as set forth on Schedule 2.12(b) hereto, all such personal property is in suitable operating condition under applicable
material Laws and regulations (ordinary and reasonable wear and tear excepted), and is physically located in or about one of the places of
business of the Company and is owned by the Company or is leased by the Company under one of the leases set forth in Schedule 2.12(c)
hereto. None of such personal property is subject to any agreement or commitment for its use by any person other than the
Company. Except as set forth on Schedule 2.12(b) hereto, there are no assets leased by the Company or used in the operation of its business
that are owned, directly or indirectly, by any Related Person. For the purposes hereof, “Related Person” shall mean any of the following
(i) the Sellers; (ii) the spouses and children of any of the Sellers (collectively, “Near Relatives”); (iii) any trust for the benefit of any of the
Sellers or any of their respective Near Relatives; or (iv) any corporation, partnership, joint venture or other entity or enterprise owned or
controlled by the Sellers or by any of their respective Near Relatives.

(c) Schedule 2.12(c) sets forth a complete and correct list of all real property and personal property leases to which the
Company is a party. The Company has previously delivered to the Buyer complete and correct copies of each lease (and any amendments
or supplements thereto) listed in Schedule 2.12(c) hereto. Except as set forth on Schedule 2.12(c) hereto, (i) each such lease is valid and
binding, and in full force and effect; except to the extent that applicable bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, moratorium or other Laws
affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights may affect such validity or enforceability, (ii) neither the Company nor, to the Knowledge of
the Company, any other party is in material default under any such lease, and no event has occurred which constitutes, or with the lapse of
time or the giving of notice or both would constitute, a material default by the Company or, to the Knowledge of the Company, a default by
any other party under such lease; (iii) to the Knowledge of the
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Company, there are no disputes or disagreements between the Company and any other party with respect to any such lease; and (iv) except
as set forth on Schedule 2.12(c), there is no requirement under any such lease that the Company either obtain the lessor’s consent to, or
notify the lessor of, the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

(d) The Company does not own any real property or any interest in real property, except as identified in Schedule 2.12(d)
of the Disclosure Schedule.

2.13 Intellectual Property.

(a) Schedule 2.13(a) sets forth a list of all (i) patents and patent applications owned by the Company, (ii) registered
trademarks and material unregistered trademarks, owned by the Company, (iii) registered copyrights, copyright applications and material
unregistered copyrights owned by the Company, (iv) domain names owned by the Company, and (v) a list of any other Intellectual
Property owned by the Company or used in the Company’s business. Except as set forth in Schedule 2.13(a), use of said Intellectual
Property does not require the consent of any other Person and the same are freely transferable (except as otherwise provided by law) and
are owned exclusively by the Company, free and clear of any Liens. Except as set forth in Schedule 2.13(a), (a) no other Person (including
any current or former Employee, consultant or independent contractor) has an interest in or right or license to use, or the right to license any
other Person to use, any of said Intellectual Property, (b) there are no claims or demands of any other Person pertaining thereto and, to the
Company’s Knowledge, no proceedings have been instituted, or are pending or threatened, which challenge the Company’s rights in
respect thereof, (c) none of the patents, copyrights, trade names or trademarks listed in Schedule 2.13(a), is being infringed by another
Person or is subject to any outstanding order, decree, ruling, charge, injunction, judgment or stipulation, and (d) said Intellectual Property
does not infringe any patent, trade name, trademark or copyright of any other Person.

(b) Except as set forth on Schedule 2.13(b), the Company has not transferred ownership of, or granted any license with
respect to, any Intellectual Property that is or was Company Intellectual Property to any third party.

(c) Company has taken reasonable steps to protect the Company’s rights in the Company’s proprietary and/or confidential
information and trade secrets or any trade secrets or confidential information of third parties provided to the Company used or useful in the
business of the Company, and, without limiting the foregoing, to the Knowledge of the Company, all trade secrets and other confidential
information of the Company used or useful in the Business are not part of the public domain nor, have they been misappropriated by any
person having an obligation to maintain such trade secrets or other confidential information in confidence for the Company. To the
Knowledge of the Company, no employee or consultant of the Company has used any trade secrets or other confidential information of any
other person in the course of their work for the Company nor is the Company making unlawful use of any confidential information or trade
secrets of any past or present employees of the Company. Except as set forth on Schedule 2.13(c), none of the Company, the Sellers, nor to
the Knowledge of the Company, any of the Employees of the Company, have any agreements or arrangements with current or former
employers relating to (i) confidential information or trade secrets of such employers, or (ii) the assignment of rights to any inventions,
know-how or intellectual property of any kind nor are any such Persons bound by any consulting agreements relating to confidential
information or trade secrets of another entity that are being violated by such persons. The activities of the employees and consultants of the
Company on behalf of the Company do not violate in any material respects any agreements or arrangements Known to the Company which
any such employees or consultants have with former employers or any other entity to whom such employees or consultants may have
rendered consulting services.
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(d) Except as set forth on Schedule 2.13(d), the operation of the Company’s business as currently conducted, including
the design, development, manufacture, marketing and sale of the products or services of the Company has not and does not, with respect to
products currently under development to the Company’s Knowledge will not, infringe or misappropriate the Intellectual Property of any
third party or, to its Knowledge, constitute unfair competition or trade practices under the Laws of any jurisdiction.

(e) Except as set forth on Schedule 2.13(e), the Company has not received any notice or other claim from any third party
that the operation of the Company’s business or any act, product or service of the Company infringes, may infringe or misappropriate the
Intellectual Property of any third party or may constitute unfair competition or trade practices under the Laws of any jurisdiction.

2.14 Contracts.

(a) Except as set forth on Schedules 2.14(a)-(d) hereto, the Company is not a party to, or subject to, does not have and
may not acquire any obligations, rights or benefits under:

(i) any Contract that would restrict the ability of the Company or any of its affiliates (including any Contract that
would restrict the ability of Buyer or any of its affiliates) to conduct or compete with any line of business or operations or beneficially own
any assets, properties or rights, anywhere at any time;

(ii) any employment, contractor or consulting Contract with any of its current employees or individual consultants,
contractors, or salespersons, or any Contract to grant any severance or termination pay (in cash or otherwise) to any current employees or
consultants, contractors or salespersons;

(iii) any Contract, including any stock option plan, stock appreciation rights plan or stock purchase plan, any of the
benefits of which will be increased, or the vesting of benefits of which will be accelerated or may be accelerated, by the occurrence of any
of the Transactions or the value of any of the benefits of which will be calculated on the basis of any of the Transactions;

(iv) any lease of personal property or other Contract affecting the ownership of, leasing of, or other interest in, any
personal property, in each case, providing for annual payments in excess of $5,000 individually or $10,000 in the aggregate;

(v) any surety or guarantee agreement or other similar undertaking with respect to contractual performance;

(vi) any Contract relating to capital expenditures and involving future payments in excess of $5,000 individually or
$10,000 in the aggregate;

(vii) any Contract relating to the disposition or acquisition of assets or any interest in any business enterprise
outside the ordinary course of the Company’s business;

(viii) any mortgage, indenture, guarantee, bond, loan or credit agreement, security agreement or other Contract
relating to the borrowing of money or extension of credit;

(ix) any Contract (including purchase orders) that involves performance of services or delivery of goods or
materials by or to the Company of an amount or value in excess of $5,000 individually or $10,000 in the aggregate;
 

14



(x) any dealer, distribution, joint marketing, strategic alliance, affiliate or development agreement or outsourcing
arrangement;

(xi) any nondisclosure or confidentiality agreement other than any nondisclosure or confidentiality agreements that
relate to a proposed transaction regarding the sale of the Company prior to the date hereof that is no longer applicable; or

(xii) any other Contract that involves indemnification or other obligations of $5,000 individually or $10,000 in the
aggregate or more.

(xiii) any outstanding offer, commitment or obligation to enter into any contract or arrangement of the nature
described in subsections (i) through (xii) of this subsection 2.14(a).

(b) The Company has previously provided or made available to the Buyer complete and correct copies (or, in the case of
oral contracts, a complete and correct description) of any contract (and any amendments or supplements thereto) listed on Schedule 2.14(a)
hereto. Except as set forth on Schedule 2.14(b) hereto, (i) each contract listed in Schedule 2.14(a) hereto is in full force and effect;
(ii) neither the Company, nor to the Knowledge of the Company, any other party is in default under any contract listed in Schedule 2.14(a)
hereto, and no event has occurred which constitutes, or with the lapse of time or the giving of notice or both would constitute, a default by
the Company or to the Knowledge of the Company, a material default by any other party under such contract; (iii) to the Knowledge of the
Company, there are no disputes or disagreements between the Company and any other party with respect to any contract listed in
Schedule 2.14(a) hereto; and (iv) each other party to each such material contract has consented or been given notice (or prior to the Closing
shall have consented or been given notice), where such consent or the giving of such notice is necessary in order for such contract to
remain in full force and effect following the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement without modification in the
rights or obligations of the Company thereunder.

(c) Except as set forth on Schedule 2.14(c) hereto, neither the Company nor any Seller has issued any warranty or any
agreement or commitment to indemnify any Person.

(d) Each of the contracts set forth on Schedules 2.14(a)-(d) hereto, is and always has been in compliance with all
applicable Laws, including any and all Laws applicable to the Internet or the Company, or any other Law, statute, ordinance, code, rule,
regulation, judgment, order, injunction, writ or decree of any federal, state, local or foreign court or governmental or regulatory body,
agency or authority having, asserting or claiming jurisdiction over it or over any part of the Company’s business, operations, properties or
assets, except for any violation that would not have a Company Material Adverse Effect.

2.15 Employment Matters.

(a) Schedule 2.15(a) sets forth, (i) with respect to each current Employee (including any Employee who is on a leave of
absence of any nature) and accurate as of two weeks prior to the execution of this Agreement (A) the name of such Employee and the date
as of which such Employee was originally hired by the Company, and whether the Employee is currently on a leave of absence (and if so,
what type of leave); (B) such Employee’s title; (C) such Employee’s base annual salary or annualized hourly compensation, accrued, but
unused vacation and/or paid time off, and bonus and/or commission potential; (D) whether such Employee is not fully available to perform
work because of a qualified disability or other leave and, the anticipated date of return to full service; and (E) the Company facility at
which such Employee is deemed to be located.
 

15



(b) Schedule 2.15(b) contains a list of individuals, accurate as of two weeks prior to the execution of this Agreement,
who are currently performing services for the Company and are classified as “consultants” or “independent contractors,” the respective
compensation of each such “consultant” or “independent contractor” and whether the Company is party to a consulting or independent
contractor agreement with the individual. Any such agreements have been delivered or made available to the Buyer and are set forth on
Schedule 2.15(b). Any such Persons now or heretofore engaged by the Company as independent contractors have been properly classified
as such.

(c) Each employment agreement is set forth on Schedule 2.15(c) and a copy of each employment agreement and any
amendment thereto has been provided or made available to the Buyer. Except as set forth in Schedule 2.15(c), the employment of each of
the Employees is terminable by the Company at will. The Company has not, and to the Knowledge of Company, no other Person has,
(i) entered into any agreement that obligates or purports to obligate the Buyer to make an offer of employment to any present or former
Employee or consultant of the Company or (ii) promised or otherwise provided any assurances (contingent or other) to any present or
former Employee or consultant of the Company of any terms or conditions of employment with the Buyer following the Closing.

(d) The Company has delivered or made available to the Buyer accurate and complete copies in all material respects of
all employee manuals and handbooks, employment policy statements and employment agreements.

(e) (i) None of the Employees has given the Company written notice terminating his or her employment with the
Company, or terminating his or her employment upon a sale of, or business combination relating to, the Company or in connection with the
transactions contemplated by this Agreement and to the Knowledge of the Company, no Employee has expressed any plans to terminate his
or her employment or service arrangement with the Company; (ii) the Company does not have a present intention to terminate the
employment of any current Employee; and (iii) except as set forth on Schedule 2.15(e), the Company is not, and has never been, engaged in
any dispute or litigation with an Employee regarding intellectual property matters.

(f) The Company is not currently, nor has it been in the past, a party to or bound by any union contract, collective
bargaining agreement or similar contract. The Company does not know of any activities or proceedings of any labor union to organize any
Employees. There is not now pending and, to the Company’s Knowledge, no Person has threatened to commence, any slowdown, work
stoppage, labor dispute, union organizing activity or any similar activity or dispute.

(g) The Employees have been, and currently are, properly classified as exempt or non-exempt from the overtime
requirements under state and federal law. The Company is not delinquent to, nor has it failed to pay, any of its Employees, consultants or
contractors for any compensation or benefits they would be entitled under applicable Law.

(h) The Company does not have an established severance pay practice or policy. Except as set forth in Schedule 2.15(h),
(i) the Company is not liable for any severance pay, bonus compensation, acceleration of payment or vesting of any equity interest, or other
payments (other than accrued salary, vacation, or other paid time off in accordance with the Company’s policies) to any Employee arising
from the termination of employment under any benefit or severance policy, practice, agreement, plan, program of the Company, applicable
Law or otherwise; and (ii) as a result of or in connection with the transactions contemplated hereunder or as a result of the termination by
the Company of any persons employed by the Company on or prior to the Closing Date, the Company will not have (A) any Liability that
exists or arises under any Company benefit or severance policy, practice, agreement, plan, program, Law applicable thereto, including
severance pay, bonus compensation or
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similar payment, or (B) to accelerate the time of payment or vesting, or increase the amount of or otherwise enhance any benefit due any
Employee. Accordingly, as of the Closing Date, the Company shall have satisfied in full all of its obligations to such Employees,
consultants and/or contractors for any severance pay, accelerated vesting, or any other payments whatsoever.

(i) The Company is in compliance, in all material respects, with all applicable Laws, agreements, contracts and promises
respecting employment, employment practices, employee benefits, terms and conditions of employment, immigration matters, labor
matters, and wages and hours, in each case, with respect to its Employees. There are no claims pending or, to the Company’s Knowledge,
threatened, before any Governmental Entity or insurance provider, against the Company, which arise out of Company’s status as an
employer. The Company, and to the Company’s Knowledge each Employee, is in compliance with all applicable visa and work permit
requirements.

(j) Schedule 2.15(j) sets forth (i) each plan or agreement of the Company pursuant to which any amounts may become
payable (whether currently or in the future including upon any future end of employment) to Employees of the Company as a result of or in
connection with transactions contemplated by this Agreement and (ii) a summary of the nature and amounts that may become payable
pursuant to each such agreement.

(k) All Employees working in the United States hired on or after November 7, 1986 are authorized for employment by
the Company in the United States in accordance with the Immigration and Naturalization Act, as amended, and the regulations promulgated
thereunder. No allegations of immigration-related unfair employment practices have been made with the Equal Employment Opportunity
Commission or the Special Counsel for Immigration-Related Unfair Employment Practices. The Company has completed and retained in
accordance with the Immigration and Naturalization Service regulations a currently valid Form I-9 for all Employees working in the United
States hired on or after November 7, 1986, except those employees whose employment terminated on or before June 1, 1987. No current
Employee is authorized for employment in the United States pursuant to a nonimmigrant visa that authorizes the employee to be employed
by the Company.

2.16 Employee Benefit Plans.

(a) Schedule 2.16(a) sets forth each Company Employee Plan. The Company does not have any stated plan or
commitment to establish or enter into any new Company Employee Plan or to modify any Company Employee Plan.

(b) Documents. The Company has delivered to the Buyer with respect to each Company Employee Plan: (i) correct and
complete copies of the plan documents, including all amendments thereto and summary plan descriptions; and (ii) all IRS determination,
opinion, or advisory letters relating to any retirement plans.

(c) Employee Plan Compliance. The Company has performed all material obligations required to be performed by it
under each Company Employee Plan, and each Company Employee Plan has been established and maintained in accordance with its terms
and in compliance with all applicable Law, including ERISA and the Code. Each Company Employee Plan intended to qualify under
Section 401(a) of the Code and each trust intended to qualify under Section 501(a) of the Code is so qualified and has received a favorable
determination, opinion, or advisory letter from the IRS confirming such qualified status. There are no actions, audits, investigations, suits,
or claims pending, or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened in writing (other than routine claims for benefits) with respect to any
Company Employee Plan or fiduciary thereto or against the assets of any Company Employee Plan.
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(d) Plan Status. Except as set forth on Schedule 2.16(d), neither the Company nor any ERISA Affiliate now, or has ever,
maintained, established, sponsored, participated in, or contributed to (or been required to contribute to), (i) any plan which is subject to
Title IV of ERISA or Section 412 of the Code, (ii) a multiple employer plan, (iii) a plan subject to Section 409A of the Code, or (iv) any
arrangement providing life insurance, medical (other than COBRA), or other benefits to any individual after his or her termination of
employment. No Company Employee Plan is sponsored or maintained by any person that is or was considered to be a co-employer with the
Company.

(e) Effect of Transaction. No Company Employee Plan contains any provision which could prohibit the transactions
contemplated by this Agreement. No Company Employee Plan has terms requiring assumption thereof by Buyer or any of its
Affiliates. The execution of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby will not constitute a triggering
event under any Company Employee Plan, which (either alone or upon the occurrence of any additional or subsequent event) may result in
any payment, acceleration, vesting or increase in benefits to any person.

2.17 Compliance with Applicable Law. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is in violation in any respect, and has
not been in violation in any respect, of any applicable safety, health or Environmental Law, any Law applicable to the Company, or any
other Law, statute, ordinance, code, rule, regulation, judgment, order, injunction, writ or decree of any federal, state, local or foreign court
or governmental or regulatory body, agency or authority having, asserting or claiming jurisdiction over it or over any part of the
Company’s business, its operations, properties or assets that might materially adversely affect the Company, and to the Knowledge of the
Company, no event has occurred, and no condition or circumstance exists, that (with or without notice or lapse of time, and without regard
to any cure period) would reasonably be expected to constitute or result directly or indirectly in a violation by any of the Company, or a
failure on the part of the Company to comply with, any of the foregoing. To the Knowledge of the Company, the Company has not
received any notice alleging any such violation or seeking to investigate any potential violation, including, without limitation, from any
“whistle-blower”, and to the Knowledge of the Company, there is no inquiry, investigation or proceeding relating thereto. Neither the
Company nor any Employee has engaged in any illegal or fraudulent conduct on behalf of, for the benefit of or which is harmful to, the
Company.

2.18 Permits.

(a) Schedule 2.18(a) sets forth an accurate and complete list of each Permit held by the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries, and the Sellers have delivered to Buyer accurate and complete copies of all such Permits including all renewals and all
amendments. The Permits identified in Schedule 2.18(a): (i) are valid and in full force and effect, and (ii) constitute all of the Permits
necessary (A) to enable the Company to conduct its business in the manner it is currently conducted, and (B) to permit the Company to own
and use its assets in the manner in which they are currently owned and used.

(b) The Company is in compliance with the terms and requirements of the Permits identified or required to be identified
on Schedule 2.18(a). No event has occurred and, to the Company’s Knowledge, no condition or circumstance exists, that might (with or
without notice or lapse of time) (i) constitute or result directly or indirectly in a violation of or a failure to comply with any term or
requirement of any Permit identified or required to be identified on Schedule 2.18(a), or (ii) result directly or indirectly in the revocation,
withdrawal, suspension, cancellation, termination or modification of any Permit identified or required to be identified on Schedule 2.18(a).

(c) With respect to the Permits identified or required to be identified on Schedule 2.18(a), none of the Company nor any
of its Subsidiaries has received any notice or other communication (in writing or otherwise) from any Governmental Entity regarding (i)
any actual or possible violation of,
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or failure to comply with, any term or requirement of any such Permit, or (ii) any actual or possible revocation, withdrawal, suspension,
cancellation, termination or modification of any such Permit. No Governmental Entity has at any time challenged in writing the right of any
of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries to offer or sell any of its products or services.

(d) All applications required to have been filed for the renewal of the Permits identified in Schedule 2.18(a) have been
duly filed on a timely basis with the appropriate Governmental Entities, and each other notice or filing required to have been given or made
with respect to such Permits has been duly given or made on a timely basis with the appropriate Governmental Entities.

2.19 Environmental Matters.

(a) The Company is, and at all times has been, in full compliance, in all material respects, with, and has not been and is
not in violation of or liable under, any Environmental Law. Neither the Company nor any Seller has any basis to expect, nor has any of
them or any other Person for whose conduct they are or may be held to be responsible received, any actual or threatened order, notice or
other communication from (i) any Governmental Entity or private citizen acting in the public interest or (ii) the current or prior owner or
operator of any facility of any actual or potential violation or failure to comply with any Environmental Law, or of any actual or threatened
obligation to undertake or bear the cost of any Liabilities with respect to any facility or other property or asset (whether real, personal or
mixed) in which the Company has or had an interest, or with respect to any property or facility at or to which Hazardous Substances were
generated, manufactured, refined, transferred, imported, used or processed by the Company or any other Person for whose conduct it is or
may be held responsible, or from which Hazardous Substances have been transported, treated, stored, handled, transferred, disposed,
recycled or received.

(b) There are no pending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threatened claims, Liens, or other restrictions of any
nature resulting from any Liabilities or arising under or pursuant to any Environmental Law with respect to or affecting any facility or any
other property or asset (whether real, personal or mixed) in which the Company has or had an interest.

(c) Neither the Company nor any Seller has any Knowledge of or any basis to expect, nor has any of them, or any other
Person for whose conduct they are or may be held responsible, received, any citation, directive, inquiry, notice, order, injunction, decree,
summons, warning or other communication (whether issued by a court, an arbitrator, Governmental Entity or an administrative agency)
that relates to Hazardous Activity, Hazardous Substances, or any alleged, actual, or potential violation or failure to comply with any
Environmental Law, or of any alleged, actual, or potential obligation to undertake or bear the cost of any Liabilities with respect to any
facility or property or asset (whether real, personal or mixed) in which the Company has or had an interest, or with respect to any property
or facility to which Hazardous Substances generated, manufactured, refined, transferred, imported, used or processed by the Company or
any other Person for whose conduct it is or may be held responsible, have been transported, treated, stored, handled, transferred, disposed,
recycled or received.

(d) Neither the Company nor any other Person for whose conduct it is or may be held responsible, nor any Seller has any
Liabilities with respect to any facility or, to the Knowledge of the Company, with respect to any other property or asset (whether real,
personal or mixed) in which the Company (or any predecessor) has or had an interest or at any property geologically or hydrologically
adjoining any such facility or any such other property or asset.

(e) To the Company’s Knowledge, there are no Hazardous Substances present on or in the Environment at any Company
facility or at any geologically or hydrologically adjoining property,
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including any Hazardous Substances contained in barrels, aboveground or underground storage tanks, landfills, land deposits, dumps,
equipment (whether movable or fixed) or other containers, either temporary or permanent, and deposited or located in land, water, sumps,
or any other part of the Company facilities or such adjoining property, or incorporated into any structure therein or thereon and there is no
Environmental Condition. Neither the Company nor any Person for whose conduct it is or may be held responsible, nor any Seller, or to the
Knowledge of the Company any other Person, has permitted or conducted, or is aware of, any Hazardous Activity conducted with respect to
any facility or any other property or assets (whether real, personal or mixed) in which the Company has or had an interest except in full
compliance with all applicable Environmental Laws.

(f) There has been no Release or, to the Knowledge of the Company, threat of Release, of any Hazardous Substances at
or from any facility or at any other location where any Hazardous Substances were generated, manufactured, refined, transferred, produced,
imported, used, or processed from or by any facility, or from any other property or asset (whether real, personal or mixed) in which the
Company has or had an interest, or to the Knowledge of the Company any geologically or hydrologically adjoining property, whether by
the Company or any other Person and there has been no Remedial Action.

(g) The Company has delivered to Buyer true and complete copies and results of any reports, studies, analyses, tests, or
monitoring possessed or initiated by the Company pertaining to Hazardous Substances or Hazardous Activities in, on, or under the
Company facilities, or concerning compliance, by the Company or any other Person for whose conduct it is or may be held responsible,
with Environmental Laws.

2.20 Ability to Conduct Business. There is no agreement, arrangement or understanding, nor any judgment, order, writ,
injunction or decree of any court or Governmental Entity or regulatory body, agency or authority applicable to the Company or to which the
Company is a party or by which it or any of its properties or assets is bound, that will prevent the use, after the Closing Date, of the
properties and assets owned by, the business conducted by or the services rendered by the Company on the date hereof, in each case on
substantially the same basis as the same are used, owned, conducted or rendered on the date hereof and as expected to be conducted or
rendered in the future. The Company has in force, and is in compliance with, in all material respects, all governmental permits, licenses,
exemptions, consents, authorizations and approvals used in or required for the conduct of the Company’s business as currently conducted
and as expected to be conducted in the future, all of which shall continue in full force and effect, without requirement of any filing or the
giving of any notice and without modification thereof, following the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby. The Company
has not received any notice of, and to the Knowledge of the Company, there are no inquiries, proceedings or investigations relating to or
which could result in the revocation or modification of any such permit, license, exemption, consent, authorization or approval.

2.21 Insurance. Schedule 2.21 hereto sets forth a true and complete list of all insurance policies carried by the Company,
together with, in respect of each such policy, the name of the insurer, the number of the policy, the annual policy premium payable therefor,
the limits of coverage, the deductible amount (if any), the expiration date thereof and each pending claim thereunder. Except as set forth on
Schedule 2.21 hereto, all such policies are in full force and effect and such policies, or other policies covering the same risks, have been in
full force and effect, without gaps, continuously for the past two (2) years. All premiums due thereon have been paid in a timely manner.
Complete and correct copies of all such current insurance policies of the Company have been made available to the Buyer for inspection.
The Company is not in default under any of such policies, and, to the Company’s Knowledge, the Company has not failed to give any notice
or to present any claim under any such policy in a due and timely fashion. The Company does not have Knowledge of any facts which
would likely result in an
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insurer reducing coverage or increasing premiums on existing policies and to the Company’s Knowledge, all such insurance policies can be
maintained in full force and effect without substantial increase in premium or reducing the coverage thereof following the Closing. Except
as set forth on Schedule 2.21 herein, there is no claim pending under any of such policies as to which coverage has been questioned, denied
or disputed by the underwriters of such policy.

2.22 Brokers; Payments. Except as set forth on Schedule 2.22, no broker, investment banker, financial advisor or other Person is
entitled to any broker’s, finder’s, financial advisor’s or other similar fee or commission in connection with the transactions contemplated by
this Agreement based upon arrangements made by or on behalf of the Company. The Company has suspended or terminated, and has the
legal right to terminate or suspend, all negotiations and discussions of Acquisition Transactions with parties other than the Buyer. No valid
claim exists against the Company or, based on any action by the Company, against the Company for payment of any “topping,” “break-up”
or “bust-up” fee or any similar compensation or payment arrangement as a result of the transactions contemplated hereby.

2.23 Interested Party Transactions.

(a) Except as set forth on Schedule 2.23(a), to the Company’s Knowledge, no Related Person has or has had, directly or
indirectly, (i) an economic interest in any Person which furnished or sold, or furnishes or sells, services or products that the Company
furnishes or sells, or proposes to furnish or sell, or (ii) an economic interest in any Person that purchases from or sells or furnishes to, the
Company, any goods or services or (iii) a beneficial interest in any agreement to which the Company is a party or by which they or their
properties or assets are bound; provided, however, that ownership of no more than 1% of the outstanding voting stock of a publicly traded
corporation shall not be deemed an “economic interest in any entity” for purposes of this Section 2.23.

(b) Except as set forth on Schedule 2.23(b), there are no receivables of the Company owed by any Related Person other
than advances in the ordinary and usual course of business for reimbursable business expenses (as determined in accordance with the
Company’s established employee reimbursement policies and consistent with past practice). The Sellers have not agreed to, or assumed,
any obligation or duty to guaranty or otherwise assume or incur any obligation or Liability of the Company.

2.24 Absence of Questionable Payments. Neither the Company nor any of its members, managers, officers, agents, employees
or any other Persons acting on their behalf has (i) used any Company or other funds for unlawful contributions, payments, gifts or
entertainment, or made any unlawful expenditures relating to political activity to foreign or domestic government officials, candidates or
members of political parties or organizations or established or maintained any unlawful or unrecorded funds in violation of Section 104 of
the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977, as amended, or any other similar applicable foreign, federal or state law; (ii) made any payment
or provided services which were not legal to make or provide which the Company or any Affiliate thereof or any such officer, employee or
other person should reasonably have Known were not legal for the payee or the recipient of such services to receive; or (iii) paid, accepted
or received any unlawful contributions, payments, expenditures or gifts.

2.25 Projections. The projections previously provided to the Buyer (i) have been prepared by management of the Company in
good faith, (ii) were based on assumptions believed by management of the Company to be reasonable in light of current conditions and
current facts Known at the time made and (iii) represent good faith estimates by management of the Company as to the financial
performance of the Company for the periods indicated, but do not represent any guarantee or assurance of the future financial results of the
Company (it being understood that such projections are subject to uncertainties and contingencies that are beyond the control of the
Company and its management).
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2.26 Receivables; Accounts Payable.

(a) All receivables of the Company included in the Financial Statements are valid and collectible obligations (net of any
reserve for collectability with respect hereto reflected in the Financial Statements which such reserve is adequate and appropriate and made
in accordance with GAAP), were not and are not subject to any written or any oral, material offset or counterclaim and have arisen from
bona fide transactions by the Company. The Company’s receivables are reflected on the Balance Sheet included in the Financial
Statements in accordance with GAAP applied on a basis consistent the preparation of the Balance Sheet. Since March 31, 2016, there have
not been any material write-offs as uncollectible of any of the Company’s receivables. Schedule 2.26(a) sets forth a true and correct list of
each account receivable of the Company (and the age of such receivable), as of March 31, 2016.

(b) Schedule 2.26(b) sets forth a true and correct list of each account payable of the Company (and the age of such
payable), as of March 31, 2016..

2.27 Franchise. The Company is not a party to, and is not bound by any franchise-related contract or arrangement. The
Company does not operate its business as a franchise and is not subject to any federal or state Law or regulation as a franchise.

2.28 Customers and Suppliers.

(a) Schedule 2.28(a) lists the Company’s (a) ten (10) largest customers in terms of revenues during the twelve (12) month
period ended as of January 31, 2015 and as of January 31, 2016 (“Top Customers”) and the total amount for which each Top Customer
was invoiced by the Company for the twelve (12) month period ended as of January 31, 2015 and as of January 31, 2016, and (b) ten (10)
largest suppliers during the twelve (12) month period ended as of January 31, 2015 and as of January 31, 2016 (“Top Suppliers”) and the
total amount for which each Top Supplier invoiced the Company for the twelve (12) month period ended as of January 31, 2015 and as of
January 31, 2016.

(b) The Company has not received written notice of, nor has Knowledge of, termination or an intention to terminate the
relationship with the Company, or a material change in the rate of purchasing or supplying products and/or services to or from the
Company, or a material change in pricing (whether on a per-unit basis or otherwise), by a Top Customer or a Top Supplier (whether as a
result of the consummation of the transactions or otherwise).

(c) Schedule 2.28(c) provides a description of any discount or rebate program granted by the Company to any Top
Customer or to the Company from any Top Supplier, as well as (i) the aggregate dollar amount of each such program and (ii) the remaining
life of each such program.

(d) The Company has not experienced and there does not exist, any material quality control or similar problems with any
of the products and/or services currently being supplied to the Company by the Top Suppliers.

2.29 Competitor Activity. To the Knowledge of the Company, no Person which is directly or indirectly in competition with the
Company has taken or effected, or has threatened to take or effect, any action or plan that has resulted in or would reasonably be expected
to result in a Material Adverse Effect on the Company.
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2.30 Seller Representations. Each Seller (a) has good and valid title to the Interests being sold by it to the Buyer hereunder free
and clear of any Liens other than those imposed by applicable Laws; (b) has had an opportunity to consider its sale and transfer of the
Interests and the consummation of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, has been advised by an attorney with respect to such
matters, and has had an opportunity to question, and receive answers from, the executive officers of the Company regarding the same; (c)
understands that the value of the Interests being sold by it hereunder may appreciate in the future (including in the immediate future) and
that upon, and by virtue of, its sale of the Interests being sold by it hereunder, it will be precluded from sharing or benefiting from any such
appreciation; (d) either alone or with the assistance of its own professional advisors, has Knowledge in the Company’s and its Subsidiaries’
financial and business affairs and has had access to full and complete information regarding the Company and its Subsidiaries and their
respective businesses and operations; (e) either alone or with the assistance of its own professional advisors, has independently evaluated
the fairness and reasonableness of the consideration being paid for the Interests hereunder in light of the Company’s and its Subsidiaries’
historical revenue, operating income, net income, capitalization, current financial position and results of operation, and the Company’s and
its Subsidiaries’ future prospects; and (f) is not relying on any representations or warranties made by any person or entity in its decision to
enter this Agreement or any other document related thereto or to consummate the transactions contemplated thereby other than those
explicitly set forth herein or therein. Except as set forth on Schedule 2.30 herein none of the Sellers, nor any officer, director or manager of
the Company has been: (i) convicted in a criminal proceeding or named as a subject of a pending criminal proceeding (excluding traffic
violations and other minor offenses) or been otherwise accused of any act of moral turpitude; (ii) the subject of any order, judgment, or
decree (not subsequently reversed, suspended or vacated) of any court of competent jurisdiction permanently or temporarily enjoining him
or her from, or otherwise imposing limits or conditions on his or her ability to engage in any securities, investment advisory, banking,
insurance or other type of business or acting as an officer or director of a public company; or (iii) found by a court of competent jurisdiction
in a civil action or by the Securities and Exchange Commission or the Commodity Futures Trading Commission to have violated any
federal or State commodities, securities or unfair trade practices law, which judgment or finding has not been subsequently reversed,
suspended, or vacated.

2.31 Disclosure. The Company has not failed to disclose to the Buyer any fact that is reasonably more likely than not to have a
Company Material Adverse Effect or impede or impair the ability of the Company to perform its obligations under this Agreement in any
material respect. No representation or warranty by the Company contained in this Agreement and no statement contained, when considered
together as a whole, in any of the Company Disclosure Schedules, and the certificates and other documents or instruments delivered or to
be delivered pursuant to this Agreement by or on behalf of the Company contains or will contain any untrue statement of a material fact or
omits or will omit to state any material fact necessary to make the statements contained therein, in light of the circumstances under which
they are made, not misleading.

ARTICLE III

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES
OF THE BUYER

The Buyer represents and warrants to the Company as set forth below, subject to the exceptions set forth in the disclosure schedules
hereto (the “Buyer Disclosure Schedules”), the section numbers and letters of which correspond to the section and subsection numbers and
letters of this Agreement.

3.1 Organization. The Buyer is a limited liability company duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the Laws
of the State of Delaware. The Buyer has all requisite limited liability company power and authority to own, operate and lease the properties
and assets the
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Buyer now owns, operates and leases and to carry on the Buyer’s business as currently conducted. The Buyer is duly qualified to transact
business as a limited liability company and is in good standing in the jurisdictions where such qualification is required by reason of the
nature of the properties and assets currently owned, operated or leased by the Buyer or the business currently conducted by it, except for
such jurisdictions where the failure to be so qualified would not have a Buyer Material Adverse Effect. The Buyer has previously made
available to the Company complete and correct copies of its certificate of incorporation and all amendments thereto as of the date hereof.

3.2 Authorization. The Buyer has full power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and to consummate the
transactions contemplated hereby. The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement by the Buyer have been duly and validly
authorized and approved by all necessary limited liability company action on the part of the Buyer. This Agreement constitutes the legal
and binding obligation of the Buyer, enforceable against it in accordance with its terms, except to the extent that enforceability may be
limited by applicable bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency, moratorium or other Laws affecting the enforcement of creditors’ rights
generally and by general principles of equity (regardless of whether such enforceability is considered in a proceeding in equity or in Law).

3.3 Consents and Approvals; No Violations. The execution and delivery of this Agreement and the consummation of the
transactions contemplated hereby will not: (i) violate or conflict with any provisions of the certificate of formation of the Buyer;
(ii) breach, violate or constitute an event of default (or an event which with the lapse of time or the giving of notice or both would
constitute an event of default) under, give rise to any right of termination, cancellation, modification or acceleration under, or require any
consent or the giving of any notice under, any note, bond, indenture, mortgage, security agreement, lease, license, franchise, permit,
agreement or other instrument or obligation to which the Buyer is a party, or by which it or its properties or assets may be bound, or result
in the creation of any Lien, claim or encumbrance of any kind whatsoever upon the properties or assets of the Buyer pursuant to the terms
of any such instrument or obligation, other than any breach, violation, default, termination, cancellation, modification or acceleration which
would not have a Buyer Material Adverse Effect; (iii) violate or conflict with any Law, statute, ordinance, code, rule, regulation, judgment,
order, writ, injunction or decree or other instrument of any federal, state, local or foreign court or governmental or regulatory body, agency,
association, organization or authority applicable to the Buyer or by which any of their respective properties or assets may be bound, except
for such violations or conflicts which would not have a Buyer Material Adverse Effect; or (iv) require, on the part of the Buyer, any filing
or registration with, or permit, license, exemption, consent, authorization or approval of, or the giving of any notice to, any governmental or
regulatory body, agency or authority other than any filing, registration, permit, license, exemption, consent, authorization, approval or
notice which if not obtained or made would not have a Buyer Material Adverse Effect.

3.4 Brokers; Payments. No broker, investment banker, financial advisor or other person is entitled to any broker’s, finder’s,
financial advisor’s or other similar fee or commission in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement based upon
arrangements made by or on behalf of the Buyer.

3.5 Disclosure. The Buyer has not failed to disclose to the Company any fact that is reasonably more likely than not to have a
Buyer Material Adverse Effect or impede or impair the ability of the Buyer to perform its obligations under this Agreement in any material
respect. No representation or warranty by the Buyer contained in this Agreement and no statement contained, when considered together as a
whole, in any of the Buyer Disclosure Schedules, and the certificates and other documents or instruments delivered or to be delivered
pursuant to this Agreement by or on behalf of the Buyer contains or will contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omits or will
omit to state any material fact necessary to make the statements contained therein, in light of the circumstances under which they are made,
not misleading.
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ARTICLE IV

CONDUCT OF BUSINESS PRIOR
TO THE CLOSING DATE

4.1 Conduct of Business of the Company . During the period commencing on the date hereof and continuing until the Closing
Date, the Company and the Sellers agree that the Company, and the Sellers shall cause the Company, except as otherwise expressly
contemplated by this Agreement or agreed to in writing by the Buyer:

(a) will carry on its business only in the ordinary course and consistent with past practice;

(b) will keep all Intellectual Property in full force and effect and will not sell, license or otherwise transfer such Intellectual
Property to a third party, and will not agree with any third party to do so;

(c) will not form any subsidiaries;

(d) will use its best efforts to preserve intact its present business organization, keep available the services of its officers and
employees and preserve its relationships with customers, suppliers, partners, Affiliates and others having business dealings with it to the
end that the Company’s business and its goodwill shall not be materially impaired at the Closing Date;

(e) will not (i) make any capital expenditures individually or in the aggregate in excess of $10,000, (ii) enter into any
license, distribution, OEM, reseller, joint venture or other similar agreement, (iii) enter into or terminate any lease of, or purchase or sell,
any real property, (iv) enter into any leases of personal property involving individually or in the aggregate in excess of $10,000 annually,
(v) incur or guarantee any additional Indebtedness for borrowed money, (vi) create or permit to become effective any security interest,
mortgage, Lien, charge or other encumbrance on any of its properties or assets, or (vii) enter into any agreement to do any of the foregoing;

(f) will not adopt or amend any Company Employee Plan for the benefit of Employees, or increase the salary or other
compensation (including, without limitation, bonuses or severance compensation) payable or to become payable to its Employees,
beneficiaries or any other person or accelerate, amend or change the period of exercisability or the vesting schedule of options or restricted
stock granted under any stock option plan or agreements or enter into any agreement to do any of the foregoing, except as specifically
required by the terms of such plans or agreements;

(g) will promptly advise the Buyer of the commencement of, or threat of (to the extent that such threat comes to the
Knowledge of the Company) any claim, action, suit, proceeding or investigation (collectively, a “Claim”) against, relating to or involving
the Company, or any of its officers, employees, agents or consultants in connection with their businesses or the transactions contemplated
hereby and will not settle any Claim;

(h) will use its commercially reasonable efforts to maintain in full force and effect all insurance policies maintained by
the Company on the date hereof;
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(i) will not enter into any agreement to dissolve, merge, consolidate or, sell any material assets of the Company or
acquire or agree to acquire by merging or consolidating with, or by purchasing a substantial equity interest in or substantial portion of the
assets of, or by any other manner, any business or any corporation, partnership or other business organization or division, or otherwise
acquire or agree to acquire any assets in excess of $10,000 in the aggregate;

(j) will not (i) change the method of accounting of the Company, (ii) make, revoke or change any Tax elections, (iii)
enter any settlement or compromise of any Tax claim or Liability with any Taxing Authority, (iv) consent to any extension or waiver of the
limitation period applicable to any Tax claim or Liability or (v) amend any Tax Return;

(k) will not (i) make any payments to officers, directors, partners or managers, or (ii) make or pay any dividend, bonus,
redemption or other distribution to Sellers, other than Tax distributions with respect to the period up to and including the Closing Date;

(l) will not enter into any agreements with contractors or consultants (or amend or authorize additional work orders with
respect to any such existing agreements), except as contemplated by this Agreement;

(m) will not change, accelerate, extend or alter, in each case, the payment terms of any existing contract or agreement nor
enter into any contract or agreement with payment terms (including timing) not materially consistent with past practice;

(n) incur any reversals or reserves;

(o) accelerate the collection of any accounts receivable, or write-off any accounts receivable or notes receivable;

(p) delay or postpone the payment of accounts payable and other Liabilities;

(q) commence or settle any material litigation or arbitration or other Legal Proceeding;

(r) discourage customers, Employees, affiliates, suppliers, lessors, and other associates of the Company from maintaining
the materially same business relationships with the Company after the date of this Agreement as were maintained prior to the date of this
Agreement;

(s) will not change or alter the systems, plans or policies regarding management of tangible personal property;

(t) use any special promotional or rebate activity; or

(u) agree or commit to do any of the foregoing.

4.2 Other Negotiations. The Company and the Sellers will not, nor will the Company or the Sellers permit any of the
Company’s officers, directors, managers, consultants, employees, agents, partners and Affiliates on its behalf to, take any action to solicit,
initiate, seek, encourage or support any inquiry, proposal or offer from, furnish any information to, or participate in any discussions or
negotiations with, any corporation, partnership, person or other entity or group (other than the Buyer) regarding any acquisition of the
Company, any merger or consolidation with or involving the Company or any acquisition of any material portion of the stock or assets of
the Company or any equity or debt
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financing of the Company or any sale or license of Intellectual Property rights or any business combination, recapitalization, joint venture
or other major transaction involving the Company (any of the foregoing being referred to in this Agreement as an “Acquisition
Transaction”) or enter into an agreement concerning any Acquisition Transaction with any party other than the Buyer. If between the date
of this Agreement and the termination of this Agreement pursuant to Article IX, the Company receives from a third party any offer to
negotiate or consummate an Acquisition Transaction, the Company shall (i) notify the Buyer immediately (orally and in writing) of such
offer, including the identity of such party and the terms of any proposal therein, and (ii) notify such third party of the obligations of the
Company under this Agreement.

ARTICLE V

ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS

5.1 Access to Properties and Records. The Company and the Sellers will provide (or will cause to be provided) to the Buyer and
the Buyer’s accountants, counsel and other authorized advisors, with reasonable access, during business hours, to its premises and
properties and its books and records (including, without limitation, contracts, leases, financial information, insurance policies, litigation
files, minute books, accounts, working papers and Tax Returns filed and in preparation) and will cause the Company’s officers to furnish to
the Buyer and the Buyer’s authorized advisors such additional financial, Tax and operating data and other information as the Buyer shall
from time to time reasonably request. All of such data and information shall be kept confidential by the Buyer and the Company unless and
until the transactions contemplated herein are consummated.

5.2 Reasonable Efforts; etc. Subject to the terms and conditions herein provided, each of the parties hereto agrees to use his or
its commercially reasonable best efforts to take, or cause to be taken, all actions, and to do, or cause to be done, all things necessary, proper
or advisable under applicable Laws and regulations to consummate and make effective the transactions contemplated by this Agreement,
including obtaining any consents, authorizations, exemptions and approvals from, and making all filings with, any governmental or
regulatory authority, agency or body which are necessary in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

5.3 Material Events. At all times prior to the Closing Date, each party shall promptly notify the others in writing of the
occurrence of any event which will or may reasonably be expected to result in the failure to satisfy any of the conditions specified in
Article VII or Article VIII hereof.

5.4 Fees and Expenses. Except as otherwise agreed to by the parties, the Buyer, the Company and the Sellers shall bear and pay
all of their own fees, costs and expenses relating to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including, without limitation, the fees
and expenses of their respective counsel, accountants, brokers and financial advisors however the Company shall pay the Sellers fees, costs
and expenses up to and including the Closing. At the Closing, Buyer agrees to reimburse the Sellers for the fees incurred in connection with
the Financial Statements and Supplementary Information issued by Kahn, Litwin, Renza & Co., Ltd.

5.5 Supplements to Disclosure Schedules. From time to time prior to the Closing Date, each party hereto shall supplement or
amend its Disclosure Schedules with respect to any matter hereafter arising that, if existing or occurring at or prior to the date of this
Agreement, would have been required to be set forth or described in its Disclosure Schedules or that is necessary to correct any information
in its Disclosure Schedules or in its representations and warranties that have been rendered inaccurate thereby. The Disclosure Schedules
delivered by a party hereto shall be deemed to include only that information contained therein on the date of this Agreement and shall be
deemed to exclude any information contained in any subsequent supplement or amendment thereto.
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5.6 Tax Matters.

(a) All Taxes, whether levied on the Company, the Sellers, the Buyer or any of their respective Affiliates, successors or
assigns, resulting from the transactions contemplated herein or any other activities involving the Company prior to the Closing or otherwise
on account of this Agreement, shall be paid by the Sellers when due, and the Sellers shall, at their own expense, file, or cause to be filed, all
necessary Tax Returns with respect to all such Taxes in accordance with this Section 5.6. Any Transfer Taxes imposed upon the sale or
transfer of the Interests shall be paid by the Sellers when due.

(b) The Buyer shall be solely responsible for all Taxes arising from the ownership of the Interests and the operations of
the Company by the Buyer for periods (or portions thereof) beginning after the Closing Date (the “Post-Closing Period”), together with
the 338(h)(10) Gross Up.

(c) The Sellers shall be responsible for and shall promptly pay when due all Taxes attributable to periods (or portions
thereof) ending on or before the Closing Date (the “Pre-Closing Period”). The Buyer shall be responsible for and shall promptly pay when
due all Taxes attributable to the Post-Closing Period. All Taxes for the Straddle Period shall be apportioned between the Pre-Closing Period
and the Post-Closing Period, as follows: (i) in the case of Taxes imposed on a periodic basis (such as real property Taxes, personal property
Taxes and similar ad valorem Taxes), the portion allocable to the Pre-Closing Period shall be deemed to be the amount of such Tax for the
entire Straddle Period multiplied by a fraction the numerator of which is the number of days in the Tax period ending on and including the
Closing Date and the denominator of which is the number of days in the entire Straddle Period, and (ii) in the case of Taxes not described
in clause (i) above (such as franchise Taxes, Taxes based upon or related to income or receipts, and sales and use Taxes), the portion
allocable to the Pre-Closing Period shall be determined as if such Tax period ended as of the close of business on the Closing Date. Upon
receipt of any bill for such Taxes, Buyer, on one hand, and the Sellers, on the other hand, shall present a statement to the other setting forth
the amount of reimbursement to which each is entitled under this Section 5.6 together with such supporting evidence as is reasonably
necessary to calculate the pro-ration amount. The pro-ration amount shall be paid by the party owing it to the other within 10 days after
delivery of such statement. In the event that Buyer or the Sellers shall make any payment for which they are entitled to reimbursement
under this Section 5.6, the applicable party shall make such reimbursement promptly but in no event later than 10 days after the
presentation of a statement setting forth the amount of reimbursement to which the presenting party is entitled along with such supporting
evidence as is reasonably necessary to calculate the amount of reimbursement.

(d) The Sellers shall, at its cost and expense, prepare or cause to be prepared, and file or cause to be filed with the
appropriate Taxing Authorities all Tax Returns required to be filed by the Company for all periods ending on or before the Closing Date,
and shall pay or cause to be paid all Taxes due with respect to such Tax Returns; provided, however, that no such Tax Return shall be filed
without the prior written consent of Buyer (which shall not be unreasonably withheld). Such Tax Returns shall be prepared in a manner
consistent with past practices and in compliance with applicable Laws.

(e) Buyer shall prepare or cause to be prepared, and file or cause to be filed with the appropriate Taxing Authorities all
Tax Returns required to be filed by the Company for all Straddle Periods, and subject to the Buyer’s right to reimbursement from the
Sellers under Section 5.6(c), shall pay or cause to be paid all Taxes due with respect to such Tax Returns. Such Tax Returns shall be
prepared in a manner consistent with past practices and in compliance with applicable Laws.
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(f) Buyer and the Sellers agree to furnish or cause to be furnished to the other, upon request, as promptly as practicable,
such information and assistance relating to the Interests and the Company, including access to books and records, as is reasonably
necessary for the filing of all Tax Returns by Buyer or the Company, the making of any election relating to Taxes, the preparation for any
audit by any Taxing Authority, and the prosecution or defense of any claim, suit or proceeding relating to any Tax. Each of the Buyer and
the Company and the Sellers shall retain all books and records with respect to Taxes pertaining to the Interests and the Company for a
period of at least 6 years following the Closing Date. Buyer and the Sellers shall cooperate fully with each other in the conduct of any
audit, litigation or other proceeding relating to Taxes involving the Interests.

5.7 Section 280G Approval. If the Company is obligated to make any payments, or is a party to any agreement that under certain
circumstances could obligate it to make any payments, that will not be deductible under Section 280G of the Code if the approval
requirements of Section 280G(b)(5)(B) of the Code are not satisfied, then the Company shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to
obtain such approval as promptly as is practicable after the date hereof and in any event prior to the Closing.

5.8 Approvals; Filings with Governmental Entities.

(a) The Company and the Sellers shall use commercially reasonable efforts to obtain all third party approvals identified
in Schedule 2.3 and Buyer agrees to cooperate, at the Sellers’ expense, with the Company in order to obtain all such third party approvals.

(b) No party to this Agreement shall agree to participate in any meeting or conference with any Governmental Entity in
respect of any filings, investigation or other inquiry under any antitrust Law unless it consults with the other parties in advance and, to the
extent permitted by such Governmental Entity, gives the other parties the opportunity to attend and participate at such meeting or
conference. Buyer shall be entitled to direct any proceedings or negotiations with any Government Entity under any antitrust Law in
connection with the transactions contemplated herein.

5.9 Tax Elections. Subject to the payment of the 338(h)(10) Gross Up to the Sellers, each Seller will, at the request of Buyer,
join in elections (the “Elections”) under Section 338(h)(10) of the Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder in respect of the
purchase of the Interests pursuant to this Agreement and under any corresponding or similar provisions of state or local law in respect of
such purchase. In the event Buyer requests the Sellers to join in the Elections, the Sellers and Buyer will report the transfers under this
Agreement consistent with the Elections (including the Purchase Price Allocation) on all applicable Returns and neither the Sellers nor
Buyer will take a position contrary to the Elections unless required to do so by applicable Tax laws pursuant to a determination as defined
in Section 1313(a) of the Code. Buyer and the Sellers agree to cooperate, and to cause their respective affiliates to cooperate, with the
other(s) in preparing, executing and filing any Tax forms and other documents required under Section 338(h)(10) of the Code and other
applicable laws so that the Elections will be made in a proper and timely manner. In the event of any purchase price adjustment hereunder,
Buyer and the Members agree to adjust the Purchase Price Allocation to reflect such purchase price adjustment and to file consistently any
Returns required as a result of such purchase price adjustment.

5.10 Blanchard Guarantee. Subsequent to the Closing, the Company shall indemnify and hold harmless Blanchard with respect
any Losses incurred by Blanchard for claims arising after the Closing arising out of his guarantee of the lease for the property identified as
150H New Boston, Woburn MA (the “Woburn Lease”).
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ARTICLE VI

COVENANTS OF THE SELLERS

The Sellers each hereby agree that for a period of five (5) years following the Closing Date, he will not, directly or indirectly, alone
or as a partner, officer, director, employee, consultant, agent, independent contractor, member, manager or stockholder of any company or
business organization, engage in any business activity, or have a financial interest in any business activity (excepting only the ownership of
not more than one percent (1%) of the outstanding securities of any class of any entity listed on an exchange or regularly traded in the
over-the-counter market), including that of a lender or financing party, which is directly or indirectly in competition with the Buyer, its
Affiliates or the business of the Company. The Sellers each hereby agree that, for a period of five (5) years following the Closing Date
hereof, he will not in any capacity, either separately, jointly or in association with others, directly or indirectly, solicit or contact any of the
employees, consultants, agents, suppliers, customers or prospects of the Buyer, its Affiliates or the business of the Company that were such
with respect to the Buyer, its Affiliates or the business of the Company at any time during the one (1) year immediately preceding the date
hereof or that become such with respect to the Buyer, its Affiliates or the business of the Company at any time during such five (5) year
period.

ARTICLE VII

CONDITIONS TO THE OBLIGATIONS OF
THE BUYER

The obligation of the Buyer to consummate the transactions contemplated hereby shall be subject to the satisfaction, on or prior to the
Closing Date, of each of the following conditions (any of which may be waived in writing by the Buyer in its sole discretion):

7.1 Representations and Warranties True. The representations and warranties of the Company and the Sellers which are
contained in this Agreement, or contained in any Schedule, exhibit, certificate or other instrument or document delivered or to be delivered
pursuant to this Agreement, shall be true and correct in all material respects at and as of the Closing Date as though such representations
and warranties were made on and as of the Closing Date and at the Closing the Company shall have delivered to the Buyer a certificate
(signed by the Sellers and on behalf of the Company by its President or Chief Executive Officer) to that effect with respect to all such
representations and warranties made by the Company and the Sellers.

7.2 Performance. The Company and the Sellers shall have performed and complied in all material respects with all of the
obligations under this Agreement which are required to be performed or complied with by any of them on or prior to the Closing Date, and
at the Closing the Company shall have delivered to the Buyer a certificate (duly executed by the Sellers and on behalf of the Company by
its President or Chief Executive Officer) to that effect with respect to all such obligations required to have been performed or complied with
by the Company and the Sellers on or before the Closing Date.

7.3 Absence of Litigation. No statute, rule or regulation shall have been enacted or promulgated, and no order, decree, writ or
injunction shall have been issued and shall remain in effect, by any court or governmental or regulatory body, agency or authority which
restrains, enjoins or otherwise prohibits the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, and no action, suit or proceeding
before any court or governmental or regulatory body, agency or authority shall have been instituted by any person (or instituted or
threatened by any governmental or regulatory body, agency or authority), and no investigation by any governmental or regulatory body,
agency or authority shall have been
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commenced with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby or with respect to the Company which reasonably could have a material
adverse effect on the transactions contemplated hereby or is reasonably likely to result in a Company Material Adverse Effect.

7.4 Purchase Permitted by Applicable Laws; Legal Investment. The Buyer’s purchase of and payment for the Interests (i) shall
not be prohibited by any applicable Law or governmental order, rule, ruling, regulation, release or interpretation, (ii) shall not subject the
Buyer to any penalty, Tax, Liability or, in the reasonable judgment of the Buyer, any other onerous condition under or pursuant to any
applicable Law, statute, ordinance, regulation or rule, (iii) shall not constitute a fraudulent or voidable conveyance under any applicable
Law, and (iv) shall be permitted by all applicable Laws, statutes, ordinances, regulations and rules of the jurisdictions to which the Buyer is
subject.

7.5 Proceedings Satisfactory. All proceedings taken in connection with the purchase and sale of the Interests, the Agreement and
all documents and papers relating thereto, shall be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Buyer.

7.6 Consents. Except as set forth on Schedule 7.6 herein, all approvals, consents, licenses, permits, orders, waivers and
authorizations required to be obtained by the Company or the Sellers or the Buyer in connection with the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement and the sale of the Interests as set forth on Schedule 7.6 attached hereto shall have been obtained and shall be in full force and
effect.

7.7 Additional Agreements. The following agreements, forms or notices, as the case may be, shall have been executed and
delivered to the Buyer:

(a) one or more certificates representing, in the aggregate, all the outstanding Interest accompanied by a completed and
duly executed instrument of transfer with respect to each certificate and any other instrument(s) necessary to effect the transfer of such
Interest to Buyer in accordance with this Agreement;

(b) the Escrow Agreement executed by Buyer, the Sellers and the Escrow Agent (the “Escrow Agreement”);

(c) The Employment Agreements in the form attached hereto as Exhibits C-1 and C-2, executed by Buyer and each of the
Sellers (the “Employment Agreements”);

(d) The Sellers shall resign from their positions as directors, managers and officers of the Company; and

(e) one or more payoff letters, drafts of which shall have been delivered to the Buyer at least three (3) Business Days
prior to the Closing Date, executed by the lenders, capital lease lessors (but not operating lease lessors), or other financing sources of any
Indebtedness of the Company, including, but not limited to, those set forth on Schedule 7.7(h) (x) setting forth all amounts necessary to be
paid to repay in full any such Indebtedness through the Closing Date, and (y) providing that, upon payment in full of such amounts, all
obligations with respect to the Indebtedness owed to such lender, lessor, or other financing source will be satisfied and released, each in
form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Buyer; and

(f) A lease agreement for the property known and identified as 407 South Street East, Unit A2, Raynham, Massachusetts
with S-Works Realty, LLC in the form of Exhibit D (the “Lease Agreement”).
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7.8 Material Adverse Effect. There shall not have occurred any event which is or reasonably could result in a Company Material
Adverse Effect.

7.9 Supporting Documents. The Company shall have delivered to the Buyer a certificate (i) of the Secretary of Commonwealth
of Massachusetts dated as of the Closing Date, certifying as to the legal existence and good standing of the Company; and (ii) of the
Secretary of the Company dated the Closing Date, certifying on behalf of the Company (w) that attached thereto is a true and complete
copy of the certificate of organization of the Company, as in effect on the date of such certification; (x) that attached thereto is a true and
complete copy of the operating agreement of the Company, as in effect on the date of such certification; (y) that attached thereto is a true
and complete copy of all resolutions adopted by the managers of the Company and the Sellers, authorizing the execution, delivery and
performance of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby; and (z) to the incumbency and specimen
signature of each officer of the Company, executing on behalf of the company this Agreement and the other agreements related hereto; and
(iii) satisfactory evidence that tax good standings, waivers of state tax Liens and state clearance certificates from each such jurisdiction in
which the Company does business has been applied for, and in lieu of each such certificate, the Company will provide to the Buyer written
evidence as to the absence of any Liens of any kind on the assets of the Company for inspection taxes, which will be certified by the
Company’s Treasurer.

7.10 Release of Liens. The Company shall have obtained to the satisfaction of the Buyer, the releases from creditors needed to
terminate any security interests granted by the Company in respect of the assets of the Company, if any, including, without limitation,
Uniform Commercial Code termination statements (or other jurisdictional equivalents) and landlord estoppels and consents.

7.11 Customers and Suppliers. Buyer shall have held discussions with the customers and suppliers of the Company, which
discussions shall be satisfactory to the Buyer in its reasonable discretion.

ARTICLE VIII

CONDITIONS TO THE OBLIGATIONS OF THE
COMPANY AND THE SELLERS

The obligation of the Company and the Sellers to consummate the transactions contemplated by this Agreement shall be subject to
the satisfaction, on or prior to the Closing Date of each of the following conditions (any of which may be waived in writing by the
Company or the Sellers in their sole discretion):

8.1 Representations and Warranties True. The representations and warranties of the Buyer contained in this Agreement, or
contained in any Schedule, exhibit, certificate or other instrument or document delivered or to be delivered pursuant to this Agreement,
shall be true and correct in all material respects at and as of the Closing Date as though such representations and warranties were made on
and as of the Closing Date and at the Closing the Buyer shall have delivered to the Sellers a certificate (signed on its behalf by an officer of
the Buyer) to that effect with respect to all such representations and warranties made by such entity.

8.2 Performance. The Buyer shall have performed and complied in all material respects with all of the obligations under this
Agreement which are required to be performed or complied with by them on or prior to the Closing Date, and at the Closing the Buyer shall
have delivered to the Sellers a certificate (signed on its behalf by an officer of the Buyer) to that effect with respect to all such obligations
required to have been performed or complied with by such entity on or before the Closing Date.
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8.3 Absence of Litigation. No statute, rule or regulation shall have been enacted or promulgated, and no order, decree, writ or
injunction shall have been issued and shall remain in effect, by any court or governmental or regulatory body, agency or authority which
restrains, enjoins or otherwise prohibits the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, and no action, suit or proceeding
before any court or governmental or regulatory body, agency or authority shall have been instituted by any person (or instituted or
threatened by any governmental or regulatory body, agency or authority) and no investigation by any governmental or regulatory body,
agency or authority shall have been commenced with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby or with respect to the Buyer which
would have a material adverse effect on the transactions contemplated hereby or is reasonably likely to result in a Buyer Material Adverse
Effect.

8.4 Proceedings Satisfactory. All proceedings taken in connection with the purchase and sale of the Interests, the Agreement and
all documents and papers relating thereto, shall be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Sellers.

8.5 Termination of Lease. Company has fully effectuated written notice to the lessor of the Woburn Lease (as described on
Schedule 2.12 (c) attached hereto) terminating said Lease, effective as of the end of the Woburn Lease’s current term.

8.6 Supporting Documents. The Buyer shall have delivered to the Sellers (i) a certificate of the Secretary of State of the State of
Delaware dated as of the Closing Date, certifying as to the corporate legal existence and good standing of the Buyer, and (ii) a certificate of
the Manager of the Buyer, dated the Closing Date, certifying on behalf of the Buyer (a) that attached thereto is a true and complete copy of
all resolutions adopted by the Managers of the Buyer authorizing the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and the
consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby; and (b) to the incumbency and specimen signature of each officer of the Buyer
executing this Agreement and the other agreements related hereto.

8.7 Additional Agreements. The following agreements, forms or notices, as the case may be, shall have been executed and
delivered to the Sellers:

(a) The Cash Consideration and the Promissory Notes.

(b) The Escrow Agreement;

(c) The Employment Agreements; and

(d) The Lease Agreement.

ARTICLE IX

TERMINATION

9.1 Termination. This Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the Closing Date:

(a) by the written consent of the Company, the Sellers and the Buyer;
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(b) by either the Company and the Sellers, on the one hand or the Buyer, on the other hand:

(i) if any court or governmental or regulatory agency, authority or body shall have enacted, promulgated or issued
any statute, rule, regulation, ruling, writ or injunction, or taken any other action, restraining, enjoining or otherwise prohibiting the
transactions contemplated hereby and all appeals and means of appeal therefrom have been exhausted; or

(ii) if the Closing Date shall not have occurred on or before      2016, provided, however, that the right to terminate
this Agreement pursuant to this Section 9.1(b)(ii) shall not be available to any party whose (or whose Affiliate(s)’) breach of any
representation or warranty or failure to perform or comply with any obligation under this Agreement has been the cause of, or resulted in,
the failure of the Closing Date to occur on or before such date; or

(iii) if there shall have been a material breach of any representation, warranty, covenant, condition or agreement on
the part of the other party set forth in this Agreement which breach is incapable of cure, or if capable of cure, shall not have been cured
within twenty (20) Business Days following receipt by the breaching party of notice of such breach.

9.2 Effect of Termination. In the event of termination of this Agreement, this Agreement shall forthwith become void and there
shall be no Liability on the part of any of the parties hereto or (in the case of the Company and the Buyer) their respective officers or
directors, except for Sections 5.4 and 11.6, and the last sentence of Section 5.1, which shall remain in full force and effect, and except that
nothing herein shall relieve any party from Liability for a breach of this Agreement prior to the termination hereof.

ARTICLE X

INDEMNIFICATION; SURVIVAL OF
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES; ESCROW

10.1 Indemnity Obligations. Subject to Sections 10.3 and 10.4 hereof, each of the Sellers, by adoption of this Agreement and
approval of the transactions contemplated hereby, jointly and severally agree for a period of eighteen (18) months from the date of the
Closing, to indemnify and hold the Buyer (including its representatives and Affiliates (the “Indemnified Parties”) harmless from, and to
reimburse the Buyer for, any Losses directly or indirectly arising out of, based upon or resulting from (i) any inaccuracy in or breach of any
representation or warranty of the Company or the Sellers set forth in Article II of this Agreement or any Schedule or certificate delivered by
the Company or the Sellers pursuant hereto; (ii) any breach or nonfulfillment of, or any failure to perform, any of the covenants,
agreements or undertakings of the Company or the Sellers which are contained in this Agreement or any agreement entered into in
connection herewith including, without limitation, the covenants set forth in Article VI of this Agreement; (iii) any event, act or occurrence
arising out of the operations of the Company prior to the Closing; (iv) any claims by any current or former holder of any equity interest or
equity security of the Company (including any predecessors), including any Interests or other Company Equity Rights, relating to or arising
out of this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby (including any Third Party Claim to any portion of the Final Purchase
Price); (v) any Taxes payable by the Company relating to any Pre-Closing Period and any Taxes payable by the Sellers, excluding the
338(h)(10) Gross Up; or (vi) any suits, actions, claims, proceedings (including, without limitation, arbitral or administrative proceedings)
or investigations to which any of the Sellers, the Company or any of its members, managers, employees, consultants or agents are party
arising out of or relating to the operations of the Company prior to the Closing, including, without limitation, in connection with any claims
brought by former employees of the Company (all of the foregoing collectively, the “Indemnifiable Matters”).
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10.2 Notification of Claims.

(a) Subject to the provisions of Section 10.3 below, in the event of the occurrence of an event pursuant to which the
Buyer shall seek indemnity pursuant to Section 10.1, the Buyer shall provide the Sellers with prompt written notice (a “Claim Notice”) of
such event and shall otherwise promptly make available to the Sellers, all relevant information which is material to the claim and which is
in the possession of the Indemnified Party. The Buyer’s failure to give a timely Claim Notice or to promptly furnish the Sellers with any
relevant data and documents in connection with any Third-Party Claim shall not constitute a defense (in part or in whole) to any claim for
indemnification by such party, except and only to the extent that such failure shall result in any prejudice to the Indemnified Party.

(b) The Sellers shall have the right to elect to join in, through counsel of its choosing reasonably acceptable to the Buyer,
the defense, settlement, adjustment or compromise of any claim of any third party (a “Third Party Claim”) for which indemnification will
be sought by the Buyer; provided, however, that the Buyer shall control such defense, settlement, adjustment or compromise. The expense
of any such defense, settlement, adjustment or compromise, including the Buyer’s counsel and any counsel chosen by the Sellers shall be
borne by the Sellers. The Buyer shall have the right to settle any such Third Party Claim; provided, however, that the Buyer may not effect
the settlement, adjustment or compromise of any such Third Party Claim without the written consent of the Sellers, which consent shall not
be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned.

(c) Notwithstanding the other provisions of this Section 10.2, if a third party asserts (other than by means of a lawsuit)
that the Buyer is liable to such third party for a monetary or other obligation for which the Buyer expects to seek indemnification pursuant
to this Article X, and the Buyer reasonably determines that it has a valid business reason to fulfill such obligation, then (i) the Buyer shall
be entitled to satisfy such obligation, without prior notice to or consent from the Sellers, (ii) the Buyer may subsequently make a claim for
indemnification in accordance with the provisions of this Article X, and (iii) the Buyer shall be reimbursed, in accordance with the
provisions of this Article X, for any such Losses for which it is entitled to indemnification pursuant to this Article X (subject to the right of
the Company to dispute the Buyer’s entitlement to indemnification, or the amount for which it is entitled to indemnification, under the
terms of this Article X).

10.3 Duration. All representations and warranties set forth in this Agreement and any Schedules or certificates delivered
pursuant hereto or thereto, and all covenants, agreements and undertakings of the parties contained in or made pursuant to this Agreement
and any Schedules or certificates delivered pursuant hereto or thereto, and the rights of the parties to seek indemnification with respect
thereto and hereunder (all of the foregoing collectively, the “Surviving Obligations”), shall survive the Closing but, any indemnity claims
may only be asserted by Buyer for a period of eighteen (18) months from the date of Closing except for indemnity claims as to which a
Claim Notice shall have been duly given and also as provided in the immediately following sentence, and all other Surviving Obligations
shall expire thirty-six (36) months from the date of Closing. Notwithstanding the foregoing, (a) claims for (i) breaches of the
representations and warranties set forth in Sections 2.1, 2.2, 2.3(i), 2.4 , 2.5, 2.11, 2.12, 2.16, 2.19, 2.22, 2.24, and 2.30 (the “Fundamental
Representations”) and (ii) Indemnifiable Matters brought in connection with Sections 10.1(ii) through (vi) shall survive the Closing Date
until three (3) years (provided that if a federal statute of limitations is applicable to such claim and such federal statute of limitations runs
for longer than three (3) years, then such claim shall survive the Closing Date until the expiration of such applicable federal statute of
limitations plus sixty (60) days) and (b) claims relating to or arising from intentional misrepresentation, willful misconduct or fraud shall be
independent of, and shall not be limited by, the Agreement and shall survive the Closing Date indefinitely.
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10.4 Liability.

(a) The maximum collective liability of the Sellers for any Indemnifiable Matter brought in connection with Section 10.1(i) shall be
limited to Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000) (the “Indemnity Cap”). Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Indemnity Cap shall not apply
with respect to Indemnifiable Matters brought in connection with (i) breaches of the Fundamental Representations, (ii) Sections 10.1(ii)
through (vi) or (iii)any fraud by the Company (pre-Close) and/or Sellers related to the transactions contemplated hereby.

(b) Except with respect to the claims arising out of a breach of the Fundamental Representations, breaches of Sections 10.1(ii)
through (vi), or any fraud by the Company and/or Sellers related to the transactions contemplated hereby, Buyer shall only seek to recover
against any claims from the Escrow Amount until such time as there are no funds remaining in the Escrow Amount and no other assets of
the Sellers. To the extent that the outstanding amounts due the Sellers pursuant to the Promissory Notes is identical, in the event that Buyer
incurs Losses pursuant to Article X, Buyer will direct the Escrow Agent to offset the fifty (50%) percent of the Losses from each Seller.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Sellers shall not be obligated to indemnify the Indemnified Parties until the
aggregate of all Losses related to claims to which the Indemnified Parties would otherwise be entitled exceeds Fifty Thousand Dollars
($50,000) (the “Basket”), after which such applicable indemnifying party shall be liable for all such Losses from the first dollar.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Basket shall not apply with respect to Indemnifiable Matters brought in connection with (i) breaches of
the Fundamental Representations or (ii) Sections 10.1(ii) through (vi) or (iii) any fraud by the Company and/or Sellers related to the
transactions contemplated hereby. Notwithstanding any of the foregoing, claims for breaches of the representations, warranties and
covenants relating to or arising from intentional misrepresentation, willful misconduct or fraud shall be independent of, and shall not be
limited by, the Agreement.

10.5 No Contribution. The Company and the Sellers hereby waive, acknowledge and agree that the Company and the Sellers
shall not have and shall not exercise or assert (or attempt to exercise or assert), any right of contribution or right of indemnity against the
Buyer in connection with any indemnification payments which the Company or the Sellers are required to make under this
Article X. Nothing contained in this Article X shall limit a Seller’s right of contribution or right of indemnity from another Seller.

10.6 Treatment of Indemnity Payments. All payments made pursuant to this Article X pertaining to any indemnification
obligations shall be treated as adjustments to the Final Purchase Price for Tax purposes and such agreed treatment shall govern for purposes
of this Agreement, unless otherwise required by Law.

10.7 Escrow. The Escrow Amount shall be held by the Escrow Agent for a period ending on the twenty-four (24) months
anniversary of the Closing, (the “Escrow Release Date”), except the Escrow Amount may be withheld after the Escrow Release Date for
so long as is reasonably necessary to satisfy claims for indemnification which are subject to a Claim Notice delivered prior to the Escrow
Release Date. The Escrow Amount shall be held and disbursed by the Escrow Agent in accordance with the Escrow Agreement.

10.8 General Release.
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(a) The Company and each of the Sellers does from and after the Closing hereby release forever and discharge the Buyer
and its Affiliates, and each of their respective officers, managers, directors, members and employees (collectively, the “Releasees”), of and
from any and all actions, claims, damages and Liabilities of any kind or nature whatsoever that relate to or arise out of any dealings,
relationships or transactions by and between the Company and such Seller, on the one hand, and any Releasee, on the other hand, in law or
equity, which against any Releasee the Company or such Seller has ever had, now has or which he, she or it hereafter can, shall or may
have, whether or not now Known, from the beginning of the world to the Closing Date (the “Causes of Action”). The Company and each
of the Sellers understands and agrees that it is expressly waiving all claims, even those it may not know or suspect to exist, which if Known
may have materially affected the decision to provide this release, and the Company and such Seller expressly waives any rights under
applicable Law that provide to the contrary. Furthermore, each Seller further agrees not to institute any litigation, lawsuit, claim or action
against any Releasee with respect to the released Causes of Action.

(b) The release set forth in Section 10.8(a) shall not apply to any rights the Company or any Seller has pursuant to (i) this
Agreement, the transactions or any other documents contemplated hereby or thereby and (ii) any claim of fraud.

ARTICLE XI

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

11.1 Amendment. This Agreement may be amended by the parties hereto at any time by execution of an instrument signed on
behalf of the party against whom enforcement is sought.

11.2 Waiver of Compliance. Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, any failure of any of the parties to comply with
any obligation, covenant or agreement contained herein may be waived only by a written notice from the party or parties entitled to the
benefits thereof. No failure by any party hereto to exercise, and no delay in exercising, any right hereunder, shall operate as a waiver
thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any right hereunder preclude any other or future exercise of that right by that party.

11.3 Notices. All notices and other communications hereunder shall be deemed given if given in writing and delivered
personally, by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, or by overnight courier to the party to receive the same
at its respective address set forth below (or at such other address as may from time to time be designated by such party to the others in
accordance with this Section 11.3):
 

 (a) if to Buyer, to:

Revolution Lighting Technologies, Inc.
177 Broad Street, 12th Floor
Stamford, CT 06901
Attention: James DePalma
Telephone No.:203-504-1100
Facsimile No.:
E-mail:

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:
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Hinckley, Allen & Snyder, LLP
28 State Street
Boston, MA 02109
Attn: Michael E. Kushnir, Esq.
Telephone No.: 617-378-4316
Facsimile No.: 617-345-9020
E-mail: mkushnir@hinckleyallen.com

 

 (b) if to the Company, to:

TNT Energy LLC

Attention: Timothy M. Blanchard and Theodore A. Carmone, Jr.
Facsimile No.: 508-802-4883
E-mail: blanchardtim@comcast.net
E-mail: tedcarmone@gmail.com

 

 (c) if to the Sellers:

Timothy M. Blanchard
[•]
[•]
[•]

Theodore A. Carmone, Jr
[•]
[•]

with a copy to (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Tamkin & Hochberg, LLP
313 Washington Street, Suite 202
Newton, MA 02458
Attention: Jonathan D. Tamkin, Esq.
Telephone 617- 964- 2501
Facsimile No.617-964-7755
E-mail: jtamkin@tamkinhochberg.com

All such notices and communications hereunder shall be deemed given when received, as evidenced by the signed acknowledgment
of receipt of the person to whom such notice or communication shall have been personally delivered, the acknowledgment of receipt
returned to the sender by the applicable postal authorities or the confirmation of delivery rendered by the applicable overnight courier
service.

11.4 Binding Effect; Assignment. Subject to the provisions of this Section 11.4, this Agreement, and all of the provisions hereof
shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns. Neither this
Agreement nor any rights, duties or obligations hereunder shall be assigned by any party hereto without the prior written consent of
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the other parties hereto, except by the Buyer (i) to any successor to its business or to any Affiliate as long as such successor agrees to be
liable for all of the Buyer’s obligations hereunder or (ii) to any financial institution providing purchase money or other financing to the
Buyer from time to time as collateral security for such financing.

11.5 No Third Party Beneficiaries. Neither this Agreement or any provision hereof nor any Schedule, exhibit, certificate or other
instrument delivered pursuant hereto, nor any agreement to be entered into pursuant hereto or any provision hereof, is intended to create any
right, claim or remedy in favor of any person or entity, other than the parties hereto and their respective successors and permitted assigns
and any other parties indemnified under Article X.

11.6 Public Announcements; Non-Disparagement. Following the Closing, the Buyer may, with the consent of the Sellers, issue
a press release in such form as is reasonably acceptable to the Company and none of the parties hereto shall, except as agreed by the Buyer
and the Sellers, or except as may be required by Law or applicable regulatory authority, issue any other reports, releases, announcements or
other statements to the public relating to the transactions contemplated hereby. Each party hereto hereby agrees that such party and any
affiliate of such party will not make any statements, whether written, oral or otherwise, or cause or encourage others to make any such
statements that defame, disparage or in any way criticize the personal and/or business reputations, practices or conduct of the other party.

11.7 Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original,
but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.

11.8 Headings. The article and section headings contained in this Agreement are solely for convenience of reference, are not
part of the agreement of the parties and shall not be used in construing this Agreement or in any way affect the meaning or interpretation of
this Agreement.

11.9 Entire Agreement. This Agreement, and the Schedules, certificates and other instruments and documents delivered pursuant
hereto, together with the other agreements referred to herein and to be entered into pursuant hereto, embody the entire agreement of the
parties hereto in respect of, and there are no other agreements or understandings, written or oral, among the parties relating to the subject
matter hereof, other than the Confidentiality Agreement. This Agreement supersedes all other prior agreements and understandings, written
or oral, between the parties and their agents with respect to such subject matter, other than the Confidentiality Agreement (subject to the
disclosure requirements of any applicable Laws and/or governmental regulations).

11.10 Governing Law. The parties hereby agree that this Agreement, and the respective rights, duties and obligations of the
parties hereunder, shall be governed by and construed with the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, without giving effect to
principles of conflicts of law thereunder. Each of the parties hereby (i) irrevocably consents and agrees that any legal or equitable action or
proceeding arising under or in connection with this Agreement shall be brought exclusively in the federal or state courts sitting in Boston,
Massachusetts and any court to which an appeal may be taken in any such litigation, and (ii) by execution and delivery of this Agreement,
irrevocably submits to and accepts, with respect to any such action or proceeding, for itself and in respect of its properties and assets,
generally and unconditionally, the jurisdiction of the aforesaid courts, and irrevocably waives any and all rights such party may now or
hereafter have to object to such jurisdiction.

11.11 Severability. In the event that any clause or portion of this Agreement shall be held to be invalid, illegal, unenforceable, or
in violation of any Law or public policy, such a finding shall not
 

39



affect the balance of the terms contained herein, and the parties shall be charged with the responsibility of continuing to carry out the terms
and conditions of this Agreement in a manner consistent therewith. Moreover, if one or more of the provisions contained in this Agreement
shall for any reason be held to be excessively broad as to scope, activity or subject or otherwise unreasonable so as to be unenforceable at
Law, such provision or provisions shall be construed by the appropriate judicial body by limiting and reducing it or them, so as to be
enforceable to the maximum extent compatible with the applicable Law as it shall then appear.

11.12 Specific Performance. In addition to any and all other remedies that may be available at Law in the event of any breach of
this Agreement, the parties hereto shall be entitled to specific performance of the agreements and obligations hereunder and to such other
injunctive or other equitable relief as may be granted by a court of competent jurisdiction, without the necessity of posting a bond or
proving actual damages.

11.13 Disclosure Schedules. Nothing in any Schedule or any supplement to or amendment of any such Schedule shall be deemed
adequate to disclose an exception to a representation or warranty made herein unless such Schedule identifies the exception with reasonable
particularity and describes the relevant facts in reasonable detail. The statements in any such Schedule or supplement or amendment relate
only to the provisions in the Section and/or subsections of this Agreement to which they expressly relate and not to any other provision of
this Agreement.

11.14 Construction. The parties hereto have participated jointly in the negotiation and drafting of this Agreement. In the event
an ambiguity or question of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement shall be construed as if drafted jointly by the parties hereto and
no presumption or burden of proof shall arise favoring or disfavoring any party by virtue of the authorship of any of the provisions of this
Agreement. Any reference to any federal, state or local statute or Law shall be deemed also to refer to all rules and regulations promulgated
thereunder, unless the context requires otherwise. The word “including” shall mean including without limitation. Wherever required by the
context, as used in this Agreement, the singular number shall include the plural, the plural shall include the singular and all words herein in
any gender shall be deemed to include the masculine, feminine and neutral genders. The parties hereto intend that each representation,
warranty, and covenant contained herein shall have independent significance. If any party has breached any representation, warranty, or
covenant contained herein in any respect, the fact that there exists another representation, warranty, or covenant relating to the same subject
matter (regardless of the relative levels of specificity) which such party has not breached shall not detract from or mitigate the fact that such
party is in breach of the first representation, warranty, or covenant. All references to ‘days’ herein shall be interpreted to mean any day
other than a Saturday, Sunday or a Federal legal holiday.

11.15 Waiver of Jury Trial. EACH OF THE PARTIES HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES ALL RIGHT TO
TRIAL BY JURY AND ANY ACTION, PROCEEDING OR COUNTERCLAIM (WHETHER BASED ON CONTRACT, TORT, OR
OTHERWISE) ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE ACTIONS OF ANY PARTY HERETO IN
NEGOTIATION, ADMINISTRATION, PERFORMANCE OR ENFORCEMENT HEREOF.
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ARTICLE XII

DEFINITIONS

12.1 Certain Definitions. As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the meanings indicated below:

“Acquisition Transaction” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.2 of the Agreement.

“Affiliate” means, with respect to the Person to which it refers, a Person that directly or indirectly, through one or more
intermediaries, controls, is controlled by or is under common control with, such Person, and the term “control” (including the terms
“controlled by” and “under common control with”) means with respect to a Person other than an individual (i) the right to exercise, directly
or indirectly, more than 50% of the voting rights attributable to the capital stock of the controlled Person; members of the board of
directors of such Person; or (iii) with respect to a Person other than a corporation, the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to
direct or cause the direction of the management or policies of such Person, whether through ownership of voting securities, by contract or
otherwise. For avoidance of doubt, with respect to the Buyer, the term “Affiliate” shall include the Parent.

“Agreement” has the meaning set forth in the preamble to the Agreement.

“Allocation Schedule” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.8 of the Agreement.

“Average Closing Price” means an amount equal to the volume-weighted average (rounded to the nearest 1/10,000 or if there shall
not be a nearest 1/10,000, to the next highest 1/10,000) of the daily volume-weighted average price of a share of Parent Equity on any
national securities exchange on which Parent Equity is listed (as reported by Bloomberg Financial Markets) for the twenty (20) trading
days ending with the second trading day preceding the Closing Date.

“Balance Sheet” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.7(a) of the Agreement.

“Business Day” means any day on which banks are not required to close in the city of New York, New York.

“Buyer” has the meaning set forth in the preamble to the Agreement.

“Buyer Disclosure Schedules” has the meaning set forth in the preamble of Article III of the Agreement.

“Buyer Material Adverse Effect” means any event, fact, circumstance or condition that, individually or in the aggregate with any
other events, facts, circumstances or conditions, has had or would reasonably be expected to have a material and adverse effect on the
business, assets, Liabilities, prospects, results of operations, revenues, operating income or financial condition of the Buyer, or on the
ability of the Buyer to consummate the transactions contemplated herein.

“Causes of Action” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.8 of the Agreement.

“Claim” has the meaning set forth in Section 4.1 of the Agreement.

“Claim Notice” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.2 of the Agreement.
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“Closing” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.6 of the Agreement.

“Closing Amount” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.3(b) of the Agreement.

“Closing Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.6 of the Agreement.

“Closing Indebtedness” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.4(a) of the Agreement.

“Closing Net Working Capital” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.4(a) of the Agreement.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

“Company” has the meaning set forth in the preamble to the Agreement.

“Company Disclosure Schedules” has the meaning set forth in the preamble to Article II of the Agreement.

“Company Employee Plan” means any plan, program, policy, practice, contract, agreement or other arrangement (written or oral)
providing for deferred compensation, profit sharing, bonus, severance, termination pay, performance awards, stock or stock-related awards,
fringe benefits, welfare, pension or other employee benefits or remuneration of any kind, whether formal or informal, funded or unfunded,
including each “employee benefit plan” within the meaning of Section 3(3) of ERISA, which is or has been maintained, contributed to, or
required to be contributed to, by the Company or ERISA Affiliates for the benefit of any Employee, or pursuant to which the Company has
or may have any material Liability, contingent or otherwise.

“Company Equity Rights” means all subscriptions, options, calls, warrants or any other rights to acquire any Interests or other equity
interests of the Company or that may become convertible into or exchangeable for any Interests or other equity interests of the Company.

“Company Intellectual Property” means any Intellectual Property that is owned by, or exclusively licensed to, the Company.

“Company Material Adverse Effect” means any event, fact, circumstance or condition that, individually or in the aggregate with
any other events, facts, circumstances or conditions, has had or would reasonably be expected to have a material and adverse effect on the
business, assets, Liabilities, prospects, results of operations, revenues, operating income or financial condition of the Company taken as a
whole, or on the ability of the Company or the Sellers to consummate the transactions contemplated herein.

“Confidentiality Agreement” means the confidentiality agreement entered into by the Buyer and the Company, dated as of
[                    ].

“EBITDA”, for purposes of Sections 1.9 and 1.10, means, for any period, earnings before interest expense (net of interest income),
income Taxes, depreciation and amortization earned by the Company for such period, as determined in accordance with GAAP.

“Employee” or “Employees” means any current or former employee, independent contractor, officer, director, manager or member of
the Company.
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“Environment” means soil, land surface or subsurface strata, surface waters (including navigable waters and ocean waters),
groundwaters, drinking water supply, stream sediments, ambient air (including indoor air), plant and animal life and any other
environmental medium or natural resource.

“Environmental Condition” means any contamination by a Hazardous Substance of surface soils, subsurface soils, surface waters,
and ground waters present on, in, under, above, or migrating from any Company facility.

“Environmental Law” means any international, Federal, state, or local law, regulation, ordinance or order in effect and required to be
met as of the Closing Date pertaining to the protection of the outdoor environment, or which governs (i) the existence, removal or
Remedial Action with respect to Hazardous Substances on real property; (ii) the emission, discharge, Release, or control of Hazardous
Substances into or in the environment; or (iii) the use, generation, handling, transport, treatment, storage, disposal, or recovery of
Hazardous Substances; including, but not limited to, the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, as
amended by the Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization Act of 1986, 42 U.S.C. 9601 et seq., Solid Waste Disposal Act, as amended
by the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976 and Solid and Hazardous Waste Amendments of 1984, 42 U.S.C. 6901 et seq.,
Federal Water Pollution Control Act, as amended by the Clean Water Act of 1977, 33 U.S.C. 1251 et seq., Clean Air Act, as amended, 42
U.S.C. 7401 et seq., Toxic Substances Control Act, 15 U.S.C. 2601 et seq., Hazardous Materials Transportation Act, 49 U.S.C. § 5101, et
seq., Emergency Planning and Community Right-to-Know Act, 42 U.S.C. 11001 et seq., and the Safe Drinking Water Act, as amended, 42
U.S.C. 300(f) et seq..

“ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.

“ERISA Affiliate” means any Person that, together with the Company, would be treated as a single employer under Section 414 of
the Code or Section 4001 of ERISA and the regulations thereunder.

“Escrow Agent” means BNY Mellon, N.A.

“Escrow Agreement” means the Escrow Agreement to be executed by the Buyer, the Sellers and the Escrow Agent at the Closing.

“Escrow Amount” means Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000) (originally in the form of the Promissory Notes), subject to the terms
and conditions of the Promissory Notes and the Escrow Agreement.

“Escrow Release Date” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.7 of the Agreement.

“Estimated Closing Statement” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.3(a) of the Agreement.

“Estimated Indebtedness” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.3(a) of the Agreement.

“Estimated Net Working Capital” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.3(a) of the Agreement.

“Final Accounting Firm” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.4(b) of the Agreement.

“Final Closing Statement” has the meaning set forth Section 1.4(a) of the Agreement.

“Final Purchase Price” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.2 of the Agreement.
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“Financial Statements” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.7(a) of the Agreement.

“Fundamental Representations” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.3 of the Agreement.

“GAAP” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.7(a) of the Agreement.

“Governmental Entity” or “Governmental Entities” means any federal, state, local or foreign, governmental or quasi-governmental
entity or municipality or subdivision thereof, or any agency, authority, department, commission, board, bureau, agency, court, tribunal or
instrumentality, or any applicable self-regulatory organization.

“Hazardous Activity” means the distribution, generation, handling, importing, management, manufacturing, processing, production,
refinement, Release, storage, transfer, transportation, treatment or use (including any withdrawal or other use of groundwater) of Hazardous
Substances in, on, under, about or from any of the Company’s facilities or any part thereof into the Environment and any other act,
business, operation or thing that increases the danger, or risk of danger, or poses an unreasonable risk of harm, to persons or property on or
off the Company’s facilities.

“Hazardous Substance” means any hazardous, toxic or polluting materials, substances, wastes, pollutants or contaminants, including
flammable substances, explosives, radioactive materials, hazardous wastes or substances, toxic wastes or substances, or any other wastes,
materials or pollutants included in the definition of “hazardous substance,” “toxic substance,” “hazardous material,” “hazardous waste,”
“extremely hazardous waste,” “restricted hazardous waste,” “petroleum substances” or words of similar import under any Environmental
Law.

“Indebtedness” means, when used with reference to any Person, without duplication, (i) any Liability of such Person created or
assumed by such Person, or any subsidiary thereof, (A) for borrowed money or issued in substitution for or exchange of indebtedness for
borrowed money, (B) evidenced by a bond, note, debenture or similar instrument (including a purchase money obligation, deed of trust or
mortgage) given in connection with the acquisition of, or exchange for, any property or assets (other than inventory or similar property
acquired and consumed in the ordinary course of business of such Person, including securities and other indebtedness), or (C) for the
payment of money as lessee under leases that should be, in accordance with GAAP, recorded as capital leases for financial reporting
purposes; (ii) any Liability of others described in the preceding clause (i) guaranteed as to payment of principal or interest by such Person
or in effect guaranteed by such Person through an agreement, contingent or otherwise, to purchase, repurchase or pay the related
indebtedness or to acquire the security therefor; (iii) all Liabilities secured by a Lien upon property owned by such Person and upon which
Liabilities such Person customarily pays interest or principal, whether or not such Person has not assumed or become liable for the payment
of such Liabilities; (iv) any amendment, renewal, extension, revision or refunding of any such Liability; (v) any indebtedness for the
deferred purchase price of property or services with respect to which a Person is liable, contingently or otherwise, as obligor or otherwise;
(vi) any letter of credit arrangements; (vii) any intercompany Liabilities; (viii) any uncleared checks or drafts issued by such Person;
(ix) any accrued interest on any of the foregoing; and (x) any prepayment or other similar fees, expenses or penalties on or relating to the
repayment or assumption of any of the foregoing (including retention or stay bonuses and any prepayment premiums or similar breakage
costs payable as a result of the consummation of the transactions contemplated herein).

“Indemnifiable Matters” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.1 of the Agreement.

“Indemnified Parties” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.1 of the Agreement.
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“Initial Purchase Price” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.2 of the Agreement.

“Intellectual Property” means or all of the following and all rights in, arising out of, or associated therewith: (i) all United States,
international and foreign patents and applications therefor and all reissues, divisions, renewals, extensions, provisionals, continuations and
continuations-in-part thereof; (ii) all inventions (whether patentable or not), invention disclosures, improvements, trade secrets, proprietary
information, know how, technology, technical data and customer lists, computer programs and other computer software, user interfaces,
processes and formulae, source code, object code, algorithms, architecture, structure, display screens, layouts, development tools,
instructions, templates and marketing materials, designs and all documentation relating to any of the foregoing; (iii) all copyrights,
copyrights registrations and applications therefor, and all other rights corresponding thereto throughout the world; (iv) all industrial designs
and any registrations and applications therefor throughout the world; (v) all trade names, logos, common Law trademarks and service
marks, trademark and service mark registrations, intent-to-use applications and other registrations and applications therefor throughout the
world; (vi) all databases and data collections and all rights therein throughout the world; (vii) all domain names; (viii) all moral and
economic rights of authors and inventors, however denominated, throughout the world, and (ix) any similar or equivalent rights to any of
the foregoing anywhere in the world.

“Inventory” means all inventory that is held for sale or resale by the Company, including raw materials, work in process and finished
goods, together with their related service parts, packing materials and supplies included in the inventory.

“IRS” means the United States Internal Revenue Service.

“Knowledge” or “Known” shall mean, (i) with respect to the Company (A) the actual knowledge of each of the Sellers (B) such
knowledge that each of the Sellers could reasonably be expected to become aware of upon due and diligent performance of his or her duties
for the Company inquiry taking into account the subject matter so qualified with “knowledge” or “known”.

“Law” or “Laws” means any federal, state, foreign, or local law, statute, ordinance, rule, regulation, writ, injunction, directive, order,
judgment, administrative interpretation, treaty, decree, administrative or judicial decision and any other executive, legislative, regulatory or
administrative proclamation.

“Liability” or “Liabilities” means any direct or indirect liability, indebtedness, guaranty, endorsement, claim, loss, damage,
deficiency, cost, expense, obligation or responsibility, whether accrued, unaccrued, absolute, contingent, mature, unmature or otherwise and
whether known or unknown, fixed or unfixed, choate or inchoate, liquidated or unliquidated, secured or unsecured.

“Lien” means all mortgages, liens, pledges, security interests, charges, claims, restrictions and encumbrances of any nature
whatsoever.

“Losses” means any and all losses, damages, deficiencies, Liabilities, obligations, actions, claims, suits, proceedings, demands,
assessments, judgments, recoveries, fees, diminution in value, costs and expenses (including, without limitation, all out-of-pocket expenses,
reasonable investigation expenses and reasonable fees and disbursements of accountants and counsel) of any nature whatsoever and
whether or not arising from any Third Party Claim.

“NASDAQ” shall mean the NASDAQ Capital Market.“Near Relatives” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.12(b) in the
Agreement.
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“Net Adjustment Amount” has the meaning set forth in Section 1.4(d)(iii) of the Agreement.

“Parent” means Revolution Lighting Technologies, Inc., a Delaware corporation.

“Parent Equity” shall mean common stock, par value $0.001 per share, of Parent.

“Parent Shares” means unregistered shares of the Parent’s restricted stock.

“Permit” means any: (a) permit, license, certificate, franchise, concession, ratification, permission, clearance, confirmation,
endorsement, waiver, certification, designation, rating, registration, qualification or authorization issued, granted, given or otherwise made
available by or under the authority of any Governmental Entity or pursuant to any applicable Law, including any certificate of public
convenience and necessity; or (b) right under any contract with any Governmental Entity.

“Person” means any individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, firm, joint venture, association, joint-stock
company, trust, unincorporated organization, Governmental Entity or other entity.

“Post-Closing Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.6 of the Agreement.

“Pre-Closing Period” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.6 of the Agreement.

“Pro Rata Portion” of a Seller shall be equal to the percentage of the Interests owned by such Seller as of the Closing.

“Related Person” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.12(b) in the Agreement.

“Release” means any release, spill, leaking, emitting, emission, discharging, depositing, escaping, leaching, dumping, pumping,
injection, dispersing, pouring, disposing or migrating into, onto or through the environment (including ambient air, surface water, ground
water, land surface or subsurface strata) or within any building, structure, facility or fixture, whether intentional or unintentional.

“Releasees” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.8 of the Agreement.

“Remedial Action” means any action taken to investigate, clean up or otherwise respond to Releases of Hazardous Substances or to
Environmental Conditions, including institutional and engineering controls.

“Schedules” means any schedules attached to or provided for under this Agreement.

“SEC” means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.

“Straddle Period” means any Tax period beginning before and ending after the Closing Date.

“Subsidiary” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.5(a) of the Agreement.

“Subsidiary Securities” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.5(b) of the Agreement.

“Surviving Obligations” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.3 of the Agreement.

“Target Net Working Capital” means $2,000,000.
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“Taxing Authority” shall mean any Governmental Entity responsible for the administration or the imposition of any Tax.

“Tax” or “Taxes” means all federal, state and local, territorial and foreign taxes, levies, deficiencies or other assessments and other
charges of whatever nature (including income, gross receipts, license, payroll, employment, excise, severance, stamp, occupation, premium,
windfall profits, environmental, customs duties, capital stock, franchise, profits, withholding, backup withholding, social security,
unemployment, disability, real property, personal property, sales, use, transfer, real property gains, registration, value added, escheat or
unclaimed property, alternative or add-on minimum, and estimated taxes and workers’ compensation premiums and other governmental
charges, and other obligations of the same nature as or of a nature similar to any of the foregoing) imposed by any Governmental Entity or
Taxing Authority, including any interest, penalty (civil or criminal), or addition thereto, whether disputed or not, as well as any expenses
incurred in connection with the determination, settlement or litigation of any Liability.

“Tax Returns” means any federal, state, local and foreign return, declaration, report (including reports with respect to backup
withholding and reportable payments to third parties), claim for refund, amended return, declarations of estimated Tax or information
return, statement and similar document relating to Taxes, and any schedule or attachment thereto, filed or maintained, or required to be filed
or maintained in connection with the calculation, determination, assessment or collection of any Tax, and including any amendment thereof.

“Third Party Claim” has the meaning set forth in Section 10.2(b) of the Agreement.

“Top Customers” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.28 of the Agreement.

“Top Suppliers” has the meaning set forth in Section 2.28 of the Agreement.

“Transaction Expenses” means all fees and expenses of the Company (and all fees and expenses of the Sellers payable by the
Company) payable in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, including (a) all fees and expenses relating to the
process of selling the Company whether incurred in connection with this Agreement or other, including all legal fees and expenses,
accounting fees and expenses, Tax advisory fees and expenses, investment banking fees and expenses, and financial advisory fees and
expenses related to such transactions or process, and (b) any bonuses or severance obligations payable by the Company or any of its
Subsidiaries to Employees as a result of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. In no event will Transaction Expenses include
any amounts included in the calculation of Working Capital.

“Transfer Taxes” means all excise, sales, use, value added, registration, stamp, recording, documentary, conveyance, franchise,
property, transfer, gains and similar Taxes, levies, charges and fees.

“Working Capital” means, as of a particular date, the difference between (a) current assets of the Company, including, accounts
receivable, cash, inventory, prepaid expenses and prepaid leases less (b) current liabilities of the Company, including, but not limited to,
accounts payable, accrued liabilities, accrued expenses and accrued payroll, less any current portion of Indebtedness, in each case
determined in accordance with GAAP and the definitions of this Agreement, as applicable; provided that Working Capital shall not include
any Tax assets or Tax liabilities or any Transaction Expenses.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Buyer, the Company and the Sellers have caused this Agreement to be signed, all as of the date first
written above.
 

BUYER:

REVOLUTION LIGHTING TECHNOLOGIES –
TNT ENERGY, LLC

By:   
Name:
Title:

COMPANY

TNT ENERGY, LLC

By:   
Name:
Title:

SELLERS:

/s/ Timothy M. Blanchard
Timothy M. Blanchard

/s/ Theodore A. Carmone, Jr.
Theodore A. Carmone, Jr.
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THIS INSTRUMENT IS SUBJECT TO THE TERMS OF A SUBORDINATION AGREEMENT BY THE LENDER IN FAVOR OF
BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., DATED MAY     , 2016.

PROMISSORY NOTE
 
AMOUNT:   $500,000  May    , 2016

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, Revolution Lighting Technologies – TNT Energy, LLC (the “Maker”), promises to pay to Theodore A.
Carmone, Jr. (the “Lender”) or order, the principal sum of Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000), together with interest on any and all
amounts remaining unpaid thereon from time to time from the date hereof. The entire balance of principal and interest shall be paid to the
holder hereof in one installment on or before the earlier of: (i) Three Hundred Fifty (350) days from the date hereof, (ii) an Event of
Payment, or (iii) a Sale (as hereinafter defined). Interest shall accrue and be payable on the outstanding principal balance of this Note at
5%. Interest shall be determined in all instances based upon a 360 day year and actual day months.

The Maker shall have the right to prepay the principal amount outstanding in whole or in part without penalty. Any partial
prepayment shall be applied first to satisfy any accrued interest, late charges or other amounts or fees due hereunder and thereafter applied
to the principal amount outstanding.

This Note shall, at the option of the holder, become immediately due and payable without notice or demand upon the occurrence of
any of the following events (each, an “Event of Payment”): (a) commencement by the Maker of a voluntary proceeding seeking relief under
any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law, or seeking appointment of a trustee, receiver, liquidator or other similar official
for the Maker, or consent to any of the foregoing by the Maker, or an assignment for the benefit of the creditors of the Maker; or (b)
commencement of an involuntary proceeding against the Maker under any bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law, or seeking
appointment of a trustee, receiver, liquidator or other similar official for the Maker, which proceeding remains undismissed and unstayed
for sixty (60) days, or entry of an order for relief against the Maker under federal bankruptcy law. For purposes of this Note, the term “Sale”
shall mean the sale of all or substantially all of the assets or equity securities of the Maker, or the merger or consolidation of the Maker
pursuant to which following the consummation of such merger or consolidation of the Maker, the Maker is not the surviving entity.

In the event of any default in payment of this Note, Maker agrees to pay in addition to amounts otherwise due, all costs of collection,
including reasonable attorney’s fees to the extent permitted by law in the event that this Note is referred to an attorney for collection.
Further, in the event the Maker fails to pay when due any payment within ten (10) days of its due date, the Maker shall in addition pay a late
charge equal to five (5%) percent of the payment then due, including the final payment.

Every Maker, endorser and guarantor of this Note hereby waives presentment, demand, notice and protest, and consents to any and all
extensions or other indulgences by the holders hereof. Every maker, endorser and guarantor hereof agrees that no discharge or release of
any other party primarily or secondarily liable on, or of any second interest securing this Note, shall affect the liability of such Maker,
endorser or guarantor.

MAKER AND LENDER EACH HEREBY KNOWINGLY, VOLUNTARILY AND INTENTIONALLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT
THEY MAY HAVE OR HEREAFTER HAVE TO A
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TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF ANY SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS NOTE.
Maker hereby certifies that neither Lender nor any of its representatives, agents or counsel has represented, expressly or otherwise, that
Lender would not, in the event of any such suit, action or proceeding, seek to enforce this waiver of right to trial by jury. Maker
acknowledges that Lender has been induced to accept this Note and make the loan represented by this Note by, among other things, this
waiver. Maker acknowledges that it has read the provisions of this Note and in particular, this Paragraph; has consulted legal counsel;
understands the right he is granting in this Note and is waiving in this Paragraph in particular; and makes the above waiver knowingly,
voluntarily and intentionally.

This Note and the provisions hereof shall be binding upon the Maker and the Maker’s successors, legal representatives and assigns
and shall inure to the benefit of the Lender, the Lender’s successors, legal representatives and assigns.

This Note is entered into under the laws of the State of Delaware. The Maker consents and submits to the jurisdiction of the Courts of
the State of Delaware (or federal courts within the State of Delaware) which shall have exclusive jurisdiction over any disputes arising
hereunder.

This Note is issued in connection with Membership Interest Purchase Agreement dated May     , 2016 (the “Purchase Agreement”), by
and between the Maker, the Lender, TNT Energy, LLC (the “Company”), and the remaining members of the Company, and the obligations
of the Maker pursuant to this Note are secured by an irrevocable letter of credit in the form of Exhibit A attached to and hereby made a part
of this Note. Notwithstanding the issuance of the irrevocable letter of credit, payment of the obligations of the Maker pursuant to this Note
are subject to the rights of the Maker set forth in Article X of the Purchase Agreement.

Signature page to follow.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Note has been duly authorized and is executed under seal as of the      day of May, 2016.

Signed in the presence of:
  MAKER:

  
REVOLUTION LIGHTING TECHNOLOGIES – ENERGY SOURCE,
LLC

 
   By:   

 

  Name: James DePalma
  Title: Treasurer

The obligations of the Maker hereunder are guaranteed by Robert LaPenta.
 
 
Robert LaPenta
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Promissory Note 2
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THIS INSTRUMENT IS SUBJECT TO THE TERMS OF A SUBORDINATION AGREEMENT BY THE LENDER IN FAVOR OF
BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., DATED MAY     , 2016.

PROMISSORY NOTE
 
        AMOUNT:  $500,000  May    , 2016        

FOR VALUE RECEIVED, Revolution Lighting Technologies – TNT Energy, LLC (the “Maker”), promises to pay to Theodore A.
Carmone, Jr. (the “Lender”) or order, the principal sum of Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000), together with interest on any and all
amounts remaining unpaid thereon from time to time from the date hereof. The entire balance of principal and interest shall be paid to the
holder hereof in one installment on or before the earlier of: (i) Eighteen (18) months from the date hereof, (ii) an Event of Payment, or (iii)
a Sale (as hereinafter defined). Interest shall accrue and be payable on the outstanding principal balance of this Note at 5%. Interest shall be
determined in all instances based upon a 360 day year and actual day months.

The Maker shall have the right to prepay the principal amount outstanding in whole or in part without penalty. Any partial
prepayment shall be applied first to satisfy any accrued interest, late charges or other amounts or fees due hereunder and thereafter applied
to the principal amount outstanding.

This Note shall, at the option of the holder, become immediately due and payable without notice or demand upon the occurrence of
any of the following events (each, an “Event of Payment”): (a) commencement by the Maker of a voluntary proceeding seeking relief under
any applicable bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law, or seeking appointment of a trustee, receiver, liquidator or other similar official
for the Maker, or consent to any of the foregoing by the Maker, or an assignment for the benefit of the creditors of the Maker; or (b)
commencement of an involuntary proceeding against the Maker under any bankruptcy, insolvency or other similar law, or seeking
appointment of a trustee, receiver, liquidator or other similar official for the Maker, which proceeding remains undismissed and unstayed
for sixty (60) days, or entry of an order for relief against the Maker under federal bankruptcy law. For purposes of this Note, the term “Sale”
shall mean the sale of all or substantially all of the assets or equity securities of the Maker, or the merger or consolidation of the Maker
pursuant to which following the consummation of such merger or consolidation of the Maker, the Maker is not the surviving entity.

In the event of any default in payment of this Note, Maker agrees to pay in addition to amounts otherwise due, all costs of collection,
including reasonable attorney’s fees to the extent permitted by law in the event that this Note is referred to an attorney for collection.
Further, in the event the Maker fails to pay when due any payment within ten (10) days of its due date, the Maker shall in addition pay a late
charge equal to five (5%) percent of the payment then due, including the final payment.
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Every Maker, endorser and guarantor of this Note hereby waives presentment, demand, notice and protest, and consents to any and all
extensions or other indulgences by the holders hereof. Every maker, endorser and guarantor hereof agrees that no discharge or release of
any other party primarily or secondarily liable on, or of any second interest securing this Note, shall affect the liability of such Maker,
endorser or guarantor.

MAKER AND LENDER EACH HEREBY KNOWINGLY, VOLUNTARILY AND INTENTIONALLY WAIVES ANY RIGHT
THEY MAY HAVE OR HEREAFTER HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF ANY SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING
ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS NOTE. Maker hereby certifies that neither Lender nor any of its representatives, agents or
counsel has represented, expressly or otherwise, that Lender would not, in the event of any such suit, action or proceeding, seek to enforce
this waiver of right to trial by jury. Maker acknowledges that Lender has been induced to accept this Note and make the loan represented by
this Note by, among other things, this waiver. Maker acknowledges that it has read the provisions of this Note and in particular, this
Paragraph; has consulted legal counsel; understands the right he is granting in this Note and is waiving in this Paragraph in particular; and
makes the above waiver knowingly, voluntarily and intentionally.

This Note and the provisions hereof shall be binding upon the Maker and the Maker’s successors, legal representatives and assigns
and shall inure to the benefit of the Lender, the Lender’s successors, legal representatives and assigns.

This Note is entered into under the laws of the State of Delaware. The Maker consents and submits to the jurisdiction of the Courts of
the State of Delaware (or federal courts within the State of Delaware) which shall have exclusive jurisdiction over any disputes arising
hereunder.

This Note is issued in connection with Membership Interest Purchase Agreement dated May     , 2016 (the “Purchase Agreement”), by
and between the Maker, the Lender, TNT Energy, LLC (the “Company”), and the remaining members of the Company. Payment of the
obligations of the Maker pursuant to this Note are subject to the rights of the Maker set forth in Article X of the Purchase Agreement.

Signature page to follow.
 

ix



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Note has been duly authorized and is executed under seal as of the      day of May, 2016.
 
Signed in the presence of:   MAKER:

  
REVOLUTION LIGHTING TECHNOLOGIES – ENERGY SOURCE,
LLC

 
   By:   

 

  Name: James DePalma
  Title: Treasurer
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Exhibit 10.1

CONSENT AND SEVENTH AMENDMENT TO
LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT

AND FIFTH AMENDMENT TO PLEDGE AGREEMENT

THIS CONSENT AND SEVENTH AMENDMENT TO LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT AND FIFTH AMENDMENT TO
PLEDGE AGREEMENT (this “Seventh Amendment”) is made as of this 19th day of April, 2016 by and among REVOLUTION
LIGHTING TECHNOLOGIES, INC., a Delaware corporation (“RLT”), LUMIFICIENT CORPORATION, a Minnesota corporation
(“Lumificient”), LIGHTING INTEGRATION TECHNOLOGIES, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“LIT”), SEESMART
TECHNOLOGIES, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Seesmart Tech”), RELUME TECHNOLOGIES, INC., a Delaware
corporation (“Relume”), TRI-STATE LED DE, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Tri-State”), VALUE LIGHTING, LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company (“Value Lighting”), ALL AROUND LIGHTING, L.L.C., a Texas limited liability company (“All
Around”), ENERGY SOURCE, LLC, a Rhode Island limited liability company (“Energy Source”), and REVOLUTION LIGHTING – E-
LIGHTING, INC., a Delaware corporation (“RLT-E-Lighting”), and SEESMART, INC., a Delaware corporation (“Seesmart”, and together
with RLT, Lumificient, LIT, Seesmart Tech, Relume, Tri-State, Value Lighting, All Around, Energy Source, and RLT-E-Lighting, singly
and collectively, jointly and severally, “Borrowers” and each a “Borrower”), the Guarantors party hereto (each a “Guarantor” and
collectively, jointly and severally, the “Guarantors”; and, together with the Borrowers, each an “Obligor” and collectively, jointly and
severally, the “Obligors”), and BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., a national banking association (“Lender”).

W I T N E S S E T H:

WHEREAS, the Obligors and the Lender are parties to a certain Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of August 20, 2014 (as
amended, modified, supplemented or restated and in effect from time to time, collectively, the “Loan Agreement”).

WHEREAS, the Obligors and the Lender are parties to a certain Pledge Agreement, dated as of August 20, 2014 (as amended,
modified, supplemented or restated and in effect from time to time, collectively, the “Pledge Agreement”).

WHEREAS, the Obligors and the Lender are parties to a certain letter agreement, dated as of March 9, 2016 (the “RLT
Recapitalization Consent Letter”), which RLT Recapitalization Consent Letter set forth the terms and conditions relating the consent issued
by the Lender to the Recapitalization (as defined in the RLT Recapitalization Consent Letter) of the Equity Interests of RLT (the “RLT
Recapitalization”).

WHEREAS, the Obligors have advised the Lender that the Obligors intend to consummate the RLT-E-Lighting/RLT-ES
Recapitalization (as defined below) of the Equity Interests of (i) RLT-E-Lighting and (ii) Revolution Lighting Technologies – Energy
Source, Inc. (“RLT-ES”).
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WHEREAS, the Obligors have advised the Lender that the Obligors intend to consummate the Dissolutions (as defined below) of (i)
Envirolight LED, LLC (“Envirolight”), (ii) Seesmart Tech, and (iii) Break One Nine, Inc. (“Break One”).

WHEREAS, the Obligors have advised the Lender that the Obligors intend to consummate the Mergers (as defined below) of (i)
Sentinel System, LLC (“Sentinel”) with and into Relume, with Relume being the surviving entity and (ii) Lumificient with and into Relume,
with Relume being the surviving entity.

WHEREAS, the Obligors have advised the Lender that the Obligors intend to consummate the LLC Conversions (as defined below)
of (i) Seesmart, Inc. (“Seesmart”) and (ii) and Relume into limited liability companies.

WHEREAS, the RLT-E-Lighting/RLT-ES Recapitalization, the Dissolutions, the Mergers, and the LLC Conversions shall
be collectively referred to herein as the “Recombination”.

WHEREAS, pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Loan Agreement, the Pledge Agreement and the other Loan Documents, the
failure of the Obligors to obtain the written consent of the Lender prior to consummating the Recombination would constitute a Default and
Event of Default under the Loan Agreement, and, accordingly, the Obligors have requested the consent of the Lender to the
Recombination pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Amendment.

WHEREAS, the Obligors have requested that Seesmart be converted from a Guarantor to a Borrower under the Loan Agreement and
the other Loan Documents (the “Seesmart Borrower Conversion”).

WHEREAS, the Obligors have also requested that the Lender also modify and amend certain terms and conditions of the Loan
Agreement and the Pledge Agreement.

WHEREAS, the Lender is willing to so consent to the Recombination and the Seesmart Borrower Conversion, and to so modify and
amend certain terms and conditions of the Loan Agreement and the Pledge Agreement, subject to the terms and conditions contained
herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the
Obligors and the Lender agree as follows:

1. Capitalized Terms. All capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the same meaning herein as in the Loan
Agreement.

2. Confirmation of Consent to RLT Recapitalization. The Lender hereby confirms that, subject to the terms and conditions contained
herein, including, but not limited to, the fulfillment of the Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness set forth in Section 15 hereof, all as
determined by the Lender in its sole reasonable discretion, all conditions to the issuance of the consent of the Lender to the RLT
Recapitalization as set forth in the RLT Recapitalization Consent Letter have been satisfied.
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3. Consent to the RLT-E-Lighting/RLT-ES Recapitalization. The Obligors hereby represent, warrant, covenant and agree in favor of
the Lender as follows: the Equity Interests of RLT-E-Lighting and RLT-ES shall be recapitalized as follows, and the Certificates of
Incorporation (which constitute Organic Documents) of RLT-E-Lighting and RLT-ES, respectively, shall be accordingly amended and filed
with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware (individually and collectively, the “RLT-E-Lighting/RLT-ES Recapitalization”):
 

 
(a) RLT-E-Lighting. The authorized common stock of RLT-E-Lighting shall be reduced from 20,000,000 shares to 1,000 shares, and

the number of outstanding shares of RLT-E-Lighting shall be reduced to 1,000 shares via a 1-for-20,000 reverse stock split, and
RLT shall remain as the sole stockholder of RLT-E-Lighting.

 

 
(b) RLT-ES. The authorized common stock of RLT-ES shall be reduced from 20,000,000 shares to 1,000 shares, and the number of

outstanding shares of RLT-ES shall be reduced to 1,000 shares via a 1-for-20,000 reverse stock split, and RLT shall remain as the
sole stockholder of RLT-ES.

The Obligors acknowledge and agree that under no circumstances shall any cash Distributions be made relating to the RLT-E-
Lighting/RLT-ES Recapitalization. The Lender hereby consents to the RLT-E-Lighting/RLT-ES Recapitalization subject to the terms and
conditions contained herein, including, but not limited to, the fulfillment of the Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness set forth in Section 15
hereof, all as determined by the Lender in its sole discretion. The Obligors shall certify to the Lender in writing within three (3) Business
Days after each respective RLT-E-Lighting/RLT-ES Recapitalization, and therewith shall simultaneously deliver to the Lender (i) file-
stamped copies of each such amended Certificate of Incorporation of RLT-E-Lighting and RLT-ES as filed with the Secretary of State of
the State of Delaware, (ii) replacement original stock certificates of RLT-E-Lighting and RLT-ES, respectively, reflecting the RLT-E-
Lighting/RLT-ES Recapitalization, which original stock certificates shall be accompanied by stock powers duly executed in blank or other
instruments of transfer reasonably satisfactory to the Lender, whereupon the Lender shall return to the Obligors any and all prior original
stock certificates for RLT-E-Lighting and RLT-ES that are in its possession, (iii) a replacement Schedule 8.1.4 to the Loan Agreement and
a replacement Schedule III to the Pledge Agreement reflecting the RLT-E-Lighting/RLT-ES Recapitalization, and (iv) certificates of a duly
authorized officer of each applicable Obligor certifying (A) that an attached copy of resolutions authorizing the RLT-E-Lighting/RLT-ES
Recapitalization and all documents referenced therein and related thereto are true and complete, and that such resolutions are in full force
and effect, were duly adopted, have not been amended, modified or revoked, and constitute all resolutions adopted with respect to this credit
facility, and (B) to the title, name and signature of each Person authorized to sign such documents.. The Obligors further acknowledge and
agree that the foregoing consent of the Lender shall be null and void and of no force or effect if the RLT-E-Lighting/RLT-ES
Recapitalization is not satisfactorily consummated by no later than June 30, 2016, as determined by the Lender in its sole discretion.

4. Consent to the Dissolutions. The Obligors hereby represent, warrant, covenant and agree in favor of the Lender as follows:
Envirolight, Seesmart Tech, and Break One shall be dissolved (individually a “Dissolution” and collectively the “Dissolutions”), and the
Lender
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hereby consents to the Dissolutions, and that each such entity shall cease to be a Borrower or a Guarantor, as applicable, under the Loan
Agreement and the other Loan Documents, subject to the terms and conditions contained herein, including, but not limited to, the
fulfillment of the Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness set forth in Section 15 hereof, all as determined by the Lender in its sole reasonable
discretion. The Obligors shall certify to the Lender in writing within three (3) Business Days after the completion of each respective
Dissolution, and therewith shall simultaneously deliver to the Lender (i) satisfactory file-stamped copies of all documents filed with the
respective state authorities to effectuate each Dissolution, and such written certification shall also contain evidence confirming the transfer
of any and all assets of Envirolight, Seesmart Tech, and Break One, respectively, to another Obligor, which evidence shall contain the
identity of all such assets and the name of the Obligor that is the transferee thereof, all to the sole reasonable satisfaction of the Lender, (ii)
a replacement Schedule 8.1.4 to the Loan Agreement and a replacement Schedule III to the Pledge Agreement reflecting the
Dissolutions, and (iii) certificates of a duly authorized officer of each applicable Obligor certifying (A) that an attached copy of
resolutions authorizing the Dissolutions and all documents referenced therein and related thereto are true and complete, and that such
resolutions are in full force and effect, were duly adopted, have not been amended, modified or revoked, and constitute all resolutions
adopted with respect to this credit facility, and (B) to the title, name and signature of each Person authorized to sign such documents.. The
Obligors acknowledge and agree that the foregoing consent of the Lender shall be null and void and of no force or effect if the
Dissolutions are not satisfactorily consummated by no later than June 30, 2016, as determined by the Lender in its sole discretion.

5. Consent to Mergers. The Obligors hereby represent, warrant, covenant and agree in favor of the Lender as follows: (i) Sentinel will
be merged with and into Relume, with Relume being the surviving entity, and (ii) Lumificient will be merged with and into Relume, with
Relume being the surviving entity (each a “Merger” and collectively the “Mergers”), and the Lender hereby consents to the Mergers,
subject to the terms and conditions contained herein, including, but not limited to, the fulfillment of the Conditions Precedent to
Effectiveness set forth in Section 15 hereof, all as determined by the Lender in its sole reasonable discretion. The Obligors shall certify to
the Lender in writing within three (3) Business Days after the completion of each respective Merger, and shall therewith simultaneously
deliver to the Lender (i) satisfactory file-stamped copies of all documents filed with the respective state authorities to effectuate each
Merger, (ii) a replacement Schedule 8.1.4 to the Loan Agreement and a replacement Schedule III to the Pledge Agreement reflecting the
Mergers, and (iii) certificates of a duly authorized officer of each applicable Obligor certifying (A) that an attached copy of resolutions
authorizing the Mergers and all documents referenced therein and related thereto are true and complete, and that such resolutions are in full
force and effect, were duly adopted, have not been amended, modified or revoked, and constitute all resolutions adopted with respect to this
credit facility, and (B) to the title, name and signature of each Person authorized to sign such documents. The Obligors acknowledge and
agree that the foregoing consent of the Lender shall be null and void and of no force or effect if the Mergers are not satisfactorily
consummated by no later than June 30, 2016, as determined by the Lender in its sole discretion.

6. Consent to LLC Conversions. The Obligors hereby represent, warrant, covenant and agree in favor of the Lender as follows: (i)
Seesmart shall be converted from a corporation into a limited liability company and (ii) Relume shall be converted from a corporation into a
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limited liability company (individually an “LLC Conversion” and collectively the “LLC Conversions”), and the Lender hereby consents to
the LLC Conversions, subject to the terms and conditions contained herein, including, but not limited to, the fulfillment of the Conditions
Precedent to Effectiveness set forth in Section 15 hereof, all as determined by the Lender in its sole reasonable discretion. The Obligors
shall certify to the Lender in writing within three (3) Business Days after the completion of each respective LLC Conversion, and therewith
shall simultaneously deliver to the Lender (i) satisfactory file-stamped copies of all documents filed with the Secretary of State of the State
of Delaware to effectuate the LLC Conversions, (ii) replacement, original member certificates of Seesmart and Relume, respectively,
reflecting the LLC Conversions, which original member certificates shall be accompanied by member powers duly executed in blank or
other instruments of transfer reasonably satisfactory to the Lender, whereupon the Lender shall return to the Obligors any and all prior
original member certificates for Seesmart and Relume that are in its possession, (iii) a replacement Schedule 8.1.4 to the Loan
Agreement and a replacement Schedule III to the Pledge Agreement reflecting the LLC Conversions, and (iv) certificates of a duly
authorized officer of each applicable Obligor certifying (A) that an attached copy of resolutions authorizing the LLC Conversions and all
documents referenced therein and related thereto are true and complete, and that such resolutions are in full force and effect, were duly
adopted, have not been amended, modified or revoked, and constitute all resolutions adopted with respect to this credit facility; and (B) to
the title, name and signature of each Person authorized to sign such documents. The Obligors acknowledge and agree that the foregoing
consent of the Lender shall be null and void and of no force or effect if the LLC Conversions are not satisfactorily consummated by no later
than June 30, 2016, as determined by the Lender in its sole discretion. The Obligors further acknowledge and agree that the Lender is
authorized to file financing statements to reflect the LLC Conversions.

7. Seesmart Borrower Conversion. Seesmart hereby:
 

 (a) acknowledges that it is currently a Guarantor under the Loan Agreement and the other Loan Documents;
 

 

(b) joins in the execution of, and become parties to, the Loan Agreement and the other Loan Documents as a Borrower, as indicated
by its signature below; provided that Seesmart expressly agrees that nothing contained in this Amendment shall serve to release or
deem to release the obligations of Seesmart as a Guarantor under the Guaranty, the Loan Agreement and the other Loan
Documents;

 

 
(c) agrees to be bound by all representations, warranties, covenants, agreements, liabilities and acknowledgments of a Borrower

under the Loan Agreement and the other Loan Documents, with the same force and effect as if it was a signatory to the Loan
Agreement and the other Loan Documents and was expressly named as a Borrower; and

 

 (d) assumes and agrees to perform all applicable duties and obligations as a Borrower under the Loan Agreement and the other Loan
Documents.
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8. Amendments to Loan Agreement. The Loan Agreement is hereby amended as follows:
 

 

(a) Effective upon the satisfactory consummation pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Amendment of each and all of the
RLT-E-Lighting/RLT-ES Recapitalization, the Dissolutions, the Mergers and the LLC Conversions (as confirmed by the Lender),
the definitions of “Borrowers”, “Guarantors” and “Seesmart” as contained in the Loan Agreement shall be deleted in their
entirety and the following substituted in their stead:

““Borrowers”: singly and collectively, jointly and severally, RLT, LIT, Relume, Tri-State, Value Lighting, All Around, RLT-E-
Lighting, Energy Source and Seesmart.”

““Guarantors”: singly and collectively, jointly and severally, Value Lighting Houston and RLT-ES, and each Borrower as to each
other Borrower, and each other Person that guarantees payment or performance of Obligations. Pledgor is also a non-recourse
Guarantor to the extent set forth in Pledgor’s Guaranty dated as of the Third Amendment Effective Date.”

““Seesmart: Seesmart, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, and a wholly owned Subsidiary of RLT.”
 

 (b) The definition of “LIBOR” as contained in Section 1.1 of the Loan Agreement (Definitions) is hereby deleted in its entirety and
the following substituted in its stead:

““LIBOR: the per annum rate of interest (rounded up to the nearest l/8th of the 1% and in no event less than zero) determined by
Agent at or about 11:00 a.m. (London time) two Business Days prior to an interest period, for a term equivalent to such period,
equal to the London Interbank Offered Rate, or comparable or successor rate approved by Agent, a published on the applicable
Reuters screen page (or other commercially available source designated by Agent from time to time); provided, that any
comparable or successor rate shall be applied by Agent, if administratively feasible, in a manner consistent with market practice.”

 

 (c) The provisions of Section 1.1 of the Loan Agreement (Definitions) are hereby amended by inserting the following new
definitions in their applicable alphabetical orders:

““Dissolutions: as defined in the Seventh Amendment.”

““LLC Conversions: as defined in the Seventh Amendment.”

““Mergers: as defined in the Seventh Amendment.”

““Post-Seventh Amendment Obligations”: as defined in the Seventh Amendment.”
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““Recombination”: as defined in the Seventh Amendment.”

““RLT-E-Lighting/RLT-ES Recapitalization”: as defined in the Seventh Amendment.”

““Seesmart Borrower Conversion: as defined in the Seventh Amendment.”

““Seventh Amendment” means that certain Consent and Seventh Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement and Fifth
Amendment to Pledge Agreement, dated as of April 19, 2016, by and among the Obligors and the Lender.”

““Seventh Amendment Effective Date”: means April 19, 2016”
 

 (d) Schedule 8.1.4 to the Loan Agreement is hereby deleted in its entirety, and the amended and restated Schedule 8.1.4 to the Loan
Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit “A” is hereby substituted in its stead.

 

 

(e) Effective upon the satisfactory consummation pursuant to the terms and conditions of this Amendment of each and all of the
Recombinations (as confirmed by the Lender), each existing Schedule 8.1.4 to the Loan Agreement will deleted in its entirety,
and the replacement Schedule 8.1.4 to the Loan Agreement that is delivered by the Obligors to the Lender pursuant to the terms
and conditions of this Amendment shall substituted in its stead.

9. Amendments to Pledge Agreement. Effective upon the satisfactory consummation pursuant to the terms and conditions of this
Amendment of each and all of the Recombinations (as confirmed by the Lender), each existing Schedule III to the Pledge Agreement will
deleted in its entirety, and the replacement Schedule III to the Pledge Agreement that is delivered by the Obligors to the Lender pursuant to
the terms and conditions of this Amendment shall substituted in its stead.

10. Post-Seventh Amendment Obligations. The Obligors hereby agree to deliver the following duly completed and executed items to
the Lender by no later than May 2, 2016 (collectively the “Post-Seventh Amendment Obligations”), all in the form and substance
reasonably satisfactory to the Lender, and the Obligors further agree that any failure by the Obligors to duly and timely comply with the
Post-Seventh Amendment Obligations shall constitute an Event of Default under the Loan Agreement:
 

 (a) Perfection Certificate for RLT-E-Lighting.
 

 (b) Control Agreements for the Deposit Accounts and/or Securities Accounts of RLT-E-Lighting, Energy Source and RLT-ES if
determined by the Lender to be necessary.

11. Ratification of Loan Documents . Except as specifically amended by this Amendment, all of the terms and conditions of the Loan
Agreement and of each of the other Loan Documents shall remain in full force and effect. The Obligors hereby ratify, confirm, and reaffirm
all of the representations, warranties and covenants contained therein. Further, the
 

7



Obligors warrant and represent that no Event of Default exists, and nothing contained herein shall be deemed to constitute a waiver by the
Lender of any Event of Default which may nonetheless exist as of the date hereof.

12. Ratification of Guaranty. Except as specifically amended by this Amendment, all of the terms and conditions of the Guaranty
shall remain in full force and effect. Although not necessary to effectuate this Amendment, the Guarantors hereby ratify, confirm and
reaffirm, all and singular, each of the terms and conditions of the Guaranty, and each of the warranties and representations made by the
Guarantors in the Guaranty. The Guarantors acknowledge, confirms and agree that the Guaranteed Obligations include, without limitation,
those arising under the Loan Agreement, as amended by this Amendment, and any future modifications, amendments, substitutions or
renewals thereof.

13. Breach. Without limiting the provisions of the Loan Documents, a breach of any agreement, covenant, warranty, representation or
certification of the Obligors under this Amendment and/or the failure of the Obligors to perform its obligations under this Amendment shall
constitute an Event of Default under the Loan Agreement.

14. Waiver. Each Obligor acknowledges, confirms and agrees that it has no claims, counterclaims, offsets, defenses or causes of
action against the Lender with respect to amounts outstanding under the Loan Agreement or otherwise. To the extent such claims,
counterclaims, offsets, defenses and/or causes of actions should exist, whether known or unknown, at law or in equity, each Obligor hereby
WAlVES same and RELEASES the Lender from any and all liability in connection therewith.

15. Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness. This Amendment shall not be effective until each of the following conditions precedent
has been fulfilled to the sole satisfaction of the Lender:
 

 (a) This Amendment shall have been duly executed and delivered by the respective parties hereto, and shall be in full force and
effect and shall be in form and substance satisfactory to the Lender.

 

 
(b) All action on the part of the Obligors necessary for the valid execution, delivery and performance by the Obligors of this

Amendment and all other documentation, instruments, and agreements to be executed in connection herewith shall have been
duly and effectively taken and evidence thereof satisfactory to the Lender shall have been provided to the Lender.

 

 (c) The Obligors shall have executed and delivered to the Lender such additional documents, instruments, and agreements as the
Lender may reasonably request.

16. Miscellaneous.
 

 
(a) This Amendment may be executed in several counterparts and by each party on a separate counterpart, each of which when so

executed and delivered shall be an original, and all of which together shall constitute one instrument. Delivery of an executed
signature page of this Amendment (or any notice or agreement delivered
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pursuant to the terms hereof) by facsimile transmission or electronic transmission shall be as effective as delivery of a manually
executed counterpart hereof; provided that the Obligors shall deliver originals of all applicable documents referenced in this
Amendment by no later than three (3) Business Days after the Seventh Amendment Effective Date.

 

 (b) This Amendment expresses the entire understanding of the parties with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby. No prior
negotiations or discussions shall limit, modify, or otherwise affect the provisions hereof.

 

 
(c) Any determination that any provision of this Amendment or any application hereof is invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any

respect and in any instance shall not affect the validity, legality, or enforceability of such provision in any other instance, or the
validity, legality or enforceability of any other provisions of this Amendment.

 

 

(d) THE VALIDITY, INTERPRETATION AND ENFORCEMENT OF THIS AMENDMENT AND ANY DISPUTE ARISING
OUT OF THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE PARTIES HERETO, WHETHER IN CONTRACT, TORT, EQUITY OR
OTHERWISE, SHALL BE GOVERNED BY THE INTERNAL LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK (WITHOUT GIVING
EFFECT TO PRINCIPLES OF CONFLICTS OF LAW).

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Amendment as a sealed instrument by their respective duly authorized
officers.
 

LENDER:

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.

By:  /s/ Cynthia G. Stannard
Name: Cynthia G. Stannard
Title:  Sr. Vice President

[Signatures Continue on Next Page]
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BORROWERS:

REVOLUTION LIGHTING TECHNOLOGIES,
INC.

By:  /s/ James A. DePalma
Name: James A. DePalma
Title:  Chief Financial Officer

LUMIFICIENT CORPORATION

By:  /s/ James A. DePalma
Name: James A. DePalma
Title:  Chief Financial Officer

LIGHTING INTEGRATION TECHNOLOGIES,
LLC

By:  /s/ James A. DePalma
Name: James A. DePalma
Title:  Chief Financial Officer

SEESMART TECHNOLOGIES, LLC

By:  /s/ James A. DePalma
Name: James A. DePalma
Title:  Chief Financial Officer

RELUME TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

By:  /s/ James A. DePalma
Name: James A. DePalma
Title:  Chief Financial Officer

[Signatures Continue on Next Page]
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TRI-STATE LED DE, LLC

By:  /s/ James A. DePalma
Name: James A. DePalma
Title:  Chief Financial Officer

VALUE LIGHTING, LLC

By:  /s/ James A. DePalma
Name: James A. DePalma
Title:  Chief Financial Officer

ALL AROUND LIGHTING, L.L.C.

By:  /s/ James A. DePalma
Name: James A. DePalma
Title:  Chief Financial Officer

ENERGY SOURCE, LLC

By:  /s/ James A. DePalma
Name: James A. DePalma
Title:  Chief Financial Officer

REVOLUTION LIGHTING – E-LIGHTING, INC.

By:  /s/ James A. DePalma
Name: James A. DePalma
Title:  Chief Financial Officer

SEESMART, INC.

By:  /s/ James A. DePalma
Name: James A. DePalma

Title:  Chief Financial Officer

[Signatures Continue on Next Page]
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GUARANTORS:

SENTINEL SYSTEM, LLC

By:  /s/ James A. DePalma
Name: James A. DePalma
Title:  Chief Financial Officer

VALUE LIGHTING OF HOUSTON, LLC

By:  /s/ James A. DePalma
Name: James A. DePalma
Title:  Chief Financial Officer

ENVIROLIGHT LED, LLC

By:  /s/ James A. DePalma
Name: James A. DePalma
Title:  Chief Financial Officer

BREAK ONE NINE, INC.

By:  /s/ James A. DePalma
Name: James A. DePalma
Title:  Chief Financial Officer

REVOLUTION LIGHTING TECHNOLOGIES –
ENERGY SOURCE, INC.

By:  /s/ James A. DePalma
Name: James A. DePalma
Title:  Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 10.2

CONSENT AND EIGHTH AMENDMENT TO
LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
AND RATIFICATION OF GUARANTY

THIS CONSENT AND EIGHTH AMENDMENT TO LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT AND RATIFICATION OF
GUARANTY (this “Eighth Amendment”) is made as of this 19th day of April, 2016 by and among REVOLUTION LIGHTING
TECHNOLOGIES, INC., a Delaware corporation (“RLT”), LUMIFICIENT CORPORATION, a Minnesota corporation (“Lumificient”),
LIGHTING INTEGRATION TECHNOLOGIES, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“LIT”), SEESMART TECHNOLOGIES,
LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Seesmart Tech”), RELUME TECHNOLOGIES, INC., a Delaware corporation (“Relume”),
TRI-STATE LED DE, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Tri-State”), VALUE LIGHTING, LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company (“Value Lighting”), ALL AROUND LIGHTING, L.L.C., a Texas limited liability company (“All Around”), ENERGY SOURCE,
LLC, a Rhode Island limited liability company (“Energy Source”), REVOLUTION LIGHTING – E-LIGHTING, INC., a Delaware
corporation (“RLT-E-Lighting”), and SEESMART, INC., a Delaware corporation (“Seesmart”, and together with RLT, Lumificient, LIT,
Seesmart Tech, Relume, Tri-State, Value Lighting, All Around, Energy Source, and RLT-E-Lighting, singly and collectively, jointly and
severally, “Borrowers” and each a “Borrower”), the Guarantors party hereto (each a “Guarantor” and collectively, jointly and severally, the
“Guarantors”; and, together with the Borrowers, each an “Obligor” and collectively, jointly and severally, the “Obligors”), and BANK OF
AMERICA, N.A., a national banking association (“Lender”).

W I T N E S S E T H:

WHEREAS, the Obligors and the Lender are parties to a certain Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of August 20, 2014 (as
amended, modified, supplemented or restated and in effect from time to time, collectively, the “Loan Agreement”); and

WHEREAS, pursuant to the terms and conditions of that certain Guaranty, dated as of August 20, 2014, made by the Guarantors in
favor of the Lender and the Secured Parties (as amended, supplemented, modified and in effect, collectively, the “Guaranty”), the
Guarantors have guaranteed the Guaranteed Obligations of the Borrowers under the Loan Agreement and the other Loan Documents.

WHEREAS, the Obligors have requested that the Lender agrees to the increase of the Revolver Commitment by $2,000,000, to a new
maximum of $27,000,000 in the aggregate.

WHEREAS, the Lender is willing to so agree to the increase of the Revolver Commitment by $2,000,000, to a new maximum of
$27,000,000 in the aggregate, subject to adjustments as set forth herein; provided that, inter alia, certain terms of the Loan Agreement are
modified as set forth below.
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NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the
Obligors and the Lender agree as follows:

1. Capitalized Terms. All capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the same meaning herein as in the Loan
Agreement.

2. Agreement to Increase the Revolver Commitment. The Lender hereby agrees to the increase of the Revolver Commitment by
$2,000,000, to a new maximum of $27,000,000 in the aggregate, subject to adjustments as set forth herein, provided that each of the
Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness set forth in Section 10 hereof shall be satisfied, all as determined by the Lender in its sole reasonable
discretion.

3. Amendments to Loan Agreement. The Loan Agreement is hereby amended as follows:
 

 (a) The definition of “Pledged Cash Collateral” as contained in Section 1.1 of the Loan Agreement (Definitions) is hereby deleted in
its entirety and the following substituted in its stead:

““Pledged Cash Collateral: means all of Pledgor’s right, title and interest in and to the cash and other assets more particularly
described in the Cash Collateral Pledge Agreement and which shall be under the sole dominion and control of the Lender. As of
the Eighth Amendment Effective Date, the aggregate amount of Pledged Cash Collateral is $7,000,000.”

 

 (b) The definition of “Revolver Commitment” as contained in Section 1.1 of the Loan Agreement (Definitions) is hereby deleted in
its entirety and the following substituted in its stead:

““Revolver Commitment: Lender’s obligation to make Revolver Loans and to issue Letters of Credit in an amount up to
$27,000,000 in the aggregate, which amount shall automatically be reduced to $25,000,000 in the aggregate if Pledgor terminates
Pledgor’s Guaranty pursuant to the terms and conditions thereof.”

 

 (c) The provisions of Section 1.1 of the Loan Agreement (Definitions) are hereby amended by inserting the following new
definitions in their applicable alphabetical orders:

““Eighth Amendment” means that certain Consent and Eighth Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of April 19,
2016, by and among. the Obligors and the Lender.”

““Eighth Amendment Effective Date”: means April 19, 2016.”

““Post-Eighth Amendment Obligations”: as defined in the Eighth Amendment.”
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4. Post-Seventh Amendment Obligations. The Obligors hereby agree to satisfy the Post-Seventh Amendment Obligations (as defined
in the Seventh Amendment), as determined by Lender in its sole discretion, by no later than May 2, 2016.

5. Post-Eighth Amendment Obligations. The Obligors hereby agree to deliver the following duly completed and executed items to the
Lender by no later than April 22, 2016 (collectively the “Post-Eighth Amendment Obligations”), all in the form and substance reasonably
satisfactory to the Lender, and the Obligors further agree that any failure by the Obligors to duly and timely comply with the Post-Eighth
Amendment Obligations shall constitute an Event of Default under the Loan Agreement:
 

 

(a) Certificates of a duly authorized officer of each Obligor certifying (i) that the attached copies of such Obligor’s Organic
Documents are true and complete, and in full force and effect, without amendment except as shown; (ii) that an attached copy of
resolutions authorizing execution and delivery of the Eighth Amendment and all documents referenced therein and related thereto
are true and complete, and that such resolutions are in full force and effect, were duly adopted, have not been amended, modified
or revoked, and constitute all resolutions adopted with respect to this credit facility; and (iii) to the title, name and signature of
each Person authorized to sign such documents.

 

 (b) An executed written opinion of Lowenstein Sandler LLP with regard to the matters addressed in the Eighth Amendment.

6. Ratification of Loan Documents . Except as specifically amended by this Amendment, all of the terms and conditions of the Loan
Agreement and of each of the other Loan Documents shall remain in full force and effect. The Obligors hereby ratify, confirm, and reaffirm
all of the representations, warranties and covenants contained therein. Further, the Obligors warrant and represent that no Event of Default
exists, and nothing contained herein shall be deemed to constitute a waiver by the Lender of any Event of Default which may nonetheless
exist as of the date hereof.

7. Ratification of Guaranty. Except as specifically amended by this Amendment, all of the terms and conditions of the Guaranty shall
remain in full force and effect. Although not necessary to effectuate this Amendment, the Guarantors hereby ratify, confirm and reaffirm, all
and singular, each of the terms and conditions of the Guaranty, and each of the warranties and representations made by the Guarantors in
the Guaranty. The Guarantors acknowledge, confirms and agree that the Guaranteed Obligations include, without limitation, those arising
under the Loan Agreement, as amended by this Amendment, and any future modifications, amendments, substitutions or renewals thereof.

8. Breach. Without limiting the provisions of the Loan Documents, a breach of any agreement, covenant, warranty, representation or
certification of the Obligors under this Amendment and/or the failure of the Obligors to perform its obligations under this Amendment shall
constitute an Event of Default under the Loan Agreement.
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9. Waiver. Each Obligor acknowledges, confirms and agrees that it has no claims, counterclaims, offsets, defenses or causes of action
against the Lender with respect to amounts outstanding under the Loan Agreement or otherwise. To the extent such claims, counterclaims,
offsets, defenses and/or causes of actions should exist, whether known or unknown, at law or in equity, each Obligor hereby WAlVES
same and RELEASES the Lender from any and all liability in connection therewith.

10. Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness. This Amendment shall not be effective until each of the following conditions precedent
has been fulfilled to the sole satisfaction of the Lender:
 

 (a) This Amendment shall have been duly executed and delivered by the respective parties hereto, and shall be in full force and effect
and shall be in form and substance satisfactory to the Lender.

 

 
(b) All action on the part of the Obligors necessary for the valid execution, delivery and performance by the Obligors of this

Amendment and all other documentation, instruments, and agreements to be executed in connection herewith shall have been
duly and effectively taken and evidence thereof satisfactory to the Lender shall have been provided to the Lender.

 

 (c) The Pledgor shall have increased the amount of Pledged Cash Collateral deposited under the Cash Collateral Pledge Agreement
by an additional $2,000,000, resulting in an aggregate balance of Pledged Cash Collateral of $7,000,000.

 

 (d) The Lender shall have received fully-executed (as applicable) copies of all items set forth on the Lender’s closing checklist
which has been provided to the Obligors.

 

 (e) The Obligors shall have executed and delivered to the Lender such additional documents, instruments, and agreements as the
Lender may reasonably request.

 

 

(f) In accordance with the terms and conditions of Loan Agreement, the Obligors shall pay to Lender (i) all costs and expenses of the
Lender, including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees, in connection with the preparation, negotiation, execution and
delivery of this Amendment, the Seventh Amendment and all documents related thereto and/or associated therewith, in the
amount of $24,000.00, and (ii) the outstanding attorneys’ fees due prior to the Eighth Amendment Effective Date in the amount of
$19,782.96.

11. Miscellaneous.
 

 

(a) This Amendment may be executed in several counterparts and by each party on a separate counterpart, each of which when so
executed and delivered shall be an original, and all of which together shall constitute one instrument. Delivery of an executed
signature page of this Amendment (or any notice or agreement delivered pursuant to the terms hereof) by facsimile transmission
or electronic transmission
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shall be as effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart hereof; provided that the Obligors shall deliver originals of all
applicable documents referenced in this Amendment by no later than three (3) Business Days after the Eighth Amendment
Effective Date.

 

 (b) This Amendment expresses the entire understanding of the parties with respect to the transactions contemplated hereby. No prior
negotiations or discussions shall limit, modify, or otherwise affect the provisions hereof.

 

 
(c) Any determination that any provision of this Amendment or any application hereof is invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any

respect and in any instance shall not affect the validity, legality, or enforceability of such provision in any other instance, or the
validity, legality or enforceability of any other provisions of this Amendment.

 

 

(d) THE VALIDITY, INTERPRETATION AND ENFORCEMENT OF THIS AMENDMENT AND ANY DISPUTE ARISING
OUT OF THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN THE PARTIES HERETO, WHETHER IN CONTRACT, TORT, EQUITY OR
OTHERWISE, SHALL BE GOVERNED BY THE INTERNAL LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK (WITHOUT GIVING
EFFECT TO PRINCIPLES OF CONFLICTS OF LAW).

[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Amendment as a sealed instrument by their respective duly authorized
officers.
 

LENDER:

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.

By:  /s/ Cynthia G. Stannard
Name: Cynthia G. Stannard
Title:  Sr. Vice President

[Signatures Continue on Next Page]
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BORROWERS:

REVOLUTION LIGHTING TECHNOLOGIES,
INC.

By:  /s/ James A. DePalma
Name: James A. DePalma
Title:  Chief Financial Officer

LUMIFICIENT CORPORATION

By:  /s/ James A. DePalma
Name: James A. DePalma
Title:  Chief Financial Officer

LIGHTING INTEGRATION TECHNOLOGIES,
LLC

By:  /s/ James A. DePalma
Name: James A. DePalma
Title:  Chief Financial Officer

SEESMART TECHNOLOGIES, LLC

By:  /s/ James A. DePalma
Name: James A. DePalma
Title:  Chief Financial Officer

RELUME TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

By:  /s/ James A. DePalma
Name: James A. DePalma
Title:  Chief Financial Officer

[Signatures Continue on Next Page]
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TRI-STATE LED DE, LLC

By:  /s/ James A. DePalma
Name: James A. DePalma
Title:  Chief Financial Officer

VALUE LIGHTING, LLC

By:  /s/ James A. DePalma
Name: James A. DePalma
Title:  Chief Financial Officer

ALL AROUND LIGHTING, L.L.C.

By:  /s/ James A. DePalma
Name: James A. DePalma
Title:  Chief Financial Officer

ENERGY SOURCE, LLC

By:  /s/ James A. DePalma
Name: James A. DePalma
Title:  Chief Financial Officer

REVOLUTION LIGHTING – E-LIGHTING, INC.

By:  /s/ James A. DePalma
Name: James A. DePalma
Title:  Chief Financial Officer

SEESMART, INC.

By:  /s/ James A. DePalma
Name: James A. DePalma

Title:  Chief Financial Officer

[Signatures Continue on Next Page]
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GUARANTORS:

SENTINEL SYSTEM, LLC

By:  /s/ James A. DePalma
Name: James A. DePalma
Title:  Chief Financial Officer

VALUE LIGHTING OF HOUSTON, LLC

By:  /s/ James A. DePalma
Name: James A. DePalma
Title:  Chief Financial Officer

ENVIROLIGHT LED, LLC

By:  /s/ James A. DePalma
Name: James A. DePalma
Title:  Chief Financial Officer

BREAK ONE NINE, INC.

By:  /s/ James A. DePalma
Name: James A. DePalma
Title:  Chief Financial Officer

REVOLUTION LIGHTING TECHNOLOGIES –
ENERGY SOURCE, INC.

By:  /s/ James A. DePalma
Name: James A. DePalma
Title:  Chief Financial Officer
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Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Auditor

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements of Revolution Lighting Technologies, Inc. on Form S-
3 (No. 333-199510) and on Forms S-8 (No. 333-23689, No. 333-32007, No. 333-70781, No. 333-123984, No. 333-150778, No. 333-
172289, No. 333-188719, No. 333-197843 and No. 333-204172) of our report dated April 28, 2016 on our audits of the financial
statements of TNT Energy, LLC as of and for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, all included in this Current Report on Form 8-
K.
 
/s/ Kahn, Litwin, Renza & Co., Ltd.
 

Kahn, Litwin, Renza & Co., Ltd.

Boston, Massachusetts
May 2, 2016
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Members of
TNT Energy, LLC:

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of TNT Energy, LLC (the Company), which comprise the balance sheets as of
December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the related statements of operations and changes in members’ equity and cash flows for the years ended
December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the related notes to the financial statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant
to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such
opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

 
 
Member of The Leading Edge Alliance



Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of TNT Energy, LLC
as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

 

April 28, 2016
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TNT ENERGY, LLC
BALANCE SHEETS

December 31, 2015 and 2014
 
   2015    2014  
Assets     
Current Assets:     

Cash   $ 42,362    $ —    
Accounts receivable    4,713,169     5,557,628  
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts    323,746     —    
Other receivables    545,799     —    
Prepaid expenses    67,902     16,328  

    

Total current assets    5,692,978     5,573,956  
    

Property and Equipment    144,575     169,657  
Less accumulated depreciation    21,005     108,525  

    

Net property and equipment    123,570     61,132  
    

Other Assets:     
Deposits    7,300     7,300  

    

Total other assets    7,300     7,300  
    

Total Assets   $5,823,848    $5,642,388  
    

Liabilities and Members’ Equity     
Current Liabilities:     

Line of credit   $ 100    $ —    
Current portion of long-term debt    60,247     4,603  
Accounts payable    1,374,221     2,105,158  
Accrued expenses    26,711     261,588  
Income tax payable    34,997     300  

    

Total current liabilities    1,496,276     2,371,649  
Long-term debt, less current portion    63,695     3,211  

    

Total liabilities    1,559,971     2,374,860  
    

Members’ Equity    4,263,877     3,267,528  
    

Total Liabilities and Members’ Equity   $5,823,848    $5,642,388  
    

See accompanying notes to the financial statements and independent auditors’ report.
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TNT ENERGY, LLC

STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND CHANGES IN MEMBERS’ EQUITY
Years Ended December 31, 2015 and 2014

 
   2015   2014  
Net revenue   $24,826,827   $24,356,159  
Cost of revenue    19,499,821    19,534,224  

  

Gross profit    5,327,006    4,821,935  
Selling, general and administrative expenses    2,994,65 I    2,626,797  

  

Operating income    2,332,355    2,195,138  
  

Other income (expense):    
Interest expense    (664)   (526) 
Other income, net    1,056    9,827  

  

   392    9,301  
  

Income before provision for taxes    2,332,747    2,204,439  
Provision for state taxes    36,398    1,386  

  

Net income    2,296,349    2,203,053  
Members’ equity, beginning of year    3,267,528    1,064,475  

Distributions    (1,300,000)   —    
  

Members’ equity, end of year   $ 4,263,877   $ 3,267,528  
  

See accompanying notes to the financial statements and independent auditors’ report.
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TNT ENERGY, LLC

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years Ended December 31, 2015 and 2014

 
   2015   2014  
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:    

Net income   $ 2,296,349   $ 2,203,053  
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:    

Loss on sale of property and equipment    1,671    —    
Depreciation    21,949    21,491  

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:    
Accounts receivable    844,459    (3,345,163) 
Costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts    (323,746)   —    
Other receivables    (545,799)   —    
Prepaid expenses    (6,443)   (1,357) 
Deposits    —      (650) 
Accounts payable    (730,937)   1,009,179  
Accrued expenses    (234,877)   211,560  
Income tax payable    34,697    (1,389) 
Member redemption payable    —      (50,000) 

  

Net cash provided by operating activities    1,357,323    46,724  
  

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:    
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment    4,000    —    
Purchases of property and equipment    (9,914)   (44,389) 

  

Net cash used by investing activities    (5,914)   (44,389) 
  

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:    
Borrowings on line of credit, net    100    —    
Principal payments on long-term debt    (9,147)   (10,653) 
Distributions to members    (1,300,000)   —    

  

Net cash used by financing activities    (1,309,047)   (10,653) 
  

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash    42,362    (8,318) 
Cash, beginning of year    —      8,318  

  

Cash, end of year   $ 42,362   $ —    
  

See accompanying notes to the financial statements and independent auditors’ report.
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TNT ENERGY, LLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years Ended December 31, 2015 and 2014
 
1. Nature of Operations

TNT Energy, LLC (the Company) was formed in Massachusetts on September 23, 2002. The Company is engaged in providing energy
efficiency services to customers in the commercial and industrial sectors. Services include energy efficiency audits, design and
installation of custom or retrofit electric and gas energy efficiency systems and related consulting services. The work is performed
under both time-and-materials contracts and fixed-price contracts. The length of the contracts vary but are typically less than one year.
The sales and services are provided primarily to customers located in Massachusetts.

 
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

This summary of significant accounting policies of the Company is presented to assist in understanding the Company’s financial
statements. The financial statements and notes are representations of the Company’s management, who is responsible for their integrity
and objectivity. These accounting policies conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America and
have been consistently applied in the preparation of the financial statements.

Common Control Leasing Arrangements

The Company has a common control leasing arrangement with S-Works Realty, LLC (SWR) and is the primary beneficiary of this
variable interest entity (the VIE).

Effective January 1, 2014, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2014-07 and under the provisions of ASU 2014-
07 is not required to consolidate the VIE. Accordingly, the VIE is not included in the financial statements.

Revenue Recognition

Revenues from time-and-materials contracts are recognized as the work is performed. The Company accounts for contract revenue for
fixed-price contracts spanning more than one year using the percentage-of-completion method. Under this method, the percentage of
contract revenue to be recognized currently is computed as the percentage of estimated total revenue that total costs incurred to date
bear to total estimated costs, after giving effect to the most recent estimates of costs to complete.

Contracts costs include all direct materials and labor costs, as well as indirect costs related to contract performance. Selling, general
and administrative costs are charged to expense as incurred. Provisions for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are made in the
period in which such losses are determined. Changes in job performance, job conditions, estimated profitability, and final contract
settlements may result in revisions to costs and revenue and are recognized in the period in which the contract settlements are
determined.

Costs and estimated earnings in excess of amounts billed are classified as current assets and billings in excess of costs and estimated
earnings are classified as current liabilities.
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TNT ENERGY, LLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years Ended December 31, 2015 and 2014
 

Accounts Receivable

The Company does not accrue interest on accounts receivable. Accounts receivable are amounts due relating to time-and-materials and
fixed-price contracts. Unbilled accounts receivable represent time-and-materials expended but not billed at year end. A receivable is
considered past due if payment has not been received within stated tenns. The Company will then exhaust all methods in-house to
collect the receivable before turning the account over for collection. Once all practical resources to collect the receivable have been
utilized without success, the receivable is deemed uncollectible and charged to bad debt expense. Management has determined that
there is no allowance deemed necessary as of December 31, 2015 and 2014.

Other Receivables

Included in other receivables as of December 31, 2015 were $423,000 in vendor credits due to the Company for reaching purchase
levels and $122,799 in customer rebates due to the Company for reaching performance levels.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is recorded at cost. Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred. Renewals and
betterments that materially extend the life of the assets are capitalized. Depreciation is computed on the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the related assets, which range from three to seven years.

Income Taxes

The Company is a limited liability company, organized under the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, and has elected to have
its income taxed under the provisions of Subchapter S of the Internal Revenue Code. Subchapter S provides that the individual member
be taxed on his proportionate share of the Company’s taxable income in lieu of the Company paying income taxes. However, the
Company is subject to a state corporate income tax due to the volume of the Company’s gross receipts and a provision for this tax has
been included in the financial statements.

Advertising

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising expense for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, was approximately
$39,000 and $14,900, respectively.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash and accounts
receivable.

The Company maintains its operating accounts in one financial institution. The balances are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation up to specified limits. From time to time, the Company had bank balances in excess of federally insured limits.
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TNT ENERGY, LLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years Ended December 31, 2015 and 2014
 

Accounts receivable result primarily from contracts negotiated with businesses and contract owners who are primarily located in
Massachusetts. Due to the nature of the customer base, the Company generally does not require collateral or other security from its
customers.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual
results could differ from those estimates.

 
3. Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable consisted of the following:
 

   2015    2014  
Uncompleted contracts     

Billed   $ 23,798    $ —    
Retainage    5,942     —    

Completed contracts     
Billed    2,285,462     4,014,347  
Unbilled    2,397,967     1,543,281  

    

Total accounts receivable   $4,713,169    $5,557,628  
    

 
4. Uncompleted Contracts

A reconciliation of the costs and estimated earnings on contracts m progress as of December 31, 2015 is as follows:
 

Costs incurred to date on uncompleted contracts   $430,144  
Estimated earnings    53,061  

  

   483,205  
Less billings to date on uncompleted contracts    159,459  

  

Total   $323,746  
  

The above amount is included in costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts in the accompanying
balance sheet as of December 31, 2015. There were no contracts in process as of December 31, 2014.
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TNT ENERGY, LLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years Ended December 31, 2015 and 2014
 
5. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following:
 

   2015    2014  
Motor vehicles   $ 98,814    $ 95,582  
Office furniture and fixtures    45,761     74,075  

    

Total property and equipment   $144,575    $169,657  
    

During 2015, the Company sold a motor vehicle, with an original cost of $24,429 and a net book value of $5,671, for proceeds of
$4,000, resulting in a loss of $1,671, which is included in other income on the accompanying statement of operations and changes in
members’ equity.

During the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company disposed of fully depreciated equipment in the amount of $90,711
and $41,652, respectively.

 
6. Lines of Credit

On July 25, 2005, the Company entered into a revolving line of credit (revolving line) with a bank allowing for maximum borrowings
of $50,000. The revolving line was due on demand and required monthly interest payments at .5% above the bank’s prime lending rate
(3.25% at December 31, 2014). As of December 31, 2014, there were no outstanding borrowings on the revolving line. The revolving
line was closed on March 3, 2015.

On November 28, 2011, the Company entered into a line of credit agreement (the Agreement) with a bank allowing for maximum
borrowings of $150,000. The terms of the Agreement allow the Company to borrow up to 70% of the accounts receivable aged less
than 60 days. The Agreement is due upon demand and subject to an annual review and renewal by the bank. The Agreement was last
renewed on November 28, 2015. The agreement requires monthly interest payments at 2% above the bank’s prime lending rate (3.5%
and 3.25% at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively). The Agreement is secured by a first security interest in all of the Company’s
assets and is subject to a 30-day annual out of debt provision.

As of December 31, 2015, the Company had an outstanding balance of $100. There were no outstanding borrowings as of
December 31, 2014.

This agreement includes certain restrictive covenants requiring, among other things, a minimum debt service coverage ratio.
Management believes the Company was in compliance with these covenants at December 31, 2015 and 2014.
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TNT ENERGY, LLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years Ended December 31, 2015 and 2014
 
7. Long-term Debt

Long-term debt consisted of the following:
 

  2015   2014  
Note payable to a credit union, due in monthly installments of $913 including interest

at 2.9% through December 2020. The note is secured by a motor vehicle.  $ 50,856   $ —    
Note payable to a financing company, due in monthly installments of $5,116 plus

interest at 3.99% through September 2016. The note is secured by insurance
policies.   45,131    —    

Note payable to a credit union, due in monthly installments of $526 including interest
at 2.9% through September 2020. The note is secured by a motor vehicle.   27,955    —    

Note payable to a credit union, due in monthly installments of $409 including interest
at 5.25% through August 2016. The note was secured by a motor vehicle and was
paid in full during 2015.   —      7,814  

  123,942    7,814  
Less current portion of long-term debt   60,247    4,603  

Long-term debt, less current portion  $ 63,695   $3,211  

Scheduled maturities of the long-term debt are as follows:
 

Year Ending     
2016   $ 60,247  
2017    15,618  
2018    16,077  
2019    16,550  
2020    15,450  

  

Total   $123,942  
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TNT ENERGY, LLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years Ended December 31, 2015 and 2014
 
8. Commitments and Contingencies

Lease Obligations

The Company leases office space for its operations under non-cancellable lease agreements. The Company is responsible for all
maintenance and taxes on the leases. The leases expire at various dates through April 2017. Total rent expense for these leases for the
years December 31, 2015 and 2014 was approximately $55,000 and $52,100 respectively.

Approximate future minimum lease payments under these leases are as follows:
 

Year Ending     
2016   $ 41,400  
2017    12,700  

  

   $54,100  
  

Litigation

The Company is from time to time subject to legal proceedings and claims that arise in the normal course of business. In the opinion of
management, the amount of ultimate liability with respect to these actions outstanding as of December 31, 2015 will not have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

 
9. Related-Party Transactions

Under a common control tenancy at will, the Company leases office and storage space from SWR. SWR relies on the lease payments
from the Company to be able to pay the underlying mortgage on the property. The Company and SWR are commonly controlled by the
same members. Total expenditures related to this lease for each of the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 were $27,000.

 
10. Retirement Plan

Effective January 1, 2015, the Company created a 401(k) profit sharing plan (the Plan) which covers substantially all employees who
meet certain age and length of service requirements. Under the Plan, the Company matches 100% of the initial 3% of participant
contributions and 50% of the remaining participant contributions for a maximum contribution of 5% of the employee’s compensation.
The Company made contributions of approximately $34,900 for the year ended December 31, 2015.
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TNT ENERGY, LLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years Ended December 31, 2015 and 2014
 
11. Concentrations

For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, three customers represented approximately 93% and 87% of the Company’s
revenue, respectively. Accounts receivable from these customers totaled $3,866,151 and $4,852,982, representing 82% and 87% of
accounts receivable at December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, one supplier represented approximately 84% and 82% of the Company’s total
purchases. Accounts payable to this supplier totaled $445,965 and $313,852, representing 32% and 15% of accounts payable at
December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

 
12. Buy-Sell Agreement

The two members entered into a buy-sell agreement dated October 9, 2007 with each other. The terms of the agreement control the
sale of ownership interest upon death and other events. The purchase price of the ownership interest is based on a vested percentage of
book value of the Company at the date of the triggering event. The vesting percentage schedule is as follows:

 
   Vesting  
Period   Percentage 
January 1, 2007 through December 31, 2010    33% 
January 1, 2011 through December 31, 2018    66% 
After January 1, 2019    100% 

 
13. Supplemental Cash Flow Information

During the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, the approximate amount of cash paid for interest and income taxes are as
follows:

 
   2015    2014  
Interest   $700    $ 500  
Income taxes   $900    $3,400  

The statement of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2015 excludes the effects of non-cash investing and financing activities
in the amount of $80,144 related to the purchase of property and equipment and non-cash operating and financing activities in the
amount of $45,131 related to the financing of the Company’s insurance policies.
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TNT ENERGY, LLC
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years Ended December 31, 2015 and 2014
 
14. Subsequent Event

Effective January 13, 2016, the members of the Company entered into a non-binding letter of intent with a third party to sell 100% of
the membership interests of the Company. The sale is subject to various conditions including completion of due diligence. As of the
issuance of these financial statements, the sale has not been consummated but the members expect the transaction to occur in 2016.

Subsequent events have been evaluated through April 28, 2016, which is the date the financial statements were available to be issued.
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Exhibit 99.2

REVOLUTION LIGHTING TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

INDEX TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 
   Page  
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Introduction to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

On May 2, 2016, Revolution Lighting Technologies – TNT Energy LLC (the “Acquisition Subsidiary”), a Delaware limited liability
company and a wholly owned subsidiary of Revolution Lighting Technologies, Inc. (“Revolution” or the “Company”) entered into a
membership interest purchase agreement (the “Acquisition Agreement”) with TNT Energy, LLC, a Massachusetts limited liability company
(“TNT”), and Timothy M. Blanchard and Theodore A. Carmone Jr. (each a “Member” and collectively, the “Members”). Pursuant to the
Acquisition Agreement, the Company, through the Acquisition Subsidiary will acquire all of the outstanding membership interests of TNT.
The following unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2015 and unaudited pro forma condensed
consolidated statement of operations for the year then ended have been prepared to give pro forma effect to the acquisition, which is
accounted for as a purchase, as if the acquisition and the related issuances of Revolution’s common stock, and the issuance of promissory
notes related to the acquisition had occurred on the dates or periods indicated, as further explained below. The unaudited pro forma
condensed consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2015 has been prepared to also give pro forma effect to
the acquisition on August 5, 2015, of Energy Source, LLC (“Energy Source” or the “2015 Acquisition”).

The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial statements include a balance sheet as of December 31, 2015 and statement
of operations for the year ended December 31, 2015. The historical balance sheet data were derived from the respective historical audited
condensed balance sheets of Revolution and TNT as of December 31, 2015. The historical consolidated statements of operations data were
derived from the respective audited historical financial statements of Revolution and TNT for the year ended December 31, 2015 and the
unaudited financial statements of the 2015 Acquisition for the period from January 1, 2015 to its date of acquisition.

The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated balance sheet gives effect to the acquisition of TNT and related transactions as if
they had occurred on December 31, 2015. The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated statement of operations for the year ended
December 31, 2015 gives effect to the acquisitions and related transactions as if they had occurred on January 1, 2015.

The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes should be read in conjunction with
Revolution’s historical financial statements and related notes and Revolution’s “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015 and
TNT’s audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2015 included in this Current Report on Form 8-K.

The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial statements presented are based on the assumptions and adjustments
described in the accompanying notes. They are presented for illustrative purposes and are not indicative of what the financial position or
results of operations might have been had the acquisitions and related transactions occurred as of the dates indicated, or the financial
position or results of operations for any future period.
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Revolution Lighting Technologies, Inc.
Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Income Statement

(in thousands, except per share data)
 
   Year Ended December 31, 2015  

   Revolution  

2015
Acquisitions

(Note 4A)   TNT   
Proforma

Adjustments     
As

Adjusted  
Revenues   $ 129,656   $ 8,868   $24,827   $ —       $163,351  
Cost of sales    86,366    6,936    19,500       112,802  

    

Gross profit    43,290    1,932    5,327    —        50,549  
    

Operating expenses:         
Selling, general, and administrative:         

Acquisition, severance, and transition costs    1,950      (1,950)  (4C)    —    
Amortization and depreciation    4,868    28    22    349   (3E), (4B)    5,267  
Stock based compensation    2,719         2,719  
Other selling, general and administrative    32,179    1,844    2,972       36,995  

Research and development    2,475         2,475  
    

Total operating expense    44,191    1,872    2,994    (1,601)     47,456  
    

Operating (loss) income    (901)   60    2,333    1,601      3,093  
Other expense :         

Interest expense and other bank charges    (1,481)   (32)   (1)   (359)  (3G), (4D)   (1,873) 
    

Loss before income taxes    (2,382)   28    2,332    1,242      1,220  
Provision for taxes    —       (36)   (5)    (36) 

    

Net (loss) income   $ (2,382)  $ 28   $ 2,296   $ 1,242     $ 1,184  
    

Basic and diluted loss per common share:         
Net loss attributable to common stockholders   $ (0.16)       $ 0.07  

    

Basic and diluted weighted average shares outstanding    14,929    —       2,374   (3F), (4E)    17,303  
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Revolution Lighting Technologies, Inc.
Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet

(in thousands)
 
   December 31, 2015  

   Revolution  TNT    
Proforma

Adjustments     
As

Adjusted  
ASSETS         

Current Assets :         
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 219   $ 42    $ —     (3A)   $ 261  
Trade accounts receivable, net    41,132    4,713        45,845  
Unbilled contract receivables    4,559    324        4,883  
Inventories, net    22,135         22,135  
Other current assets    3,830    614     —        4,444  

      

Total current assets    71,875    5,693     —        77,568  
Property and equipment, net    1,247    124     —        1,371  
Goodwill    64,267      3,603   (3D)    67,870  
Intangible assets, net    39,595      5,902   (3D)    45,497  
Other assets, net    651    7        658  

      

  $ 177,635   $5,824    $ 9,505     $192,964  
      

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY         
Current Liabilities:         

Accounts payable   $ 19,908   $1,374    $ —       $ 21,282  
Accrued compensation and benefits    3,388         3,388  
Notes payable    10,360    60     1,940   (3A), (3B)   12,360  
Accrued and other current liabilities    5,329    62        5,391  
Purchase price obligations - current    7,039      —        7,039  

      

Total current liabilities    46,024    1,496     1,940      49,460  
Revolving credit facility    22,026         22,026  
Related party payable    2,565         2,565  
Note payable    2,426    64     (64)  (3B)    2,426  
Purchase price obligation-noncurrent    1,764      3,893   (3A)    5,657  
Other liabilities    727         727  

      

Total liabilities    75,532    1,560     5,769      82,861  
Stockholders’ Equity         

Members’ equity     4,264     (4,264)  (3C)    —    
Common stock    160      1   (3A)    161  
Additional paid - in capital    176,616    —       7,999   (3A)    184,615  
Accumulated deficit    (74,673)        (74,673) 

      

Total stockholders’ equity    102,103    4,264     3,736      110,103  
      

  $ 177,635   $5,824    $ 9,505     $192,964  
      

See accompanying notes to unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial statements
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Revolution Lighting Technologies, Inc.

Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1. Basis of Presentation

The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated statements of operations of Revolution Lighting Technologies, Inc. (“Revolution”
or the “Company”) as of and for the year ended December 31, 2015 reflect the acquisition of TNT Energy, LLC (“TNT”), the cash
payment to the former owners of TNT (the “Sellers”), the issuance of common stock to third party investors (the “Investors”), the
settlement of TNT’s outstanding bank debt and the issuance of promissory notes to the Sellers to fund the acquisition, as if such
transactions had occurred on December 31, 2015 for balance sheet purposes and January 1, 2015 for income statement purposes. The
unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2015 has been prepared to also give
pro forma effect to the acquisition on August 5, 2015 of Energy Source, LLC (‘Energy Source” or the “2015 Acquisition”), and the related
transactions as if this transaction had occurred on January 1, 2015.

The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated statement of income and unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated balance sheet
were derived by adjusting Revolution’s historical financial statements for the acquisitions of TNT and the 2015 Acquisition. The unaudited
pro forma condensed consolidated balance sheet and condensed consolidated statement of operations are provided for informational
purposes only and are not indicative of Revolution’s financial position or results of operations had the transactions been consummated on
the dates indicated or financial position or results of operations for any future date or period.

The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated balance sheet and unaudited condensed consolidated statement of operations and
accompanying notes should be read in conjunction with Revolution’s historical financial statements and related notes and Revolution’s
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” included in the Company’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2015 and with TNT’s audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2015
included in this Current Report on Form 8-K.

On March 10, 2016, the Company effected a one-for-ten reverse stock split (the “Reverse Split”) of the Company’s common stock.
All share and per share information in the unaudited pro forma information has been restated to give effect to the Reverse Split, as
applicable.

Note 2. Acquisition of TNT

The unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated financial statements reflect a preliminary purchase price of $13.9 million consisting
of (1) cash of $8.0 million, which is expected to be financed from the proceeds from the issuance of shares of common stock, (2) the
issuance of $2.0 million of promissory notes to the Sellers, and (3) contingent consideration for a period of two years, which has
preliminarily been valued at $3.9 million.

In the accompanying December 31, 2015 unaudited pro forma condensed consolidated balance sheet, the total purchase price has
been preliminarily allocated to the tangible and identifiable intangible assets and the liabilities of TNT based on preliminary estimated fair
values as of the date of the acquisition in accordance with the acquisition method of accounting and includes preliminary estimated fair
values of customer relationships of $2.8 million, trade names of $2.5 million, non-compete agreements of $0.3 million and customer
backlog of $0.3 million. Preliminarily, the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of acquired assets and liabilities (goodwill) has
been estimated to be $3.6 million.
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The Company has not completed the accounting for the acquisition of TNT, and the pro forma adjustments reflected herein are based
upon management’s preliminary estimates of the value of the tangible and intangible assets acquired. These estimates are subject to
additional analyses and valuations and allocations to the assets and liabilities acquired. Final valuations and allocations may differ
materially from the estimates reflected in these pro forma condensed consolidated financial statements.

Note 3. Pro Forma Adjustments - TNT

A-Reflects the consideration issued for TNT consisting of (1) cash of $8.0 million, which is expected to be financed from the
proceeds from the issuance of shares of common stock, (2) the issuance of $2.0 million of promissory notes to the Sellers, and
(3) contingent consideration for a period of two years, which has preliminarily been valued at $3.9 million.

B-Reflects the repayment of the existing TNT debt of $0.1 million.

C-Elimination of TNT historical equity accounts of $4.3 million.

D-Allocation of the excess of the purchase price over the net assets acquired of $ 9.5 million to identifiable intangibles of $5.9
million and goodwill of $3.6 million.

E-Includes amortization of identifiable intangible assets acquired in connection with the acquisition of TNT over their estimated
useful lives consistent with the underlying cash flows amounting to $0.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2015. Preliminarily, the
useful lives utilized are estimated to be 15 years for customer relationships, 15 years for trade names and 5 years for non-compete
agreements. The backlog is expected to be realized within one year of the acquisition and this directly related, non-recurring charge
resulting from the acquisition does not have a continuing impact on the results of operations; accordingly, such charge has not been
reflected in the pro forma results of operations.

F-Reflects the impact of the shares issued in connection with the TNT acquisition on weighted average shares outstanding.

G-Adjustment for interest expense on the promissory notes issued to sellers at a rate of 5% annually, net of elimination of interest
expense related to debt that was settled at closing.

Note 4. Pro Forma Adjustments - 2015 Acquisition

A-Represents the historical results of operations from January 1, 2015 to its date of acquisition.
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B-Amortization of the intangible assets acquired in connection with the 2015 Acquisition. The pro forma amortization is based on the
amortization periods described in the historical financial statements. The backlog is expected to be realized within one year of the
acquisition and this directly related non-recurring charge resulting from the acquisition does not have a continuing impact on the results of
operations; accordingly, such charge has not been reflected in the pro forma results of operations. Amortization of such backlog related to
the 2015 Acquisition and prior acquisitions that was included in the historical statements of operations has been eliminated.

C-Elimination of acquisition, severance and transition costs incurred by the Company that are directly attributable to previous
acquisitions.

D-Adjustment for interest expense on the promissory notes issued in connection with the 2015 Acquisition, net of elimination of
interest expense on debt that was settled at closing.

E-Reflects the impact of the shares to be issued in connection with the 2015 Acquisition on weighted shares outstanding.

Note 5. Income taxes

No deferred income taxes or provision for income taxes have been recorded as the Company has net operating losses available to offset
TNT’s reported income.
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